
 

Council Offices, Foster Avenue, Beeston, Nottingham, NG9 1AB  

www.broxtowe.gov.uk    

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Tuesday, 4 July 2023 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
A meeting of the Council will be held on Wednesday, 12 July 2023 in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, Foster Avenue, Beeston NG9 1AB, commencing at 7.00 pm. 
 
Should you require advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please 
contact the Monitoring Officer at your earliest convenience. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 
 
To Councillors: D Bagshaw 

S A Bagshaw 
P J Bales 
L A Ball BEM 
R E Bofinger 
M Brown 
R Bullock 
G Bunn 
B C Carr 
C Carr 
S J Carr 
A Cooper 
H L Crosby 
T A Cullen (Mayor) 
S Dannheimer 
H J Faccio 
R S Falvey 
K Harlow 
G S Hills 
S P Jeremiah 
S Kerry 
H G Khaled MBE 

A Kingdon 
H Land 
D L MacRae 
R D MacRae 
G Marshall 
J W McGrath 
W Mee 
J M Owen 
P J Owen 
S Paterson 
D D Pringle 
M Radulovic MBE 
H E Skinner 
P A Smith 
V C Smith 
A W G A Stockwell 
C M Tideswell 
D K Watts 
S Webb 
E Williamson 
E Winfield 
K Woodhead 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 To receive apologies and to be notified of the attendance of substitutes. 
 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest and/or other interest in any item on the agenda. 
 
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 Council is asked to confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
17 May 2023. 
 
 

4.   MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 

5.   LEADER'S REPORT  
 

 To receive a report from the Leader and to receive questions and answers on the 
report should there be any. 
 
 

6.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS   
 
 

7.   MEMBERS' QUESTIONS   
 
 

8.   REFERENCES   
 

8.1   Constitution Review  
 

(Pages 25 - 130) 

 Governance, Audit and Standards Committee  
19 June 2023 
 
To consider a recommendation from the Governance, Audit, 
and Standards Committee in relation to the review of the 
Constitution  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

8.2   Review of Financial Procedure Rules, including Contract 
Procedure Rules  
 

(Pages 131 - 190) 

 Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
19 June 2023 
 
To consider a recommendation from the Governance, Audit, 
and Standards Committee in relation to the review of the 
Financial Procedure Rules, including Contract Procedure 
Rules 
 
 

 

8.3   Annual Review of the Code of Conduct  
 

(Pages 191 - 212) 

 Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
19 June 2023 
 
To consider a recommendation from the Governance, Audit, 
and Standards Committee in relation to the review of the 
Annual Review of the Code of Conduct 
 
 

 

9.   PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORTS   
 
 

 

9.1   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Personnel 
Policy 
 
 

(Pages 213 - 220) 

9.2   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development 
and Asset Management 
 
 

(Pages 221 - 226) 

9.3   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing 
 
 

(Pages 227 - 230) 

9.4   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Health 
 
 

(Pages 231 - 234) 

9.5   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Climate 
Change 
 
 

(Pages 235 - 238) 

9.6   Report of the Portfolio Holder for Community Safety 
 
 

(Pages 239 - 244) 

10.   NOTICE OF MOTIONS 
 

 

 To consider motions  
 
 
 

 



 

 

10.1   The following motion has been received from Councillor R D 
MacRae:  
 

 

 “The Independent Review of Children’s Social Care headed 
by Josh McCallister published in May 2022 a final report and 
recommendations that included: 

‘Government should make care experience a protected 
characteristic’ and ‘New legislation should be passed which 
broadens corporate parenting responsibilities across a wider 
set of public bodies and organisations.’ 

Broxtowe Borough Council notes that: 
 

1. District councils in England must publish information 
about services which it offers that may assist care 
leavers in, or in preparing for adulthood and 
independent living. (Children and Social Work Act 
2017 Section 2 (1) (a)) 
 

2. For the purposes of subsection 2 (1) (a) of the 
Children and Social Work Act 2017. The services that 
may assist care leavers in, or in preparing for, 
adulthood and independent living include services 
relating to;   
 

(a) health and well-being; 
(b) relationships; 
(c) education and training; 
(d) employment; 
(e) accommodation; 
(f) participation in society. 

 
3. On Corporate Parenting Principals Broxtowe Borough 

Council accepts that it is a relevant local authority in 
England by virtue of the Children and Social Work Act 
2017 subsection 1 (3) (b) and in carrying out functions 
in relation to the children and young people who are 
care leavers as defined at paragraph 4 of this motion 
must have regard to the need; 

 
(a) to act in the best interests, and promote the 

physical and mental health and well-being, of 
those children and young people; 

(b) to encourage those children and young people 
to express their views, wishes and feelings; 

(c) to take into account the views, wishes and 
feelings of those children and young people; 

(d) to help those children and young people gain 
access to, and make the best use of, services 
provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners; 

 



 

 

(e) to promote high aspirations, and seek to 
secure the best outcomes, for those children 
and young people; 

(f) for those children and young people to be safe, 
and for stability in their home lives, 
relationships and education or work; 

(g) to prepare those children and young people for 
adulthood and independent living. 

 
3. Children and care leavers relevant for the purposes of 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017 subsection 1 
(2) (a) (b) and (c) are; 
 

(a) children who are looked after by a local 
authority, within the meaning given by section 
22(1) of the Children Act 1989; 

(b) relevant children within the meaning given by 
section 23A(2) of that Act; 

(c) persons aged under 25 who are former 
relevant children within the meaning given by 
section 23C(1) of that Act. 
 

4. Broxtowe Borough Council acknowledges that 
Children entering the care system are often split from 
their siblings and placed outside their home Local 
Authority Area. That they don’t choose to enter the 
care system, that they don’t choose to be split up 
from their siblings and don’t choose to be placed 
outside their local area. 
 

5. Broxtowe Borough Council believes that: 
 

(a) Care experienced people face significant 
barriers that impact them throughout their lives; 

(b) Despite the resilience of many care 
experienced people, society too often does not 
take their needs into account; 

(c) Care experienced people often face 
discrimination and stigma across housing, 
health, education, relationships employment 
and in the criminal justice system; 

(d) Care experienced people often face a 
postcode lottery of support; 

(e) As corporate parents, councillors in a district 
council have a collective responsibility for 
providing the best possible support and 
safeguarding for the children who are looked 
after by a local authority and who are leaving 
the care system; 

(f) All corporate parents should commit to acting 
as mentors, hearing the voices of looked after 
children and young people and to consider 



 

 

their needs in any aspect of council work; 
(g) Councillors should be champions of our looked 

after children and care leavers and challenge 
the negative attitudes and prejudice that exists 
in all aspects of society; 

(h) The Public Sector Equality Duty requires public 
bodies, such as councils, to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment, and victimisation of 
people with protected characteristics;  

 
Broxtowe Borough Council is proud that: 
 

6. It published the first joint Local Offer in England in 
partnership with Rushcliffe Borough Council, 
Bassetlaw District Council, Ashfield District Council, 
Gedling Borough Council and Mansfield District 
Council and Newark and Sherwood District Council; 

 
(a) That the council tax exemption policy for care 

leavers across our district and all other districts 
of Nottinghamshire provides equality of 
opportunity because it includes care leavers 
that may have moved into our districts from 
other Local Authority Areas. 

(b) That our district and all other districts of 
Nottinghamshire has a free leisure centre 
membership offer for all Care Leavers up to 
the age of 25 

 
Broxtowe Borough Council Resolves to: 
 
8. That when making any decisions in relation to its 

policies or formulating its Council plan that it 
recognises that care experienced people are an 
oppressed group who face discrimination; 
 

9. That it recognises that Councils have a duty to put the 
needs of oppressed people at the heart of decision-
making through co-production and collaboration; 

 
10. That decision, services and policies made and 

adopted by the Council should be assessed through 
Equality Impact Assessments to determine the impact 
of changes on people with care experience, alongside 
those who formally share a Protected Characteristic. 

 
11. That in the delivery of the Public Sector Equality Duty 

the Council includes care experience in the 
publication and review of Equality Objectives and the 
annual publication of information relating to people 
who share a Protected Characteristic in services and 
employment.  



 

 

 
12. That it will treat Care Experience as if it were a 

Protected Characteristic by this council. 
 

13. That it will adopt the Corporate Parenting Principals 
for all children in care and care leavers. 

 
14. To formally call upon all other bodies to treat care 

experience as a protected characteristic. 
 

15. To formally call upon all other bodies to adopt the 
corporate parenting principals.  

 
16. For the Council to proactively seek out and listen to 

the voices of care experienced people when 
developing new policies based on their views.” 

 
 

10.2   The following motion has been received from Councillor V C 
Smith:  
 

 

 This Council notes with concern, the lack of accommodation 
and opportunities, particularly for young people or those with 
disabilities, the ability to access good affordable housing. 
One of the primary causes of this has been the right to buy 
legislation that has severely restricted opportunities for 
Broxtowe residents. This council therefore resolves to;  

 Write to the housing minister, formally requesting the 
immediate suspension of the right to buy legislation.  

 Undertake an area based needs assessment of each 
category and use this information to help inform the 
planning process in better assessing the needs of 
communities across the borough.  

 Write to the shadow housing minister in order to 
facilitate a House of Commons debate in order to 
prioritise housing need and the cost of living crisis at 
the top of the political agenda.  

 

 

10.3   The following motion has been received from Councillor H J 
Faccio:  
 

 

 This Council notes with concern, the vulnerability of staff 
working in late night licensed entertainment venues. This 
Council therefore resolves to;  

 Request that the Licensing & Appeals Committee and 
licensing officers consider introducing a policy to 
ensure that staff are offered safe passage home at 
the end of their shifts as part of conditions of their 
licence agreements.  

 



 

 

 Publically call for improvement to late night and off-
peak transport service provision, and use the 
Government’s Safety of Women at Night Fund to 
provide extra night services, as well as work with 
employers to use the fund for supplementary taxi 
travel. 

 Publically support municipal ownership of buses in 
order to lower prices and improve service provision, 
especially for night-time and off-peak services. 

 
11.   MEMBERS' SPEECHES ON WARD ISSUES   

 
 

 

12.   QUESTIONS ON OUTSIDE BODIES   
 
 

 

13.   APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES AND WORKING 
GROUPS 
 

 

 The Council is asked to NOTE that Councillor G S Hills 
has replaced Councillor P J Owen on the Shared 
Prosperity Fund Members Advisory Panel and to 
RESOLVE that:  
 

1. Councillor H G Khaled MBE be replaced by 
Councillor D D Pringle as a representative of the 
Conservative Group on the Planning Committee. 

2. A second Vice-Chair be appointed to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 

14.   REPRESENTATION ON OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

 

 RECOMMENDED that:  

1. The Core City Board/Joint Leadership Board be 
removed from the list of outside bodies. 

2. The appointment of representatives on outside 
bodies be as follows: 

 
BODY/ORGANSATION  REPRESENTATIVES 
 
Economic Prosperity Committee Councillor M Radulovic MBE 
HS2 Executive Board                  Councillor M Radulovic MBE 
 
 

 

 
 



COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY, 17 MAY 2023 
 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor T A Cullen, Mayor 
 

Councillors: D Bagshaw 
S A Bagshaw 
P J Bales 
L A Ball BEM 
R E Bofinger 
M Brown 
R Bullock 
G Bunn 
B C Carr 
C Carr 
S J Carr 
A Cooper 
H L Crosby 
S Dannheimer 
H J Faccio 
R S Falvey 
K Harlow 
G S Hills 
S P Jeremiah 
S Kerry 
H G Khaled MBE 
A Kingdon 
D L MacRae 
R D MacRae 
G Marshall 
J W McGrath 
W Mee 
J M Owen 
P J Owen 
S Paterson (Vice-Chair) 
M Radulovic MBE 
P A Smith 
H E Skinner 
V C Smith 
A W G A Stockwell 
C M Tideswell 
S Webb 
E Williamson 
E Winfield 
K Woodhead 
 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H Land, D D Pringle and 
D K Watts. 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3.



1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

2 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 March 2023 were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record.   
 
 

3 MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
A minute’s silence was held in respect of Phil Kiddier, who was the second ever Mayor 
of Broxtowe. 
 
The Mayor gave a résumé his year in office and expressed thanks to his escort, 
friends and family, Council employees and fellow Council Members for their valued 
assistance and support during the period. 
 
 

4 PRESENTATION OF THE FORMER MAYOR'S JEWEL OF OFFICE  
 
 
The Mayor presented the Jewel of Office to Councillor D Grindell to mark his 
term of office. 
 
 

5 VOTE OF THANKS  
 
A vote of thanks to the Mayor was proposed by Councillor M Radulovic MBE, 
seconded by Councillors R D Macrae and M Brown and carried unanimously. 
 
 

6 ELECTION OF MAYOR  
 
It was proposed by Councillor H E Skinner and seconded by Councillor S J Carr that 
Councillor T A Cullen be elected Mayor of the Borough for the ensuing year. 
 

RESOLVED that Councillor T A Cullen be elected Mayor of the Borough 
for 2023/24. 

 
Councillor T A Cullen, having signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office, thanked 
the Council for having elected her Mayor of the Borough. Councillor T A Cullen stated 
that she would be opening a trust fund named Broxtowe Community Fund during her 
year in office and further details would be provided in due course.  
 
 

7 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR  
 
It was proposed by Councillor J W McGrath and seconded by Councillor P J Owen 
that Councillor S Paterson be appointed Deputy Mayor of the Borough for the ensuing 
year. 

Page 10



 
RESOLVED that Councillor S Paterson be appointed Deputy Mayor of the 

Borough for 2023/24. 
 

Councillor S Paterson, having signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office, thanked 
the Council for the appointment. 
 
 

8 ELECTION OF LEADER  
 
It was proposed by Councillor G Marshall and seconded by Councillor H E Skinner 
that Councillor M Radulovic MBE be elected as Leader of the Council. A Recorded 
vote was proposed and seconded by at least five other Councillors. The voting was as 
follows: 
 
For Against Abstention 
D Bagshaw   
S A Bagshaw   
P Bales   
L A Ball BEM   
R E Bofinger   
M Brown   
R Bullock   
G Bunn   
B C Carr   
C Carr   
S J Carr   
A Cooper   
H Crosby   
T A Cullen   
S Dannheimer   
H J Faccio   
R S Falvey   
K A Harlow   
G S Hills   
S P Jeremiah   
S Kerry   
H G Khaled MBE   
A Kingdon   
D L MacRae   
R D MacRae   
G Marshall   
J W McGrath   
W Mee   
J M Owen   
P J Owen   
S Paterson   
M Radulovic MBE   
H E Skinner   
P A Smith   
V C Smith   
A W G A Stockwell   
C M Tideswell   

Page 11



S Webb   
E Williamson   
E Winfield   
K Woodhead   
 
 RESOLVED that Councillor M Radulovic MBE be elected as the Leader of 
the Council. 
 
 

9 RECOGNITION OF POLITICAL LEADERS  
 
It was noted that Councillor M Radulovic MBE was the Leader of the Council and 
Councillor G Marshall as the Deputy Leader. Councillor P J Owen was Leader of the 
Opposition with Councillor D D Pringle as the Deputy Leader of the Opposition. 
Councillor S J Carr was the Leader of the Group that would be known as Independent 
and Liberal Democratic Group with Councillors D K Watts and R D MacRae as Deputy 
Leaders.  
 
The Leader of the Council paid tribute to the former Leader of the Opposition, Richard 
Jackson, who had been a Member for 16 years, 12 in Opposition and in 2015 became 
Leader of the Council for four years.  
 
 

10 APPOINTMENTS TO CABINET AND COMMITTEES OF THE CABINET  
 
Members noted the appointments to the Cabinet and Committees of the Cabinet by 
the Leader in accordance with the schedule laid before the meeting.  
 
It was further proposed by Councillor M Radulovic MBE and seconded by Councillor G 
Marshall to make some minor amendments to the Constitution to remove the Policy 
Working Group Committee and replace with the Policy Overview Working Group and 
for named substitutes to be removed from non-quasi-judicial Committees. A 
constitutional review would shortly be taking place as part of the consultation 
proposed at the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 19 June 2023. 
 

RESOLVED with the minor amendments to remove the Policy Working 
Group and replace with the Policy Overview Working Group, remove named 
substitutes from non-quasi-judicial Committees 
 
APPOINTMENTS TO CABINET AND COMMITTEES OF THE CABINET 
 
CABINET  
 
M Radulovic MBE (Chair) - Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Asset 
Management 
G Marshall (Vice Chair) - Portfolio Holder for Resources and Personnel Policy 
H E Skinner - Portfolio Holder for Environment and Climate Change 
V C Smith - Portfolio for Housing 
H J Faccio - Portfolio Holder for Community Safety 
C Carr - Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Health 
R E Bofinger 
P A Smith 
S A Bagshaw 

Page 12



J W McGrath 
 
POLICY OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP  
 
Terms of reference: 
 

 To consider and recommend to Cabinet all the Councils policies and strategies 
for the Portfolios of Resources and Personnel Policy, Housing, Economic 
Development and Asset Management, Community Safety, Leisure and Health, 
and Environment and Climate Change.  

 To also include supporting reviewing and making recommendations towards 
the implementation of Member facilities, expenses, and allowances. 

 Time critical reports would go straight to Cabinet.  
 
 

Number of Members 13 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply At the Leader’s discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader 

Restrictions on Membership  Must have at least one Cabinet 
Member on the Working Group 

 
The following Councillors may not serve 
on the Policy Overview Working Group; 

 Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair As above 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded 
up to be no less than 4 
 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per 
Council Year 
 

Up to 10 
 
Frequency and timing of meetings to be 
determined by the Chair 
 
Hybrid Meeting  

 
Policy Overview Working Group Membership 
 
Labour 
 
G. Bunn (Chair)     
A Cooper (Vice-Chair)      
R.S Falvey        
P.J Bales        
S. Paterson        
R Bullock        
D Bagshaw        
J W McGrath        
          
 
Conservatives  
 

Page 13



D D Pringle       
G S Hills 
M Brown 
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
R D Macrae      
D L Macrae        
 
EVENTS, ARTS, CULTURAL AND HERITAGE WORKING GROUP  
 
Terms of Reference:  
 

 To further promote the management of DHL Museum under the heritage 
banner.  

 To promote the health and vitality of town centres and communities through a 
planned programme of events and arts programmes. 

 To promote close co-operation with our twin towns in Gutersloh and friendship 
arrangement in Myskow and to bring forward the CCity project across Europe 
to Broxtowe.  

 To promote the Council’s heritage and culture through collaborate working with 
our European partners. 

 

Number of Members 13 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes  

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Leaders discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded 
up to be no less than 4 

 
Events, Arts, Culture and Heritage Working Group Membership 
 
Labour 
  
T. Cullen (Chair) 
S Paterson 
G Bunn 
W Mee 
S Dannheimer 
K Harlow 
K Woodward 
E Winfield 
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
E Williamson (Vice-Chair)  
D L MacRae 
 
Conservative 
 
H G Khaled MBE  
S Kerry 
A W G A Stockwell 

Page 14



 
 
SHARED PROSPERITY FUND MEMBERS ADVISORY PANEL (UKSPF PANEL)  
 

 UKSPF Panel to assist and advise to the S151/Deputy Chief Executive in 
making urgent delegated determinations, which fall in between Cabinet cycles, 
where expediency is required to ensure Investment Plan funding can be 
defrayed in a timely manner and not clawed back or any other urgent matters 
that cannot wait for Cabinet including the awarding of business grants. 

 Decisions should be by consensus wherever possible, however, the final 
decision will lie with the Section 151/Deputy Chief Executive. 

 The S151/Deputy Chief Officer will report back urgent decisions made to the 
next suitable Cabinet.   

 The Panel should at all times work to the agreed rules reflected in the   
 DHLUC/BBC Memorandum of Understanding and any other further rules or   
 best practice required by the funding body 
 

Number of Members 5 

Substitute Members Permitted No 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Leader’s discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader  

Restrictions on Membership Membership of this Panel shall include: 
The Leader, Portfolio Holder of 
Resources and Personnel Policy, One 
other Labour Member, Leader of the 
Opposition, Leader of the Ind/Lib Dem 

Quorum 2 Plus Chair 

Number of Meetings Per Council Year As required 

    Shared Prosperity Fund Members Advisory Panel (UKSPF Panel) Membership 
 
Labour 
 
M Radulovic MBE (Chair)  
G Marshall (Vice-Chair) 
S A Bagshaw 
 
Independent /Liberal Democrat Group 
 
B C Carr 
 
Conservative 
 
P J Owen 
 
Budget Provisions subject to IRP consideration 
 

Each Working Group £3251 Chair £821 Vice Chair x2 

Policy Overview Working 
Group 

£3251  Chair £821 Vice Chair  

 
Objectives: 

Page 15



 Strengthening our social fabric and fostering a sense of local pride and 
belonging, through investment in activities that enhance physical, cultural and 
social ties and amenities, such as community infrastructure and local green 
space, and community-led projects. 

 Building resilient, safe and healthy neighbourhoods, through investment in 
quality places that people want to live, work, play and learn in, through targeted 
improvements to the built environment and innovative approaches to crime 
prevention. 

 
Supporting local business 
 
Objectives: 

 Creating jobs and boosting community cohesion, through investments that build 
on existing industries and institutions, and range from support for starting 
businesses to visible improvements to local retail, hospitality and leisure sector 
facilities. 

 Promoting networking and collaboration, through interventions that bring 
together businesses and partners within and across sectors to share 
knowledge, expertise and resources, and stimulate innovation and growth. 

 Increasing private sector investment in growth-enhancing activities, through 
targeted support for small and medium-sized businesses to undertake new-to-
firm innovation, adopt productivity-enhancing, energy efficient and low carbon 
technologies and techniques, and start or grow their exports 

 
People and skills 
 
Objectives: 
 

 Boosting core skills and support adults to progress in work, by targeting adults 
with no or low level qualifications and skills in maths, and upskill the working 
population, yielding personal and societal economic impact, and by 
encouraging innovative approaches to reducing adult learning barriers. 

 Reducing levels of economic inactivity through investment in bespoke intensive 
life and employment support tailored to local need. Investment should facilitate 
the join-up of mainstream provision and local services within an area for 
participants, through the use of one-to-one keyworker support, improving 
employment outcomes for specific cohorts who face labour market barriers. 

o Expected cohorts include, but are not limited to people aged over 50, 
people with a disability and health condition, women, people from an 
ethnic minority, young people not in education, employment or training 
and people with multiple complex needs (homeless, care leavers, ex/ 
offenders, people with substance abuse problems and victims of 
domestic violence). 

 Supporting people furthest from the labour market to overcome barriers to work 
by providing cohesive, locally tailored support, including access to basic skills. 

 Supporting local areas to fund gaps in local skills provision to support people to 
progress in work, and supplement local adult skills provision e.g. by providing 
additional volumes; delivering provision through wider range of routes or 
enabling more intensive/innovative provision, both qualification based and non-
qualification based. This should be supplementary to provision available 
through national employment and skills programmes. 

 

Page 16



In years two and three most of the decisions would be guided by the Investment Plan 
and any significant changes to it would need to be determined by Cabinet and receive 
the consent of DHLUC. 
 
The Borough Council was being measured on how effective it was in spending the 
funding, including any funding rolled forward from 2022/23 financial year into Q1 and 
Q2 of the 2023/24 financial year.   
 
Any consequential amendments to the Constitution be delegated to the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 
 

11 ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DISCHARGE OF FUNCTIONS  
 

RESOLVED that in accordance with the powers set out in the Local 
Government Act 2000 and all and every power enabling, the following be 
appointed with the powers appropriate to each as set out in the scheme of 
delegation or as approved by Council it being noted that: 
 

a) The allocation of seats to political groups takes account of, and includes, 
the rights of the Leader of the Council and the Leader of the Opposition or 
their nominated representatives set out in 1. below; 

 
Planning Committee 
 
Labour 
 
D Bagshaw (Chair)  Substitutes  1. S Paterson 
R S Falvey (Vice Chair)    2. K Woodhead 
G Marshall      3. R Bullock  
R E Bofinger      4. A Cooper 
H E Skinner      5. S Webb 
G Bunn      6. S A Bagshaw 
P A Smith      7.V C Smith 
P J Bales      8.W Mee    
      
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
S J Carr Substitutes  1. H Land 
D K Watts   2. E Williamson  
     
Conservatives 

 
L A Ball BEM    Substitutes 1. D.D Pringle 
H G Khaled MBE     2. J M Owen 
G S Hills      3. P J Owen  
  
 
Licensing & Appeals Committee 
 
Labour 
 
R Bullock (Chair) 

Page 17



E Winfield (Vice-Chair) 
A Cooper 
S Webb 
C M Tideswell 
S Paterson 
K Woodhead 
 
 
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
B C Carr 
R D MacRae 
E Williamson 
 
Conservative 
 
D D Pringle 
G S Hills 
S Kerry 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
Labour 
 
S Dannheimer (Chair)    
S Jeremiah       
E Winfield  
K A Harlow 
C M Tideswell 
S Webb 
W Mee 
K Woodhead        
      
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group  
 
E Williamson (Vice-Chair) 
H Land          
 
Conservatives 
J M Owen 
A W G A Stockwell 
H L Crosby         
 
Governance, Audit & Standards Committee 
 

Labour 
 

S Paterson (Vice Chair)    
R S Falvey       .  
K A Harlow       .  
P J Bales        
R Bullock         

Page 18



S Webb         
G Bunn            
 
           

Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 

S Carr (Chair)      
D K Watts        
A Kingdon        
         
Conservative 
 

M Brown      
J M Owen      
G S Hills      
 
 

Advisory Shareholder Sub-Committee 
 
Labour 
 
R S Falvey      
S Webb        
R Bullock        
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
D K Watts       
 
Conservative 
 
G S Hills 
 
 
Senior Officer Employment Committee 
 
Labour 
 
G Marshall(Chair)   Substitute 1.  M Radulovic MBE 
V C Smith      2. H E Skinner 
S A Bagshaw     3.        H J Faccio 
 

Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
B C Carr    Substitute 1.  S J Carr 
 
Conservative  
 
P J Owen    Substitute  1.  D D Pringle 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
Independent Members 
 
Two Independent Persons to be appointed to the Committee solely in relation to 
disciplinary matters for statutory chief officers within the relevant Terms of Reference 
for the Senior Officer Employment Committee. 
 
Local Joint Consultative Committee 
 
Labour 
 
M Radulovic MBE      
H E Skinner          
A Cooper         
C Tideswell 
E Winfield 
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
B C Carr  
R D Macrae   
 
Conservative  
 
D D Pringle 
G S Hills      
       
Bramcote Bereavement Services Joint Committee 
 
The Executive or Council shall appoint from its own membership 3 Members which 
shall reflect the political balance of each membership.   
 
Labour 
 
M Radulovic MBE 
 
Independent and Liberal Democrat Group 
 
S J Carr 
 
Conservative 
 
H G Khaled MBE 
 
 
2. The Council was asked to NOTE that either the Leader of the Council or 

another Councillor being their nominated representative, and either the 
Leader of the Opposition or another Councillor being their nominated 
representative, have the right to attend any of the Council’s Committees, 
which are not scrutiny Committees, as ex-officio Members and to speak 
but not vote at it provided that such nominated representatives may not 

Page 20



be in attendance at the same meeting as their respective Leaders, unless 
they have been appointed as a Member of that Committee or are acting as 
a substitute for a named Member. 

 
 

12 REPRESENTATIONS ON OUTSIDE BODIES  
 

RESOLVED that the appointment of representatives on outside 
bodies be as follows with the minor amendments to add Councillor D K 
Watts as representative at Francis Dixon and Catherine Gregory Charity 
and to confirm that the organisation, Age Concern Chilwell was still 
operating.  

 
 
 

NO. 
 

BODY/ORGANISATION REPRESENTATIVE 

1 Age Concern, Chilwell 
 

Cllr H E Skinner 
Cllr C M Tideswell 
 

2 Age Concern, Eastwood 
 

Cllr S A Bagshaw 

3 Attenborough Nature Reserve Forum 
 

Cllr P A Smith 
Cllr T A Cullen 
Cllr H E Skinner 
 

4 Beeston Consolidated Charity Cllr E Winfield 
Cllr H E Skinner 
 

5 Beeston Rylands Community Centre Cllr S Webb 
Cllr S Dannheimer 
 

6 Bramcote Consolidated Charities  
 

Cllr H Land 
Cllr A Kingdon 
Cllr D K Watts 
 

7 Broxtowe Citizens Advice Bureau 
 

Cllr P A Smith 

8 Broxtowe Wildlife Forum 
 

Cllr S Dannheimer 

9 Campaign to Protect Rural  
England (Notts) Branch Executive Committee 
 

Cllr R Bullock 

10 Canalside Heritage Centre Cllr V C Smith 
 

11 Chilwell Community Centre Cllr S Jeremiah 
Cllr H E Skinner 
Cllr C M Tideswell 

12 Core City Board/Joint Leadership Board Cllr G Marshall 
 

13 East Midlands Councils Cllr M Radulovic MBE or 
nominated representative 
 

Page 21



NO. 
 

BODY/ORGANISATION REPRESENTATIVE 

14 East Midlands Museum Service 
 

Cllr S A Bagshaw 

15 Eastwood Volunteer Bureau Management 
Committee 
 

Cllr K Woodhead 

16 Francis Dixon and Catherine Gregory Charity Cllr H Land 
Cllr D Watts 

17 Greater Nottingham Groundwork Trust 
 

Cllr H E Skinner 

18 Greenwood Partnership Board 
 

Cllr H E Skinner 

19 Joint Planning Advisory Board Cllr D Bagshaw (Cllr M 
Radulovic MBE as Chair) 
 

20 Local Government Association Cllr M Radulovic MBE or 
nominated representative 
 

21 Local Government Information Unit 
 

Cllr M Radulovic MBE 

22 Nottingham Express Transit Development Board 
 

Cllr W Mee 

23 Nottingham Playhouse Trust 
 

Cllr K A Harlow 

24 Nottinghamshire Local Government Leaders 
Group 

Cllr M Radulovic MBE or 
nominated representative 
 

25 Relate 
 

Cllr R E Bofinger 

26 United Charities of Abel Collins 
 

Cllr B C Carr 

27 
 

Health Scrutiny - Lead Member 
 
 

Cllr C M Tideswell  
(Substitute R S Falvey) 

28 
 

Sure Start 
 

Cllr H J Faccio  
Cllr C M Tideswell 
 

29 Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Cllr C M Tideswell  
(Substitute R S Falvey) 

30 Notts Police and Crime Commissioner’s Panel 
 

Cllr T A Cullen 

31 Armed Forces Champion 
 

Cllr M Radulovic MBE 

32 Liberty Leisure Board Member 
 

Cllr S Paterson 
Cllr D Bagshaw 
Cllr S Dannheimer 
 

33 Joint Waste and Recycling Committee 
 

Cllr H E Skinner 

34 East Midlands Airport Consultative Committee 
 

Cllr P Smith+ 1 Reserve 
Member 

35 LGA General Assembly Cllr G Marshall 

Page 22



NO. 
 

BODY/ORGANISATION REPRESENTATIVE 

 
36 Refugee Steering Group Cllr E Winfield  

Cllr B C Carr 
+ I Conservative Member 
 

37 Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London 
Joint Committee 

Cllr W Mee 

 
 

13 SCHEME OF DELEGATION  
 
Members considered the Scheme of Delegation and agreed, in line with the Part 1.1.9 
of the Constitution that at the annual meeting of the Council, it should agree the 
Scheme of Delegations or such part of it as the Constitution determines it is for the 
Council to agree (as set out later in the Constitution. 
 
As part of the review of the Constitution, that was being considered by the 
Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on 19 June 2023, Members would be 
encouraged to provide feedback on the consultation exercise before being submitted 
to full Council.   
 
 

RESOLVED that the Scheme of Delegation be approved. 
 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 

CONSTITUTION REVIEW 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 

To report on the annual review of the Constitution. 
 

2. Recommendation from the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee: 
19 June 2023 

 
RECOMMENDED to Council that the amendments to the Constitution at 
appendix 2 be approved. 

 
3. Detail 
 

Under its terms of reference, the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
is tasked with an overview of the Council’s Constitution, consideration of 
proposed amendments or revisions and to recommend to Council amendments 
to the Constitution.  
 

4. Considerations of the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
 
At its meeting on 19 June 2023, the Committee was informed that on 11 May 
2022, the Council moved from a Committee system of governance to an 
Executive Cabinet system, which involved making significant changes to the 
Council’s Constitution.  It was consequently agreed that an annual review of 
these arrangements would be undertaken following implementation and in line 
with Best Practice Recommendations, to ensure the Constitution was kept 
updated and to ensure good governance.  
 
A review of the Constitution had been undertaken in which Officers had been 
engaged and comments were  invited from Members through their respective 
Group Leaders.  Although, it was acknowledged that the Borough Elections 
would have limited the ability for Member engagement, as a number of Members 
were not standing to be re-elected and new Members needed time to be 
inducted. 
 
Therefore, the majority of the proposed amendments were identified through 
Officer consultation. The amendments included consequential restructure 
changes to Officer responsibilities and titles, amending the Officer scheme of 
delegation and the terms of reference to build in better governance arrangements 
for the Stapleford Towns Fund, Kimberley Levelling Up Fund and UKSPF. A 
separate exercise has been undertaken concerning the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and the Code of Conduct reported separately on this agenda. 
 
Governance workshops are also being schedules for Officers, Members and key 
Stakeholder to further develop the arrangements in place for the Stapleford 
Town’s Fund, Kimberley Levelling Up Fund and UKSPF. Once these 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8.1



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 

arrangements have been developed, a further report on proposed changes will 
be brought back to the Committee to consider and recommend to Council.  
 
The Committee considered the annual review of the Constitution and commented 
as follows on the below amendments: 
 
a) Public Speaking (Ch5 p3,4.1) 
 

Agents/professional speakers be allowed to speak at Planning Committee:  
 
There were reservations over allowing professional speakers to represent 
applicants at Planning Committee, as this may dissuade objectors from 
speaking.  
 
The Head of Planning and Economic Development confirms he seeks this 
proposal to bring the Authority in line with processes at Planning Committees 
across Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire Councils. Furthermore, 
applicants pay for professional advice throughout the planning process and 
often consider that the process of not allowing agents to speak leaves them 
feeling penalised and abandoned at a critical point of the process. This also 
enables representation for applicants who have difficulty with public speaking. 
Finally, this enables representations to be focussed on planning grounds. 
 

b) Questions to Members (Ch2 p1,10.1) 
 
Written answers be distributed with the minutes following questions to 
Members at Council meetings:  

 
The response would not be able to be part of the minutes, as the minute must 
be a true reflection of the meeting itself. However, a separate response could 
be circulated as an addition to the minutes.  
 

c) Member referrals to Planning Committee (Ch5 p3,4) 
 

Members be required to give 28 days’ notice and complete a form when 
referring items to Planning Committee for further consideration:  
 
The Head of Planning and Economic Development confirms he seeks this 
proposal to formalise the planning referral process to ensure greater clarity 
for both Members and Planning Officers, and to fully detail the planning 
reasons why an application is being referred to Committee. The aim is to 
eradicate the potential for any referrals to be overlooked or human error to 
occur, as this issue has unfortunately arisen in the past. Therefore, any 
Planning Committee referral would have to be submitted through a specific 
form. 
 
It is proposed that 28 days’ written notice by Members is required to make 
referrals to Planning Committee to enable all parties to the application to have 
sufficient time to prepare representations ahead of the Committee and to 
enable Planning Officers to manage their workloads. 
 

Page 26



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 

The Head of Planning and Economic Development has been consulted 
further since the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee meeting and 
asked that the 28 days is supported as Members will have had 28 days from 
the production of the Planning Weekly List to consider whether to make the 
referral. If referrals are submitted after this time this results in a considerable 
amount of aborted work and the need for the Planning Department to restart 
preparation of the report and other associated documentation. Often leaving 
this longer than 28 days can result in the application having already been 
determined. 
 

d) Content and Length of Speeches (13.4.5) 
 
It was questioned whether it should be up to the Mayor to determine who 
speaks following the Leader’s report at Council: 
 
The Constitution states that the Leader of the Opposition has the opportunity 
to respond first to a debate, however, the Leader of the Opposition may 
reserve the right to speak. 
 

e) Timing of Council Meetings (Ch2.p1, 1.1) 
 
It was queried whether annual Council meetings should have fixed times in 
May: 
 
The amendment to hold Annual Council meetings any time in May will allow 
for greater flexibility in the year of an election and bring this Council in line 
with other Nottinghamshire authorities. 

 
f) Bridleways (Ch2, p8-17, 8,10,11) 

 
The responsibility for bridleways was queried: 
 
It can be confirmed that the County Council has the responsibility for hedges 
and overhanging plants and trees, but the Borough Council is responsible for 
the walkable surfaces.   

 
An amendment was proposed by Councillor P J Owen and seconded by 
Councillor J M Owen that the Leader of the any recognised political group be 
allowed the right to speak but not vote at meetings of the Cabinet. On being put 
to the meeting the amendment was lost. 
 
Appendix 1 contains a change table with reasons for the amendments. Appendix 
2 contains the relevant sections of the Constitution with changes highlighted in 
red. 
 
Furthermore, the resolutions from the full Council meeting held on 17 May 2023, 
have been incorporated into the Constitution, these included the removal of the 
Policy Advisory Committee and adding a Policy Overview Working Group, 
Events, Arts, Culture and Heritage Working Group and the UKSPF Panel in 
addition to the removal of named substitutes on non-quasi-judicial Committee 
meetings. 

Page 27



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

The comments from the Head of Finance Services were as follows:   
 

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

6. Legal Implications 
 

The comments from the Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
were as follows:   
 
Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities operating 
executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a document which 
contains:  
 
(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct 
(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure) 
(c) the code of conduct for members 
(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate.   
 
Broxtowe Borough Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s website 

 
7. Human Resources Implications 

 

There were no comments from the Human Resources Manager. 
 

8. Union Comments 
 

There were no Unison comments in relation to this report. 
 

9. Data Protection Compliance Implications 
 

There are no Data Protection issues in relation to this report. 
 

10. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

As there is no change to policy an equality impact assessment is not required.   
 
11. Background Papers  

 

Nil. 
 
 

 

Page 28



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

 
APPENDIX 1 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number  

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 
 

Chapter 1 
Part 3 xx 
(Leader’s 
Delegation) 

Added to the Leader’s delegations: 
‘To represent the Council at Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire Leader 
meetings concerning devolution.’ 

To ensure the appropriate 
representation on behalf of the 
Council. 

Chapter 2 
Part 1, 1.1 
 
 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual 
meeting will take place on the second Wednesday following the first 
Thursday in May. In any other year, the annual meeting will take place in 
the month of May 
 
Add ‘Within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors (Note, 
retirement takes place on the fourth day after the election). In any other 
year, the annual meeting will take place in May.’ 

To give more flexibility and allow for 
training/induction of new members. 

Chapter 2 
Part 1, 2.19 
 
 

Add updates on the scrutiny work programme to ordinary Council 
meetings. 

To platform the work of scrutiny and 
allow engagement across the 
Council. 

Chapter 2 
Part 1, 2.20 

 
 

Add ‘Receive an Annual Review of Scrutiny report at an appropriate time 
at ordinary Council meetings.’ 

To platform the work of scrutiny and 
allow engagement across the 
Council. 

Chapter 2 
Part 3, 2.20 
(ED&AMPH). 

Replacement of ‘Consider the Asset Management Strategy’ from 
Resources and Personnel Portfolio Holder to Economic Development 
and Asset Management Portfolio Holder (ED&AMPH). 

To better align responsibilities. 

Chapter 2 
Part 3, 2.21 
(ED&AMPH) 

Addition of ‘To consider and make recommendations in relation to Towns 
Fund Boards.’ 

Inclusion of new responsibilities 

P
age 29



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 
 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 2 
Part 3, 2.22 
(ED&AMPH) 

Addition of ‘To consider and make recommendations in relation to 
Levelling Up Funding (e.g. UK Shared Prosperity Fund).’ 

Inclusion of new responsibilities 

Chapter 2 
Part 8-17, 10 
 

To include the need for substitute Members of the Planning Committee to 
complete training prior to attending meetings of the Planning Committee. 

To reinforce the need for substitutes 
to undergo training 

Chapter 2 
Part 8-17, 8 
 

Membership of the Shareholder Sub-Committee should exclude Board 
Members of Liberty Leisure. 

To avoid conflicts of interest. 

Chapter 2 
Part 8-17, 12 
 

Senior Officer Employment Committee to be renamed Chief Officer 
Employment Committee. 

To avoid confusion between the 
terms ‘Chief’ and ‘Senior’ Officer. 

Chapter 2 
Part 8-17, 19 
 

Inclusion of ‘Functions Performed by The Stapleford Towns Deal 
Executive Board (Information to be added.)’ 
 

To capture responsibilities of the 
Towns Deal Board 

Chapter 3 
Part 1, 11.27 
& 12.1 
 

Moving Complaints compensations from Executive Director to Monitoring 
Officer. 

To align responsibilities for 
complaints. 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 7.4.4 

Corporate Communications Manager  
 
Communications, Cultural and Civic Services Manager  
 

To reflect correct Job title 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 7.5 

Insertion of ‘The Senior Officers of the Council are those who comprise 
the Senior Management Team as well as those who report directly to a 
Member of General Management Team as listed at paragraph 7.3 and 
7.4’ 

To clarify who forms part of SMT  

P
age 30



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 9.6 

In consultation with the HR Manager, to deal with all matters other than 
those reserved to the Council relating to the recruitment, appointment, 
remuneration, conditions of service, discipline, dismissal, 
superannuation, qualifications, training, job evaluation, promotion, safety 
and provision of welfare facilities of all employees of the Council 
(including settlement of claims up to £25,000 after consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer and Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer).  if 
within existing budgets). 
 
In consultation with the HR Manager, as necessary,  to deal with all 
matters other than those reserved to the Council relating to the 
recruitment, appointment, remuneration, conditions of service, discipline, 
dismissal, superannuation, qualifications, training, job evaluation, 
promotion, safety and provision of welfare facilities of all employees of 
the Council (including settlement of claims up to £25,000 after 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Chief 
Executive/Section 151 Officer).  if within existing budgets). 

To reflect the impact the pay awards 
may have on the approved staffing 
budgets. 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 9.12  

Insertion of ‘Cabinet’ To reflect the correct position  

Chapter 3 
Part .14 

Insertion of ‘To sign and seal documents  on behalf of the Council, as 
required’. 

To reflect the correct position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 11.2.3 

Insertion of ‘Council’ To reflect the correct position  

Chapter 3 
Part 11.2.5 

To provide advice support the Council’s Standards Complaints Officer 
undertake an initial  assessment of complaints made under the Code of 
Conduct for Members and in consultation with an Independent Person, 
determine any further action to be taken 

To reflect the correct position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 1.2.5  

Change from ‘o’ to Capital ‘O’ Grammatical Correction  

P
age 31



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 13.3 

Insertion of ‘and withdraw’  Clarification  
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14. 

Head of Governance & Deputy Monitoring Officer  
 
Head of Democratic Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer  

To reflect correct job title 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.1 

To perform, the Council’s Governance functions  
 
To perform, the Council’s Democratic Service functions  

To reflect the correct position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.2 

Deletion of ‘To perform the Council’s Information Governance functions’  This responsibility has moved to 
Head of Administrative Services. 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.3 

Deletion of ‘To perform the Council’s Democratic Services functions’  Already stated in clause 14.1 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.4 

Deletion of ‘To perform the Council’s Parking Services functions’ This responsibility has moved to 
Head of Administrative Services. 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.5 

Deletion of ‘to perform the Council’s Surveillance functions’  This responsibility has moved to 
Head of Administrative Services 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.7 

Insertion of ‘and in accordance with the relevant legislation’  Point of clarification  
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 14.8 

To act as the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the 
Surveillance Commissioner Code of Practice’  

This responsibility has moved to 
Head of Administrative Services 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.5 
 

Deletion of ‘To determine planning applications accordingly’ Reflect the current position 

P
age 32



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.7  

To determine applications for planning permission, the need for prior 
approval, consent for the display of advertisements and listed building 
consent and the determination of or response to any other application or 
matter received in respect of the town and country planning function, 
(excluding enforcement)  including Article 4 directions subject in each 
case to the proviso that any Member of the Council may bring the 
application before the Planning Committee for decision, and subject also 
to the provisos below 

Reflect the current position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.8  

To determine planning enforcement action as may be necessary having 
due regard to the after prior consultation response from with Ward 
Members, and the Chair of Planning Committee and the Head of Legal 
Services to include the 
 
Wording in bold highlights amendments made: ‘To determine planning 
enforcement action as may be necessary having due regard to the 
consultation response from  Ward Members, the Chair of Planning 
Committee and the Head of Legal Services to include the 

Reflect the current position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.9 

Insertion of: On a finding of breach of planning control, after consultation 
with Ward Members, Chair and Vice Chair of Planning Committee and 
Head of Legal Services to carry out the necessary action. 

Reflect the current position 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.10  

To perform the Council's functions under the Building Act 1984 to include 
the issue of Notices under Section 36 of the Building Act 1984 (removal 
or alterations of work done in breach of Building Regulations) in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 
 
Wording in bold highlights amendments made: To manage the Council's 
functions under the Building Act 1984 as amended to include the issue 
of Notices under Section 36 of the Building Act 1984 (removal or 

Administrative  Change  

P
age 33



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

alterations of work done in breach of Building Regulations) in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 16.17 

Insertion of: Where Section 106 contributions have been approved at the 
relevant Committee to arrange payments of these in consultation with the 
Head of Legal Services.  

Reflect current position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 17.2 

 Deletion of ‘To deal with Housing Repairs and Compliance matters This responsibility has moved to 
Head of Housing  
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 17.3  

Insertion of To approve bids and adaptions to Council properties up to a 
maximum of £30,000. 

This responsibility has moved to 
Head of  Asset Management, 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 18.8 

To award compensation under the Secure Tenants of Local Authorities 
(Compensation for Improvement) Regulations 1994 unless appropriate to 
exercise a discretion. 
 
To award compensation (up to a maximum of £1000) under the Secure 
Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation for Improvement) 
Regulations 1994 unless appropriate to exercise a discretion. 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 18.11 

To consider and conduct reviews of Council homeless decisions and 
introductory tenancies. 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 18.11 

Insertion of ‘To deal with Housing Repairs and Compliance matters’ This responsibility now with the Head 
of Housing 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 18.12 

Insertion of ‘In common with the Head of Legal Services deal with 
acquisition, appropriations and disposals of Council Houses not 
exceeding he value currently set out in Financial Regulations.  

Reflect current position  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 18.13 

Insertion of ‘To consider, negotiate and determine all acquisitions, 
appropriations and disposals, lettings, negotiations and settlement of 
leases and rents for Council Houses not exceeding the rental or capital 

Reflect current position  

P
age 34



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

consideration currently set out in the Financial Regulations and in 
accordance with relevant Council policies. 
 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 20.3 

Insertion of ‘including the assessment of all reliefs, discounts, levies and 
exemptions’. 
 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 20.5 

Insertion of ‘To appoint Officers (either internally or externally) to act on 
behalf of the Council to perform functions in relation to Revenues, 
Benefits and Customer Services 
 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 21.4 

Insertion of ‘To perform the Council’s Parking Services functions’. This delegation now with Head of 
Administrative Services.  
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 21.5 

Insertion of ‘To perform the Council’s Surveillance functions’ This delegation now with Head of 
Administrative Services. 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 21.6 

Insertion of ‘To act as the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the 
Surveillance Commission Code of Practice’. 

This delegation now with Head of 
Administrative Services. 
 

Chapter 3 
Part 1 23.7 

Insertion of ‘sharing and Key Individuals Network Contact Systems’ 
 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3 
Part 1 23.8  

Deletion of ‘To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Local 
Strategic Partnership and Community Safety Partnership sharing and 
Key Individuals Network Contact Systems’ 

Point of clarification  

Chapter 3  
Part 1 
Schedule of 

Local Government Act 1972 S100B(2), S100B(7), S.100C(2) 
Head of Governance Democratic Services 
 

To reflect correct job title 

P
age 35



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

Proper 
Officer table 

The Local Authorities (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) Access to 
Information (ENGLAND) Regulations 2012 N0.2089 
Regulation 5, 7, 9,10,12,13,14,15,16 and 20  
Head of Governance Democratic Services 

Constitution 
Chapter and 

Number 

Current Wording/Suggested Change Reason for Change 

Chapter 5 
Part 3 4.1  

Only one person objecting and the applicant or a supporter may speak.  
Professional representatives/agents will not be entitled to speak.  Where 
an application affects a large area, additional speakers will be allowed, at 
the discretion of the Monitoring Officer Head of Planning and Economic 
Development, if it is felt there is justification on the basis of a multiplicity of 
viewpoints and issues. 
 
Wording in bold highlights amendments made: Only one person objecting 
and the applicant or a supporter may speak.  Where an application is a 
major planning application and affects a large area, additional speakers 
will be allowed, at the discretion of the Head of Legal and Head of 
Planning and Economic Development, if it is felt there is justification on the 
basis of a multiplicity of viewpoints and issues. 
 

To allow professional 
representatives/agents to speak to 
enable discussion to focus on 
planning grounds and to align with 
general planning protocol across 
other authorities.  
 
 
 

Chapter 5 
Part 3.4 
Notes  

Any Member may refer an application to the Planning Committee for a 
decision. Any Member may refer an application to the Planning 
Committee, on giving 28 days’ notice from the date the application is 
published on the weekly list and having completed the relevant referral 
form. The Such a Member may speak but not vote on the application, 
unless they are a Member of the Committee. Additionally, Ward 
Councillors also have the right to attend and speak but not to vote on an 
application for planning consent for a matter affecting their Ward. 
Speeches by Members who have referred an application to Committee 
and by Ward Members will be limited to five minutes’ duration. Any Ward 

To streamline the process when 
referring applications to planning 
committee. 

P
age 36



COUNCIL                   12 July 2023 

 
 

 
 

 

Councillor having spoken to the Committee will have the right to reply 
before the Committee votes 
 
Any Member may refer an application to the Planning Committee, on 
giving 28 days’ notice from the date the application is published on 
the weekly list and having completed the relevant referral form. The 
Such a Member may speak but not vote on the application, unless they 
are a Member of the Committee. Additionally, Ward Councillors also have 
the right to attend and speak but not to vote on an application for planning 
consent for a matter affecting their Ward. Speeches by Members who 
have referred an application to Committee and by Ward Members will be 
limited to five minutes’ duration. Any Ward Councillor having spoken to the 
Committee will have the right to reply before the Committee votes.” 
 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxtowe Borough 
Council Constitution 

Chapter 2 – Part 1 & 2 

The Council and Council Procedure Rules  

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Chapter 2 Part 1 & 2: THE COUNCIL AND COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  

Part 1: 

1. The Council 

Functions & Responsibilities 

1.1 Under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 and, where applicable, 

Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 and other relevant 

legislation, and in the manner set out in this Constitution the Council arranges for the 

discharge of its functions by the Cabinet (Executive functions), Committees (Non-

Executive functions) and by Officers under delegated authority other than: 

1.2 Those functions reserved as Council Functions by the Local Government Act 2000 (as 

amended) or any other Act. 

1.3 Those functions set in Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended); 

1.4 Those plans and strategies set out in Schedule 3 of the of the Local Authorities 

(Functions and Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended); 

1.5 Those functions which would be Cabinet functions but for the circumstances set out in 

Schedule 4 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities (England) 

Regulations 2000 (as amended); 

1.6 Those functions set out below which the Council has determined shall be reserved to 

the Council: 

1.6.1 Consideration of reports by the Chief Executive under Section 4(5) of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

1.6.2 The election of the Mayor of the Council under S.4 of the Local Government 

Act 1972 

1.6.3 The appointment of the Deputy Mayor of the Council under S.5 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 

1.6.4 The matters set out in section 67(2)(a), (b), (c) and (d) of the Local 

Government (Finance) Act 1992 being determination as to discounts or 

liability in prescribed cases and the setting of the Council Tax 

1.6.5 Determination or variation of the Council’s affordable borrowing limit under 

Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 

1.6.6 Appointing and Discharging the Leader of the Council by resolution 

1.6.7 Noting the appointment of the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Opposition 

and the Leader and Deputy Leader of any other political group; 

1.6.8 Approval or adoption of amendment of the following policy documents: 

Page 41



 

 

 

The Council’s Constitution including  

(a) Procedure Rules. 

(b) The Code of Conduct. 

(c) Corporate Plan. 

(d) Overall capital programme and revenue budget (including associated 

strategies). 

(e) Statement of Licensing Policy. 

(f) Statement of Gambling Principles. 

1.6.9 The making of byelaws. 

1.6.10 The promotion or adoption of an Act of Parliament. 

1.6.11 The receipt of petitions. 

1.6.12 The appointment and dismissal of the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer, 

S151 Officer. and other Chief Officers. 

1.6.13 The adoption and amendment of the Councillor’s allowance scheme. 

1.6.14 Determining or delegating of any matter or function within the remit of the 

Council not delegated or performed elsewhere under this scheme. 

1.6.15 Functions conferred on the Council by Part 4 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 in respect of the receipt of petitions and 

the institution, conduct and determination of a Community Governance 

Review. 

1.6.16 Appointment to outside bodies. 

1.6.17 Establishing Joint Committees to perform functions that would fall to be 

performed by a Joint Committee of the Council and similar Members or 

representative of some other authority or body. 

1.6.18 Pay Policy. 

1.6.19 Approving and adopting the Budget and Policy Framework. 

The Budget and Policy Framework 

2. The Policy Framework 

2.1 The Policy Framework means the following plans and strategies:  

2.1.1 Corporate Plan / Forward Plan 

2.1.2 Development Management Documents prepared in accordance with the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (or as subsequently amended) 

2.1.3 The Planning Development Plan 

2.1.4 Licensing Authority Policy Statement 

Page 42



 

 

 

2.1.5 Statement on Gambling Policy 

2.1.6 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 

2.1.7 Annual Treasury Management Strategy 

2.1.8 Financial Strategy (Medium Term Financial Plan, Revenue Budget, Council 

Tax Setting and Capital Programme) 

2.1.9 Capital Investment Strategy 

2.2 Budget 

The Budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and 

projects, centrally held funds, determining the Council Tax base, setting the Council 

Tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, the 

control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

2.3 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

The Budget and Policy Framework are prepared and adopted by the Council in 

accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out at 

Chapter 2 Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Part 2: Council Procedure Rules  

1. Annual Meeting of the Council 

1.1 Timing and business 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will take 
place on the second Wednesday following the first Thursday in May. In any other year, the 
annual meeting will take place in the month of May within 21 days of the retirement of the 
outgoing Councillors (Note, retirement takes place on the fourth day after the election). In 
any other year, the annual meeting will take place in April or May. 

The annual meeting will: 

1.1.1 elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Council are 

not present; 

1.1.2 elect the Mayor of the Council; 

1.1.3 appoint the Deputy Mayor of the Council; 

1.1.4 approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

1.1.5 receive any announcements from the Mayor; 

1.1.6 note the Leader of the Council, the Leader of the Opposition and the 

Leader of any other group; 

1.1.7 elect the Leader in the year of an ordinary election of Councillors; 

1.1.8 appoint the Committees the Council considers appropriate to deal with 

matters which are not reserved to the Council (as set out later in this 

Constitution); 

Page 43



 

 

 

1.1.9 agree the scheme of delegations or such part of it as the Constitution 

determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out later in this 

Constitution); 

1.1.10 consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting; 

1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies; at the annual meeting, 

the Council meeting will: 

1.2.1 decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the 

political balance rules; 

1.2.2 make appointments to outside bodies except where appointment to those 

bodies has been delegated by the Council; 

1.2.3 appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees; 

1.2.4 note that either the Leader of the Council or another Councillor being their 

nominated representative, and either the Leader of the Opposition or another 

Councillor being their  nominated representative, have the right to attend any 

of the Council’s Committees, which are not scrutiny Committees, as ex-officio 

Members and to speak but not vote at it provided that such nominated 

representatives may not be in attendance at the same meeting as their 

respective Leaders, unless they have been appointed as a Member of that 

Committee or are acting as a substitute for a named Member. 

2. Ordinary Meetings 

2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a programme 

decided at a previous meeting. The order of business at ordinary meetings will be as 

follows: 

2.1.1 elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not  present; 

2.1.2 approve the minutes of the last meeting; 

2.1.3 receive any declarations of interest from Members; 

2.1.4 receive any announcements from the Mayor; 

2.1.5 receive a report from the Leader and receive questions and answers   on the 

report if any; 

2.1.6 receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to   

matters which in the opinion of the Chief Executive are relevant to the 

Council’s functions (subject to Rule 8.5); 

2.1.7 receive reports from the Cabinet Portfolio Holders and receive questions and 

answers on the reports; 

2.1.8 receive reports from the Committees and receive questions and answers on 

the reports; 

Page 44



 

 

 

2.1.9 consider business which, in the opinion of the Chair or Vice-Chair of the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee, or in their absence, the Mayor or Deputy 

Mayor, or in their absence the Chief Executive or their nominee’s should be 

considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency; 

2.1.10 receive petitions in relation to matters which in the opinion of the Chief 

Executive are relevant to the Council’s functions; 

2.1.11 receive items referred from the Committees or questions from Members on 

the business of the Committees; 

2.1.12 consider any other business specified in notice convening the meeting, 

including proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Budget and Policy 

Framework and reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;  

2.1.13 consider motions; 

2.1.14 receive a presentation from the Youth Mayor, as appropriate, (and/or the 

Deputy Youth Mayor), by invitation, for up to five minutes on the activities of 

Broxtowe Youth Voice (the Youth Mayor and/or the Deputy Youth Mayor 

will have the right to speak, but not to vote, on any item on the agenda at a 

full Council meeting whether annual or ordinary with the rules on speaking 

being as per these Council Procedure Rules); 

2.1.15 receive questions from Councillors to those representing the Council on 

outside bodies; 

2.1.16 deal with questions from Councillors in accordance with Rule 10; 

2.1.17 approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council and Committees 

for the year at an appropriate time. The Council meeting to consider the 

budget shall be limited to only that substantive item unless by agreement of 

the Mayor; 

2.1.18 approve amendments to the membership of Committees. 

2.1.19 receive updates from the Chair or Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on the Scrutiny work programme. 

2.1.20 Receive an Annual Review of Scrutiny report at an appropriate time. 

3. Extraordinary Meetings  

3.1 Calling extraordinary meetings 

The Chief Executive or in their absence, the Deputy Chief Executive (section 151 

Officer) may call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings and those listed 

below may request the Chief Executive or in their absence, the Deputy Chief Executive 

to call additional Council meetings: 

3.1.1 the Council by resolution; 

3.1.2 the Mayor of the Council; 

Page 45



 

 

 

3.1.3 any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to 

the Mayor of the Council and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has 

failed to call a meeting within seven clear working days of the presentation of 

the requisition the Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive (Section 151 

Officer) or the Monitoring Officer, respectively, in the exercise of their 

statutory duties. 

3.2 Business of extraordinary meetings 

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be restricted to the 

item of business contained in the request for the extraordinary meeting and there shall 

be no consideration of previous minutes or reports from committees etc except that the 

Mayor, or in their absence the Deputy Mayor may at their absolute discretion permit 

other items of business to be conducted for the efficient discharge of the Council’s 

business within the provisions of the law. 

4. Time, Place and Duration of Council Meetings  

4.1 Time and Place of Meetings 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chief Executive and notified 

in the summons. 

4.2 Duration of Meetings 

4.2.1 At an ordinary meeting of the Council, when two hours have elapsed after the 

commencement of the meeting a Member of the Council may move without 

notice that the meeting shall end at a time to be specified in the motion. The 

Mayor shall, at the conclusion of the debate on the item of business then 

under consideration, put the matter to the vote if the duration of the meeting 

will exceed three hours. 

4.2.2 If there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that remain to 

be dealt with, and require decisions, they will be deferred to the next meeting. 

4.2.3 During the process set out in at Rules 4.2.1 and 4.2.2 above the only other 

motions which may be moved are that a  matter be withdrawn or deferred 

under or that a particular Rule be suspended under Rule 21.1 or that a matter 

be delegated to the Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee for decision or 

report under Rule 8.10. 

4.2.4 When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the Mayor will 

declare the meeting closed. 

5. Notice of and Summons to Meetings 

5.1 The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 

meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. At least five 

clear working days before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons signed 

by them to every Member of the Council. The summons will give the date, time and 

Page 46



 

 

 

place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted and will be 

accompanied by such reports as are available. 

6. Chair of Meeting 

6.1 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor. 

Where these rules apply to Committee and Sub-Committee Meetings, references to 

the Mayor also include the Chair of Committees and Sub-Committees. 

7. Quorum 

7.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Councillors or 

Committee Members (unless stated elsewhere in this constitution) and for Committees 

shall be no less than three Members. During any meeting if the Mayor counts the 

number of Members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the 

meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be considered  at a time 

and date fixed by the Mayor. If they do not fix a date, the remaining business will be 

considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

8. Questions by the Public 

8.1 General 

Members of the public who are residents of the Borough or run a business in the 

Borough may ask one question of the Leader, Portfolio Holder or of the Chair of a 

Committee at ordinary meetings of the Council. 

The total time allocated for questions by the public is limited to 15 minutes in total and 

no more than 5 minutes per question. 

8.2 Order of questions 

Questions will be asked in the order in which notice of them was received, except that 

the Mayor may group together similar questions. 

8.3 Notice of questions 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by 

electronic mail to the Chief Executive no later than midday three clear working days 

before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the name and address of the 

questioner. 

8.4 Number of questions 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more than 

one such question may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 

8.5 Scope of questions 

The Chief Executive may reject a question if it: 

Page 47



 

 

 

8.5.1 is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which 

affects the Borough; 

8.5.2 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

8.5.3 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Council in the past six months; 

8.5.4 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

8.6 Record of questions 

Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and will be made available to 

the public attending the meeting. 

8.7 Asking the question at the meeting 

The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the Councillor named in the 

notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 

they may ask the Mayor to put the question on their behalf. The Mayor may ask the 

question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or 

decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with. 

8.8 Supplementary question 

There will be no right for a member of the public to put a supplementary question. 

8.9 Written answers 

Subject to the provisions of paragraph 8.7, any question which cannot be dealt with 

during public question time, either because of lack of time or because of the non-

attendance of the Councillor to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written 

answer. 

8.10 Reference of question to the Cabinet or a Committee 

No discussion will take place on any question, but any Councillor may move that a 

matter raised by a question be referred to the Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee. 

Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion 

9. Petitions from the Public 

9.1 Notice of Petition 

If a resident of the Borough or someone running a business in the Borough wishes to 

present a petition to a Council meeting, notice must be given at least seven clear 

working days before the meeting and the petition must have over 1,000 signatures (the 

signatories must either be resident of the Borough or someone running a business           in 

the Borough). Otherwise a petition must be presented through a Councillor. 

9.2 Presentation of Petitions 

9.2.1 The petition organiser, or Councillor, will be allowed to present the petition at 

the meeting. Only one person may speak to present a petition and any such 

Page 48



 

 

 

presentation shall be limited to those words heading the presentation. There 

will be no more than two petitions at any Council meeting. 

9.2.2 The Council will then debate the petition for a maximum of 15 minutes at 

the next Council meeting, unless the Mayor decides that urgent 

circumstances warrant an immediate debate. 

9.2.3 The Mayor will call upon the Portfolio Holder or the Chair of the Committee 

within whose remit the subject of the petition falls to make a proposal at the 

next meeting in respect of the petition. Such a  proposal shall be to: 

a) take the action the petition requests; 

b) not to take the action requested; 

c) or commission further investigation into the matter by the relevant 

Portfolio Holder or Committee; 

d) The proposal shall be put to the vote; 

e) The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision 

which will also be published on the Council’s website. 

9.3 Number of Petitions 

At any one meeting no person or organisation may present more than one petition. 

9.4 Scope of Petitions 

The Chief Executive may reject a petition if it: 

9.4.1 is vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate; 

9.4.2 relates to a planning decision; 

9.4.3 relates to a licensing decision; 

9.4.4 relates to any other matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of 

which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of 

appeal conferred by or under any enactment; 

9.4.5 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 

9.4.6 is outside of the Council’s scope of business or responsibility. 

10. Questions by Members and Ward Matters 

10.1 Questions on notice at full Council 

10.1.1 Subject to Rule 10.2, a Member of the Council may ask: 

a) the Mayor; 

b) the Leader; 

c) the Portfolio Holder or Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee. 

Page 49



 

 

 

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties 

or which affects the Borough or in the case of (c) falls within the terms of 

reference of the Cabinet or that Committee or Sub- Committee, but is not 

included within the decisions being considered at the meeting; 

10.1.2 The total time permitted for Members’ questions and Ward matters will be 1 

hour. 

10.1.3 There shall be no general debate on questions. 

10.2 Notice of questions 

A Member may ask a question under Rule 10.1 if: 

10.2.1 they have given notice of the question in writing or by electronic mail no later 

than midday three clear working days before the day of the meeting to the 

Chief Executive; or 

10.2.2 if the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Mayor 

or Member to whom the question is to be put and the content of the question 

is given to the Chief Executive by 12 noon on the day of the meeting; 

10.3 One question per Member 

A Member may ask only one question under Rule 10.1 except with the consent of the 

Mayor of the Council, or the Chair [or Vice Chair] of a Committee or Sub-Committee 

other than under Rule 10.7. 

10.4 Order of questions 

Questions of which notice has been given under Rule 10.1 will be put to the meeting in 

the order determined by the Mayor of the Council. 

10.5 Content of questions 

Questions under Rule 10.1 must, in the opinion of the Mayor relate                  to matters on which 

the Council has or may determine a policy. 

10.6 Response 

An answer may take the form of: 

10.6.1 a direct oral answer at the meeting; 

10.6.2 where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 

published work, a reference to that  publication; or 

10.6.3 where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written        answer shall be 

delivered within 10 clear working days. 

10.7 Supplementary question 

A Member asking a question under Rule 10.1 may ask one supplementary question 

without notice of the Member to whom the  first question was asked. The 

supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 

Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

10.8 Length of speeches 

A Member asking a question under Rule 10.1 and a Member answering such a 

question may speak for no longer than 5 minutes unless the Mayor consents to a 

longer period. 

10.9 Ward matters 

10.9.1 A Member may speak on Ward matters if either: 

(a) they have given notice in writing no later than midday three working 

days before the day of the meeting to the Chief Executive and or 

(b) the Ward matter relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the 

Mayor and the content of the Ward matter is given to the Chief 

Executive by 12 noon on the day of the meeting. 

10.9.2 A Member may make only one speech on Ward matters except with the 

consent of the Mayor of the Council. 

10.9.3 Speeches on Ward matters of which notice has been given under this Rule 

10.9 will be listed on the agenda in the order determined by the Mayor of the 

Council. 

10.9.4 There shall be no general debate on speeches on Ward matters. 

10.10 Length of speeches 

A Member speaking on Ward matters may speak for no longer  than 5 minutes 

and the total time allotted to Ward matters in any one meeting shall not exceed 30 

minutes unless the Mayor consents to a longer period. 

11. Motions on Notice 

11.1 Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 12, written notice of 

every motion, must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 12 noon seven 

clear working days before the Council meeting at which it is to be considered. Motions 

received will be recorded and open to public inspection. 

11.2 Motion set out in agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order 

determined by the Mayor. 

11.3 Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which 

affect the Borough. 

Page 51



 

 

 

11.4 One motion per Member 

No Member may give notice of more than one motion for any Council meeting, except 

with the consent of the Mayor. 

11.5 Time allowed for motions 

The time allowed for consideration of a motion submitted under Rule 11 shall not 

without the consent of the Mayor exceed 45 minutes, the mover of the motion shall 

not speak for longer than 10 minutes, the seconder of the motion shall not speak for 

longer than 5 minutes, subsequent to which the mover of the motion shall have no 

more 10 minutes to sum up.  At the expiry of 45 minutes (from the commencement of 

the Council’s consideration of a motion), the Mayor shall   put to the vote, without 

further discussion, all the questions necessary to dispose of the motion then under 

debate provided that: 

11.5.1 if the speech to be concluded is a speech proposing a motion, the Mayor shall 

allow the motion to be formally seconded (without comment); 

11.5.2 if the speech to be concluded is a speech moving an amendment to the 

motion, the Mayor shall allow the amendment to be formally seconded 

(without comment) and the mover of the motion to exercise their right of reply; 

and 

11.5.3 otherwise, the Mayor shall allow the mover of the motion to exercise their right 

of reply. 

Any remaining motions submitted under this Rule shall be deferred    to the next ordinary 

meeting of the Council and shall be dealt with at that meeting in the same order and 

before any other motions of which notice is given for that meeting. 

12. Motions without Notice 

12.1 The following motions may be moved without notice: 

12.1.1 to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

12.1.2 in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

12.1.3 to change the order of business in the agenda; 

12.1.4 to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

12.1.5 to appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the summons 

for the meeting; 

12.1.6  to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of the Cabinet, 

Committees or Officers and any resolutions following from them; 

12.1.7 to withdraw a motion; 

12.1.8 to amend a motion; 

12.1.9 to proceed to the next business; 

Page 52



 

 

 

12.1.10 that the question be now put to adjourn a debate; 

12.1.11 to adjourn a meeting; 

12.1.12 to end a meeting at a time stated in the motion; 

12.1.13 to suspend a particular Procedure Rules; 

12.1.14 to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules; 

12.1.15 to not hear further a Member named under Rule 19.3 or to exclude       them 

from the meeting under Rule 19.4; and 

12.1.16 to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this                     

Constitution. 

13. Rules of Debate 

13.1 No speeches until confirmation of seconder 

Before commencing their speech supporting their motion, the mover of a motion shall 

indicate to the Mayor, which Councillor is   to second the motion, and that Councillor 

will confirm this to the Mayor, following which the mover will commence their speech. If 

that Councillor does not confirm this, then the Mayor will ask if any other Councillor will 

second the motion. If a Councillor confirms this, then the mover can commence their 

speech. If not, the Mayor will rule that the motion fails. No speeches may be made until 

after   the motion has a confirmed seconder. 

13.2 Right to require motion in writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it to be 

written down and handed to them before it  is discussed. 

13.3 Seconder’s speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a Councillor may reserve their speech until 

later in the debate. 

13.4 Content and length of speeches 

13.4.1 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion         or to a personal 

explanation or point of order. 

13.4.2 A speech by the mover of a motion may not exceed 1 0    minutes without 

the consent of the Mayor. 

13.4.3 A speech by the seconder of a motion may not exceed 5 minutes without the 

consent of the Mayor. 

13.4.4 The time limit does not apply to speeches by officers in    presenting reports or 

advising the Council on any matter. 

13.4.5 Immediately following the seconder speaking on a motion or reserving their 

right to speak until later in the debate, the Mayor shall ask the Leader of the 

Page 53



 

 

 

main opposition group to speak on the motion, or nominate a Councillor to 

speak next on the motion. A speech under this section may not exceed 5 

minutes without the consent of the Mayor. 

13.4.6 Speeches by ordinary Members (where not stipulated at 11.5) shall not 

exceed 5 minutes, without the consent of the Mayor.  

 

13.5 When a Councillor may speak again 

A Councillor who has spoken on a motion may not speak again  whilst it is the 

subject of debate, except: 

13.5.1 to speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor; 

13.5.2 to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they last 

spoke; 

13.5.3 if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another Councillor, to 

speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they spoke 

was carried); 

13.5.4 in exercise of a right of reply; 

13.5.5 on a point of order; and 

13.5.6 by way of personal explanation. 

13.6 Amendments to motions 

13.6.1 An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 

(a) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual           for consideration 

or reconsideration; 

(b) to leave out words; 

(c) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 

(d) to insert or add words, 

(e) as long as the effect of (b) to (d) is not to negate the motion. 

13.6.2 Subject to Rule 13.6.6 below, only one amendment may be moved and 

discussed at any one time. No further amendment may be moved until the 

amendment under discussion has been disposed of. 

13.6.3 If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may 

be moved. 

13.6.4 If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes  the place of the 

original motion. This becomes the substantive motion upon which further 

speakers may be invited and to which any further amendments are moved. 

13.6.5 After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the amended 

motion before inviting any further speakers upon it as the substantive motion 

Page 54



 

 

 

or accepting any further amendments to it, or if there are none, and after the 

right to reply has been offered put it to the vote. 

13.6.6 The Mayor may determine on the presentation of a report and 

recommendation being proposed and seconded, that the motions and any 

subsequent amendments would be debated together. In this case, at the 

conclusion of the debate, the amendments will be voted on separately in the 

order in which  they were proposed. 

13.6.7 Before any speeches on an amendment that has been proposed, the Mayor 

shall ask the mover and seconder of the original motion or substantive 

motion whether they are prepared to accept the amendment. If they are, the 

amendment will be treated as an alteration under Procedure Rules 13.7. If 

they are not, then the amendment will be debated. 

13.7 Alteration of motion 

13.7.1 A Councillor may alter a motion of which they have given notice in 

accordance with Procedure Rules 11 with the consent of the meeting. The 

meeting’s consent may be signified without discussion. 

13.7.2 A Councillor may alter a motion which they have moved without notice with 

the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent 

may be signified without discussion. 

13.7.3 Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 

13.8 Withdrawal of motion 

A Councillor may withdraw a motion which they have submitted or moved with the 

consent of the seconder if the debate has begun. No Councillor may speak on the 

motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is 

refused. 

13.9 Rights of reply 

13.9.1 At close of a main motion (i.e. un-amended) debate: 

(a) the mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 

motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 

13.9.2 At close of an amendment debate: 

(a) the mover of the original motion has the right of reply at the close of the 

debate on the amendment, but may  not otherwise speak on it; 

(b) the mover of the amendment shall also have the right of reply at the 

close of the debate immediately prior to the closing speech by the 

mover of the original motion. 

13.9.3 At close of substantive motion (i.e. after an amendment to a main motion 

has been carried) debate: 

Page 55



 

 

 

(a) the mover of the successful amendment shall have a right of reply at the 

end of any debate on the substantive motion. 

13.10  Motions which may be moved during debate 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved    except the 

following procedural motions: 

13.10.1 to withdraw a motion; 

13.10.2 to amend a motion; 

13.10.3 to proceed to the next business; 

13.10.4 that the question be now put to the vote; 

13.10.5 to adjourn a debate; 

13.10.6 to adjourn a meeting; 

13.10.7 to extend the length of the meeting; 

13.10.8 to exclude the public and press in accordance with the  Access to Information 

Procedure Rule; and 

13.10.9 to not hear further a Councillor named under Rule 19.3 or to exclude them 

from the meeting under Rule 19.4. 

13.11 Closure motions 

13.11.1 A Councillor may move, without comment, the following motions at the end of 

a speech of another Councillor: 

(a) to proceed to the next business; 

(b) that the question be now put; 

(c) to adjourn a debate; or 

(d) to adjourn a meeting. 

13.11.2 If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor thinks the 

item has been sufficiently discussed, they will give the mover of the original 

motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

13.11.3 If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor thinks the 

item has been sufficiently discussed, they will put the procedural motion to 

the vote. If it is passed they will give the mover of the original motion a right of 

reply before putting his/her motion to the vote. 

13.11.4 If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and 

the Mayor thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot 

reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, they will give the mover of the 

original motion or an amendment, or a substantive motion (as the case 

may be) a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

13.12  Point of order 

A Councillor may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear them 

immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council 

Procedure Rules or the law. The Councillor must indicate the order or law and the way 

in which they consider it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be 

final. 

13.13  Personal explanation 

A Councillor may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation 

may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Councillor which may 

appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Mayor on 

the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

14. Previous Decisions and Motions 

14.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within 

the past 6 months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least 

10 Members or in the case   of a committee, 25% of the Committee’s membership 

14.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of 

Council in the past 6 months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or 

amendment is signed by at least 10 Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt 

with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for 6 months. 

15. Voting 

15.1 Majority 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple 

majority of those Members voting and present               in the room at the time the question was 

put. 

15.2 Mayor’s casting vote 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a second or 

casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Mayor chooses to exercise a 

casting vote. 

15.3 Method of voting 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 15.4 the Mayor will take the vote by 

show of hands or, if there is no dissent, by the               affirmation of the meeting. 

15.4 Recorded vote 

If 5 Members present at the meeting at any time request the names for and against the 

motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and 

Page 57



 

 

 

entered into the minutes. Unless in the case of Committees or Cabinet where a 

request by 2 Members present will be sufficient to require a recorded vote to be taken. 

15.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken,  their vote will be so 

recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or 

abstained from voting. 

15.6 Recorded votes at budget meetings 

A recorded vote is required when Members take formal decisions about expenditure 

on local services and Council tax levels for the year ahead. 

15.7 Voting on appointments 

If there are more than 2 people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not 

a clear majority of votes in favour of 1 person, then the name of the person with the 

least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will 

continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

16. Minutes 

16.1 Signing the minutes 

The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. The 

Mayor will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct 

record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

16.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at a n  extraordinary                       meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 

minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local 

Government Act 1972 (an extraordinary meeting), then the next following meeting 

(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a 

suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 relating to 

signing of minutes. 

16.3 Form of minutes 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the form and order the Mayor put 

them. 

17. Record of Attendance 

17.1 All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on 

the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to  assist with the record 

of attendance. 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

 

18. Exclusion of Public and Press 

18.1 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules in this Constitution or Rule 20 (Disturbance by 

Public). 

19. Members’ Conduct 

19.1 Speaking at meetings 

When a Member speaks at full Council they must address the meeting through the 

Mayor. If more than one Member signifies their intention to speak, the Mayor will ask 

one to speak. Other Members must remain silent whilst a Member is speaking unless 

they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. 

19.2 Mayor speaking 

When the Mayor speaks during a debate, any Member speaking at       the time must stop. 

19.3 Member not to be heard further 

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving improperly or 

offensively or deliberately obstructs  business, the Mayor may move that the Member 

be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without      discussion. 

19.4 Member to leave the meeting 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the 

Mayor may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is 

adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 

discussion. 

19.5 General disturbance 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business  impossible, the Mayor may 

adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 

20. Disturbance by the Public 

20.1 Removal of member of the public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the person 

concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor will order their removal from the 

meeting room.  

20.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the 

Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.  

21. Suspension and Amendment of Procedure Rules 

21.1 Suspension 

Page 59



 

 

 

The following Rules may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least 

one half of the whole number of Members of the Council are present: Rule 4.2, and 

Rules 8 to 14. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 

21.2 Amendment 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Procedure Rules will, when proposed and 

seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the 

Council. 

22. Application of these Rules Committees and Sub-committees 

22.1 All of these Rules apply to meetings of full Council. Only Rules 4 to 7,  and Rules 12 to 

21 apply to meetings of the Cabinet, Committees, Sub-Committees or Joint-

Committees (with ‘Mayor’ being read as ‘Chair’ and ‘Council meeting’ being read as 

the last meeting of the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee or Joint Committee). 

The application of these Rules to meetings of a Committee and Sub-Committees is 

subject to any additional rules which may also apply to a specific Committee or Sub-

Committee.  

23. Appointment of Substitute Members on Council Bodies 

23.1 These substitution Rules shall not apply to meetings of the Cabinet or Committees of 

the Cabinet, or non-quasi-judicial or non-regulatory bodies. 

23.2 Subject to any other restrictions provided elsewhere in this Constitution or under the 

law, any Member of the Council will be permitted to act as a substitute on a Committee 

or Sub-Committee of the Council, subject to their having completed any training 

required for Members of the Committee or Sub-Committee to which they are 

substituted.  

23.3 A Member of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council may appoint a substitute 

Member, subject to Rule 23.  The appointing Member shall notify Democratic Services 

of the substitution. 

23.4 In order to be eligible to sit as substitutes on regulatory or quasi-judicial     Committees, 

Sub- Committees or panels established by the Council, Members must have received 

formal training in relevant procedures and the law. 

23.5 Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary Member of the 

committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by 

the person they are substituting. 

23.6 Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 

23.6.1 to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are designated 

substitute; 

23.6.2 where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; 

Page 60



 

 

 

23.6.3 if there are named substitutes, then the substitute must be a named 

substitute; 

23.6.4 The relevant Committee or Sub- Committee of the Council must be notified of 

the substitute prior to the commencement of the meeting of the relevant 

Committee or Sub- Committee of the Council. 

24. Emergency Powers 

24.1 In consultation with the Leader of the Council and where possible the Leader of the 

opposition, the Chief Executive has the power to authorise the taking or carrying out 

of action, notwithstanding anything in the Council’s Procedure Rules, Financial 

Regulations all other delegations, where they consider that circumstances exist that 

make it expedient or necessary for action to be taken prior to the time when such 

action could be approved through the normal Council procedures. A   report on such 

action, and the circumstances justifying the exercise of the delegated powers, shall 

be made to the next meeting of the Council as appropriate. 

25. Election of Members and Resignation of Offices by Members 

25.1 The regular election of Members will be held on the first Thursday in May every four 

years. The terms of office of Members will start on the fourth day after being elected 

and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election. 

25.2 For the purpose of clarity, if the Mayor, or the Deputy Mayor, wish to resign their 

offices (under sub-sections (2) of sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972 

respectively) and continue as ordinary Members of the Council, they shall do so in 

writing, and such resignation shall be delivered to the Chief Executive and shall be 

accepted by the Council as operative from the moment when it was    delivered to 

the Chief Executive. 

25.3 If the Leader of the Council, the Deputy Leader of the Council, the Leader or Deputy 

Leader of any political group or the Chair or Vice-Chair of a Committee wishes to 

resign their office they should do so in writing in accordance with Rule 25.2 above and 

at the same time, as applicable, shall deliver written communication of their resignation 

to the Leader and the Cabinet,  procedure rule  The Deputy Leader of the Council 

shall, at the same time as delivering to      the Chief Executive a written communication 

as to their resignation, deliver a communication in similar terms to the Leader of the 

Council. 

25.4 The resignation of the Chair or Vice-Chair of a Committee shall be reported to the next 

meeting of the Council and / or the Committee concerned and successors shall be 

appointed by the Council. 

26. Filming, Videoing, Streaming, Photography and Audio Recording 

26.1 The filming, streaming and recording of public meetings of the Council is allowed, 

however it is required to be in accordance with the Openness of Local Government 

Page 61



 

 

 

Bodies Regulations 2014. This does not permit any person to provide an on-going 

audio commentary while the meeting is on-going. The Council Procedure Rules in 

relation to disrupting a meeting apply and in particular there should be no flash 

photography, requests made during the meeting that people speak up for the purposes 

of the recording, requests for comments previously made to be repeated for the 

purposes of the recording; this list is non-exclusive and in addition to the other 

provisions in relation to the disrupting of meetings and in no way fetters the Mayor’s 

discretion to determine if behaviour is disrupting a meeting of the Authority. 

Page 62



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxtowe Borough 
Council Constitution 

Chapter 2 – Part 3 

The Executive (Cabinet) 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Chapter 2 Part 3: THE EXECUTIVE (CABINET) 

3.1  Rules 

3.1.1 The following Rules apply to the Cabinet, a Committee, Sub-Committee or 

Joint Committee of the Cabinet:- 

i. Council Procedure Rules 4 to 7 and Rules 12 to 21 

ii. The Cabinet Procedure Rules  

iii. The Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

 

3.2 The Leader  

3.2.1  The Leader is elected by full Council and holds office for a period of four years 

from the date of their election at the Annual Meeting of the Council or earlier if 

they: 

i. Resign from the office of Leader; or 

ii. Are no longer a Councillor; or 

iii. Are removed from office by a resolution of the Council. 

3.2.2 The Deputy Leader will assume responsibility of the Leader where there is a 

vacancy until the next Council Meeting, where the Council will elect a Leader. 

3.2.3 Where both the Leader and Deputy Leader cease to hold office at the same 

time, the Council’s Mayor shall call a meeting of Council as soon as possible 

to elect a new Leader. 

 

3.3 Functions and Responsibilities  

3.3.1 The Leader is responsible together with the rest of the Executive for those 

functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, 

whether by law or under this Constitution. 

3.3.2  Only the Leader will exercise the following functions - 

i. Appointment of the Deputy Leader; 

ii. Appointment of the Cabinet;  

iii. Allocation of portfolio responsibilities;  

Page 65



 

iv. Producing and maintaining the Scheme of Delegation set out in Chapter 

3 Part 1 detailing who will discharge functions; 

v. To provide leadership to the Cabinet and chair Cabinet meetings; 

vi. To ensure that Cabinet Members work collaboratively with the Council’s 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to support the Council’s Scrutiny 

function and to carefully consider the recommendations of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee in the formulation and development of the 

Council policy; 

vii. To ensure that Members of Cabinet abide by the Codes and Protocols 

set out in the Constitution; 

viii. To ensure Members of the Cabinet receive information, training and 

regular updates, to take account of changes in the law, policy and 

procedure and to encourage development and continuous improvement; 

ix. The Leader will provide strategic leadership to the Council to implement 

Council’s policy and budget decisions; 

x. To ensure effective arrangements for consultation and community 

planning and to lead in developing the Council’s partnerships with other 

organisations; 

xi. To ensure effective communication and explanation of all 

Executive/Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council; 

xii. To ensure that the decisions of Cabinet are made within the budgetary 

framework and financial limits set by the Council; 

xiii. To ensure the preparation and publication of a forward plan, in line with 

statutory requirements, which sets out the details of any matters which 

they consider are likely to be the subject of a Key Decision; 

xiv. To be the main Member representative of the Council, with other 

Portfolio Holders in dealing with the community, business, voluntary 

sector and other local and national organisations, other than in respect 

of ceremonial events; 

xv. To ensure effective liaison with other political groups within the Council; 

xvi. To represent the Council on relevant outside organisations, regional and 

national bodies, partnerships and working groups and to pursue matters 

of interest to the Council and its communities; 

Page 66



 

xvii. To work with Portfolio Holders to consider and agree actions to ensure 

effective delivery of services within their portfolios against the agreed 

policies of the Council, and to ensure the delivery of the Cabinet’s 

responsibilities and the delivery of objectives as outlined in the 

Corporate Plan; 

xviii. To be responsible for their own personal development and undergo 

appropriate development and continuous improvement; 

xix. To provide mentoring and support to Cabinet Members; 

xx. To represent the Council at Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire Leader 

meetings concerning devolution. 

 

3.4 The Deputy Leader 

3.4.1 The Deputy Leader will be a Councillor appointment to the position by the 

Leader. 

3.4.2 If for any reason the Leader is unable to act, or the office of the Leader is 

vacant, the Deputy Leader must act and exercise all functions reserved to the 

Leader in their absence.  

3.4.3 If for any reason the Leader and Deputy Leader are unable to act, or their 

offices are vacant, the remaining Cabinet Members may act collectively or 

appoint an interim Leader until the next Council meeting where a new Leader 

will be elected.  

 

3.5 The Cabinet 

3.5.1 The Cabinet comprises the Leader, the Deputy Leader and up to eight other 

Councillors (Cabinet Members) appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. 

3.5.2. The Leader appoints the Deputy Leader and also six Cabinet Members as 

Portfolio Holders who have full voting rights on the Cabinet’s business. The 

remaining two Cabinet Members are ‘without portfolio’ but have voting rights 

on the Cabinet’s business.   

 

3.6 Functions & Responsibilities 

Page 67



 

3.6.1 The Cabinet discharges those functions of a local authority specified in local 

government legislation as the Executive functions of an authority to be 

exercised by its Executive or Cabinet; including functions that may be (but 

need not be) the responsibility of an Executive or Cabinet referred to in 

Schedule 2 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2007.  No functions of the Cabinet (other than those required 

under the law to be exercised by the Leader) shall be exercised other than by 

way of a meeting of the Cabinet unless an express delegation is in place. 

3.6.2 The Cabinet determines those matters within the Terms of Reference of the 

Cabinet Portfolios set out below on the basis of collective decision-making.  

Individual Portfolio Holders do not have delegated authority to determine 

matters within their remit. 

 

3.7 Functions Reserved to the Cabinet 

The following functions are reserved to the Cabinet:- 

3.7.1 To determine responses on behalf of the Council within the remit of the 

Portfolios to any government, local authority or other consultation and the 

launch of consultation exercises on behalf of the Council, except for day-to-

day technical and operational consultations which amount to Administrative 

Decisions made by Officers. 

3.7.2 To consider establishment changes referred for decision outside delegated 

authority.  

 

3.8 The Portfolios 

 The Cabinet Portfolios are:- 

3.8.1 Resources and Personnel Policy 

3.8.2 Economic Development & Asset Management 

3.8.3 Housing 

3.8.4 Leisure & Health 

3.8.5 Environment & Climate Change 

3.8.6 Community Safety 

 

Page 68



 

3.9 The Portfolio General Terms of Reference 

 Matters within the General Terms of Reference of the Portfolios and the specific 

Terms of Reference of each Portfolio are determined by the Cabinet collectively. 

Portfolio Holders are not delegated authority to determine any matter within the remit 

of their Portfolio. The general Terms of Reference for each Portfolio are:- 

3.9.1 To provide strategic direction to any delivery body established by the Council;  

3.9.2 To keep the policies of their portfolio under review;  

3.9.3 To consider and recommend the letting of contracts to third parties where the 

value of the contract exceeds delegation limits as set out in procurement 

Procedure Rules. (where within Budget); 

3.9.4 To identify and recommend opportunities for future income generation and 

cost savings; 

3.9.5 To examine further procurement and collaborative working opportunities with 

the private sector and other local authorities; 

3.9.6 To recommend responses on behalf of the Council to any government, local 

authority or other consultation; 

3.9.7 To consider and recommend ways of achieving reductions in ongoing 

financial commitments through a review of essential and desired services and 

service levels. 

 

3.10 Resources & Personnel Policy Portfolio 

The Resources and Personnel Policy Portfolio specific Terms of Reference are:- 

3.10.1 To keep the Council’s resources under review. 

3.10.2 To consider and recommend to the Council the level of Council house rents, 

service charges and the level of Council tax. 

3.10.3 To consider and recommend to the Council the overall capital programme and 

revenue budget. 

3.10.4 To consider and recommend requests for supplementary capital and revenue 

estimate. 

3.10.5 To consider and recommend write off debts in excess of the current limit for 

delegation contained within Financial Regulations. 

Page 69



 

3.10.6  To consider and recommend loan repayment postponements. 

3.10.7 To consider and recommend the use of the Insurance Fund. 

3.10.8 To consider and recommend the appointment of the Council's bankers. 

3.10.9 To consider and recommend virement between budget heads above any 

limits prescribed in Financial Regulations. 

3.10.10 To consider and recommend the letting of contracts to third parties where the 

value of the contract exceeds delegation limits as set out in procurement 

Procedure Rules. 

3.10.11 To consider and recommend the means to attract external sources of funding 

into the Borough across the whole range of the Council's services and 

Statutory functions. 

3.10.12 To consider in detail those areas of the revenue budgets affecting the General 

Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which are judged to be of the 

highest risk and monitor the position of the Council in relation to those areas. 

3.10.13 To examine in detail the proposals for budgetary control and consider such 

plans as are deemed to be required to bring about necessary controls, 

especially on the effects on employees and services. 

3.10.14 To receive at regular intervals information as to revenue and capital budgetary 

monitoring. 

3.10.15 To receive and recommend responses to updates on government and 

external funding issues which have a direct effect on the budgetary position. 

3.10.16. To receive regular updates on welfare benefit reforms and the effects on 

Council tenants and Council tax payers. 

3.10.17 To monitor the effects of the countywide business rates pooling arrangement 

on the finances of the Council. 

3.10.18 To review the People Strategy and any other policy or strategy concerning 

human resources. 

3.10.19 To consider and identify issues relating to the Council’s establishment 

structure and employees, including significant changes to local terms and 

conditions and the discretionary elements of both national and local conditions 

of service. 

3.10.20 Consideration of the draft Pay Policy before submission to Council. 

Page 70



 

3.10.21 To receive reports on post-entry training and development for employees 

including apprenticeships and Members and to consider and recommend the 

Training and Development Policy. 

3.10.22 Consider and recommend the Job Evaluation Scheme and pay structure 

arising from it, to Council, as appropriate. 

3.10.23 To receive recommendations from the Local Joint Consultative Committee. 

3.10.24 To consider functions conferred on the Council by part 4 of the Local 

Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 in respect of the 

receipt of petitions and the institution, conduct and determination of a 

Community Governance review.  

3.10.25 To consider the Health and Safety at Work Policy.   

3.10.26 To develop, any other policy (other than those policy documents reserved to 

the full Council) within the remit of the Portfolio and without prejudice to the 

generality of the foregoing to develop. 

3.10.27 To consider and develop the Emergency Plan. 

3.10.28 To consider and recommend the Information Technology Strategy. 

3.10.29 To consider and recommend the Asset Management Strategy. 

3.10.30 To consider and recommend the Council’s Equality and Diversity Strategy and 

action plan and monitor the implementation of it. 

3.10.31  To consider and recommend the Capital Strategy. 

3.10.32  To consider and recommend the Sustainable Communities Strategy. 

3.10.33 To consider and recommend other such policies and strategies as Council 

may from time to time decide should be adopted. 

3.10.34 To consider and monitor progress on the Corporate Plan. 

3.10.35 To consider and recommend in relation to the exercise of the Council’s 

shareholder / Member function in respect of its wholly or partly owned 

companies. 

 

3.11 Economic Development & Asset Management Portfolio 

The Economic Development & Asset Management Portfolio specific Terms of 
Reference are:- 

Page 71



 

3.11.1 To monitor progress on economic development, regeneration and levelling up 

strategies 

3.11.2 To monitor the impact of significant external projects on the Council’s 

services. 

3.11.3 To develop, any other policy (other than those policy documents reserved to 

the full Council) within the remit of the portfolio and without prejudice to the 

generality of the foregoing to develop.  

3.11.4 In association with the Planning Committee to propose matters of planning 

policy to the Council in accordance with Part II of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

3.11.5 To consider and recommend authorisation of the supplementary planning 

documents, development briefs and other documents under the local 

development scheme. 

3.11.6 To consider and recommend the means to attract external sources of funding 

into the Borough across the whole range of the Council's services and 

Statutory functions. 

3.11.7 To consider all matters relating to the Strategic Location for Growth and the 

wider area including the boundaries of the site, the retention of open space, 

the promotion of employment, integration with the proposed and existing 

infrastructure including road improvements, the tram and rail links and the 

suitable mix of development within the site. 

3.11.8 To consider and make recommendations to acquire, appropriate and dispose 

of land or property and of interests in or over land. 

3.11.9 To consider and make recommendations to let, negotiate and settle leases 

and rents for Council owned land or property. (excluding Council Houses). 

3.11.10 To consider and make recommendations to the policies with regards to the 

Council’s land, buildings and assets. 

3.11.11 To consider and recommend investment in, improvement of and carbon 

reduction of the Council’s housing stock. 

3.11.12 To consider and recommend housing building schemes. 

3.11.13 To consider and recommend the making of compulsory purchase orders and 

carry out all procedures. 

3.11.14 To consider and recommend the making of conservation areas.   

Page 72



 

3.11.15  To consider and recommend supplementary planning documents, 

development briefs and other documents under the local development 

scheme.  

3.11.16  To consider and recommend directions under Article 4 Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) order 1995.  

3.11.17 The portfolio shall lead on plans for strategic development, economic 

development, levelling up and regeneration throughout the area.  

3.11.18 To consider and recommend policies for Car Parking. 

3.11.19 To consider and recommend in relation to the exercise of the Council’s 

shareholder / Member function in respect of its wholly or partly owned 

companies. 

3.11.20 To consider and recommend the Asset Management Strategy. 

3.11.21 To consider and make recommendations in relation to Towns Fund Boards 

3.11.22 To consider and make recommendations in relation to Levelling Up Funding 

(e.g. UK Shared Prosperity Fund) 

3.12 Housing Portfolio 

 The Housing Portfolio specific Terms of Reference are:- 

3.12.1 To consider and recommend the Council policy relating to sales of Council 

houses. 

3.12.2 To consider and recommend Council policy relating to council house rent 

collection. 

3.12.3 To consider and recommend the policy to apply to the provision of funds for 

aids and adaptations to Council properties. 

3.12.4 To consider and recommend housing buy backs. 

3.12.5 To identify surplus housing assets or redevelopment potential within the 

housing stock. 

3.12.6 To develop and recommend any other policy (other than those policy 

documents reserved to the full Council) within the remit of the portfolio and 

without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing to develop. 

3.12.7 To consider and recommend the Homelessness Strategy. 

Page 73



 

3.12.8 To consider and recommend policies for the management of all buildings and 

lands held for housing purposes. 

3.12.9 To consider and recommend the policy for allocating Council housing stock. 

3.12.10 Any other such policies and strategies as Cabinet may from time to time 

decide should be developed. 

3.12.11 To recommend the provision of assistance to Housing Associations, privately 

let housing accommodation, and payments to enable people to access such 

accommodation as the law may enable. 

3.12.12  To recommend the declaration of renewal areas, criteria for discretionary 

housing facilities grants and provision of other grants as the law may permit 

from time to time. 

3.12.13 To consider and recommend applications for aids and adaptations to 

Council housing above £30,000. 

 

 
3.13 Leisure & Health Portfolio 

 The Leisure & Health Portfolio specific Terms of Reference are:- 

3.13.1 To consider and recommend policies to promote health, artistic, sporting and 

cultural activities within the Borough. 

3.13.2 To develop, any other policy (other than those policy documents reserved to 

the full Council) within the remit of the portfolio and without prejudice to the 

generality of the foregoing to develop.  

3.13.3 To consider and recommend policies for the management of all buildings and 

lands held for leisure purposes including leisure centres and museums. 

3.13.4 To consider and recommend the arts and events and leisure strategies. 

3.13.5 To consider and recommend the policy for events taking place in parks, open 

spaces and recreation grounds owned or managed by the Council. 

3.13.6 Review and monitor the Council’s arrangements that each Council service 

area has in place to respond to individuals, who may have mental health 

issues and need to access Council Services.  

3.13.7 To consider and recommend twinning and friendship activities.  

Page 74



 

3.13.8 To consider and recommend events taking place in parks, open spaces and 

recreation  grounds owned or managed by the Council. 

3.13.9 Recommend such policies and action plans as are necessary to promote the 

physical and mental health of the population of Broxtowe. 

3.13.10 Work in partnership with partner organisations and partnership structures 

including Nottinghamshire County Council Public Health department; 

integrated care systems such as the local Place based partnership and local 

primary care networks as well as the organisations represented within the 

Broxtowe partnership, to promote the health of the local population. 

3.13.11 Develop and recommend plans and policies to prevent ill health occurring and 

promote the wider determinants of health. 

3.13.12 Work to promote physical activity across Broxtowe. 

3.13.13 Come forward with proposals to reduce loneliness and isolation, and promote 

social cohesion across Broxtowe. 

3.13.14 Develop and work to implement plans to enable people to live well with 

dementia in Broxtowe. 

3.13.15 Work to develop action and plans to reduce health inequalities. 

3.3.16 To consider and recommend the letting of contracts to third parties where the 

value of the contract exceeds delegation limits as set out in procurement 

procedure rules (where within budget). 

 

3.14 Environment & Climate Change Portfolio 

The Environment & Climate Portfolio Specific Terms of Reference are: - 

3.14.1 To develop, any policy (other than those policy documents reserved to the full 

Council) within the remit of the portfolio and without prejudice to the generality 

of the foregoing to develop - 

3.14.2 To consider and recommend management and recycling arrangements and 

policies. 

3.14.3 To consider and recommend policies in respect of street cleansing and the 

removal of litter. 

3.14.4 To consider and recommend policies regarding energy. 

3.14.5 To consider and recommend policies regarding air quality. 

Page 75



 

3.14.6 To consider and recommend policies for allotments and cemeteries. 

3.14.7 To consider and recommend the Energy Conservation Strategy. 

3.14.8 To consider and recommend the Waste Management Strategy. 

3.14.9 To consider and recommend policies in respect of stray dogs. 

3.14.10 To consider and recommend Contaminated Land Strategy. 

3.14.11 To consider and recommend applications for and amendments to waste 

transfer stations. 

3.14.12 To lead on the development and implementation of the Climate Change Plan 

for Broxtowe Borough Council.  

3.14.13 To take the climate change agenda forward and ensure that all departments 

are engaged in this process.  

3.14.14 To lead on development and implementation of the Travel Plan. 

3.14.15 To feed into the Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire Local Authority Energy 

Partnership, Nottinghamshire Climate Change Partnership and Broxtowe 

Borough Partnership. 

3.14.16 To work in partnership with service providers to identify opportunities for the 

delivery of services, avoid duplication and maximise resources. 

3.14.17 To keep under review the functions under the Environmental Protection Act 

1990. 

3.14.18 To consider and recommend all issues relating to environmental 

improvements. 

 

3.15 Community Safety Portfolio 

The Community Safety Portfolio specific Terms of Reference are:- 

3.15.1 To develop, any other policy (other than those policy documents reserved to 

the full Council) within the remit of the portfolio and without prejudice to the 

generality of the foregoing to develop. 

3.15.2 To consider and recommend policies regarding transport, including the 

powers contained in the LG(MP)A 1978 in relation to hackney carriage and 

private hire licensing vehicles, but save those other functions in respect of 

Page 76



 

hackney carriage and private hire vehicles delegated to the Licensing and 

Appeals Committee. 

 3.15.3 To consider and recommend Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy and action plan; 

3.15.4 To consider and recommend community safety policies as may be needed 

from time to time to ensure the safety of the population. 

3.15.5 To consider, recommend and monitor the implementation of safeguarding and 

violence, serious violence and domestic violence policies and sanctuary 

scheme. 

3.15.6 To consider and recommend the adoption of Local Strategic Partnership 

strategies and policies. 

3.15.7 To consider and recommend Public protection strategies. 

3.15.8 To consider and recommend the adoption of strategies and policies arising 

from the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 including public 

space protection orders and fixed penalty notices and powers introduced by 

any subsequent legislation which offers tools and measures to regulate 

undesirable activity and behaviour. 

3.15.9 To consider and recommend the adoption of Policies under the Scrap Metal 

Dealers Act 2013. 

3.15.10  To consider and recommend enforcement under the Sunday Trading Act 

1994. 

3.15.11 To receive reports in relation to Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Panel. 

3.15.12 To consider and recommend applications for vehicle operator’s licences 

required for the Council’s business. 

3.15.13 To consider and recommend authorising objections to vehicle operator licence 

applications made by third parties. 

 

3.16 The Policy Advisory Committee 

3.16.1 The Leader has established the Policy Advisory Committee, as a Committee 

of the Cabinet. The Policy Advisory Committee supports and assists the 

Cabinet in the development of policies and strategies including resources and 

personnel policy, economic development and asset management, housing, 

leisure and health, environment and climate change and community safety.  

Page 77



 

3.16.2 The Policy Advisory Committee may make recommendations to the Cabinet 

but has no decision-making powers. 

 

3.17 Other Committees 

3.17.1 The Leader may establish such other Cabinet Committees as may be 

required from time to time, the terms of reference and membership of which 

shall be determined by the Leader. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxtowe Borough 
Council Constitution 

Chapter 2 – Part 8-17 

Committee Arrangements 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 

8. Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 

Rules 

The following Rules apply to this Committee:- 

 Council Procedure Rules 4 – 7 and 12 – 21. 

 The Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Yes 

Appointments / Removals Council 

Restrictions on Membership  The Leader, Deputy Leader and 

Cabinet Members may not serve on 

this Committee. 

 Members of this Committee must 

have completed training for the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

 Membership of the Advisory 

Shareholder Sub-Committee should 

exclude Board Members of Liberty 

Leisure  

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair As above 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up 

to be no less than 3 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per Council 

Year 

Not less than 4  

Sub-Committee  

 Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 

(3 Members; Quorum of 2 

Members) 

 

 The Committee may appoint Sub-

Committees to which it can delegate 

elements of its work, or which it can 

ask to advise on certain matters. 

 The Committee shall appoint as 

required as:- 

Page 81



 

 

 Advisory Shareholder Sub 

Committee 

(5 Members; Quorum of 3 

Members) 

o Standards Hearing Sub-

Committee 

o Advisory Shareholder Sub 

Committee 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

1. To determine responses on behalf of the Council to any government, local authority 

or other consultation on matters within the remit of the Committee. 

2. The functions conferred in relation to Member standards of conduct by the Local 

Government Act 2000, the Localism Act 2011 and associated legislation. 

3. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing: 

3.1 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct for all Members and 

Officers; 

3.2 preparing for adoption or revision by the Council policies and Codes of 

Conduct for Members, Co-opted Members and Officers; 

3.3 monitoring the operation of the Codes of Conduct; 

3.4 granting dispensations to Members (including co-opted Members) from 

requirements relating to interests set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct 

unless otherwise determined by the Monitoring Officer; 

3.5 advising and ensuring training for Members, Co-opted Members and Officers 

on matters relating to conduct; 

3.6 considering, determining and dealing with matters referred by the Monitoring 

Officer; 

3.7 considering, determining and dealing with matters referred by the Chief 

Executive or Monitoring Officer under the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy; 

3.8 monitoring the complaints made against the Council including those made via 

the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman; 

3.9 making recommendations to Council and for The Leader or Group Leaders in 

relation to conduct and standards matters; 

3.10 undertaking functions in relation to Member standards of conduct in respect of 

Parish Councils / Town Councils within the Council’s area; 

Page 82



 

3.11  Overview of the Council’s Constitution and consideration of proposed 

amendments or revisions to the Constitution including the Schemes of 

Delegation, Procedure Rules and Protocols; 

3.12 recommend to the Council amendments to this Constitution. 

4. The Committee will: 

4.1 oversee the arrangements for the maintenance of the Council’s internal 

control environment; 

4.2 monitor the operation of this Constitution and recommend amendments to it 

for the approval of the Council; 

4.3 monitor and make recommendations regarding the Council’s corporate 

governance arrangements including the appointment of the external auditor; 

4.4 consider ways of achieving reductions in ongoing financial commitments 

through a review of essential and desirable services and service levels; 

4.5 identify opportunities for future income generation and cost savings; 

4.6 examine further procurement and collaborative working opportunities with the 

private sector and other local authorities. 

5. Consider the Council’s published financial accounts and associated documents, 

including the Annual Governance Statement, and give approval to them when 

satisfied. 

6. Review the work of the internal audit section including the approval of an audit 

strategy and annual audit plans. 

7. Consider significant issues arising from internal audit reviews, make 

recommendations accordingly and monitor management’s response. 

8. Receive reports from the Council’s external auditors, the Council’s internal auditor 

and from any inspection agencies and monitor action in response to any issues 

raised. 

9. Oversee the effectiveness of the Council’s risk management procedures, the control 

environment and associated fraud and anti-corruption arrangements including the 

approval of amendments to the strategic risk register and associated action plans. 

10. Monitor and review the Council’s business continuity arrangements. 

11. The power to make payments or provide other benefits in cases of maladministration 

(section 92 Local Government Act 2000). 

Page 83



 

12. To receive reports directly from the Chief Audit and Control Officer as and when 

he/she thinks fit. 

13. To receive reports directly from the Council’s external auditors as and when 

appropriate. 

14. The Committee may appoint Sub-Committees/panels comprising a proportionate 

combination of three Members of the main Committee. 

15. Consider in detail polling district boundaries for the Borough Council’s administrative 

area and any necessary changes to ensure that:- 

15.1 electors have such reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the 

circumstances; 

15.2 as far as is reasonable and practicable, that polling places are accessible to 

all electors, including those who are disabled, and when designating a polling 

place, have regard to the accessibility needs of disabled persons. 

16. Consider polling places for the Borough Council’s administrative area. 

17. Consider the warding arrangements for Broxtowe to ensure electoral equality in all 

areas. 

18. Consider the boundaries of Parish Councils in the Borough and warding 

arrangements in those areas, if appropriate. 

19. Consider the names of Borough Council and Parish Council Wards. 

 

Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 

1. Number of Members: 3 (politically proportionate). 

2. To carry out hearings into complaints and if appropriate make recommendations to 

full Council or to the Leader or Group Leaders as to action or sanctions under the 

Code of Conduct for Members in accordance with the Councils arrangements and 

any other matters as delegated by the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee. 

3 Meetings / hearings to be called by the Monitoring Officer as necessary to deal with 

complaints under the Code of Conduct for Members.  

4. Members of the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee shall undertake training on the 

Code of Conduct for Members.  

Advisory Shareholder Sub-Committee 

Page 84



 

1. Number of Members: 5 (politically proportionate) 

2. The Advisory Shareholder Sub-Committee may co-opt and / or otherwise engage the 

services of such external consultants and advisors as may be required from time to 

time, including but not limited to, auditors.  

3. Meetings shall be held as necessary and not less than once each year. The quorum 

for meetings is 3 

4. The Advisory Shareholder Sub-Committee acts in an advisory capacity and is not a 

decision-making body. 

5. The Advisory Shareholder Sub-Committee shall assist, support and advise the 

Portfolio Holder for Resources and Personnel Policy and the Cabinet in its exercise 

of the Council’s function as the shareholder of the Council’s companies.  

6. Without prejudice to the generality of clause 5 above, the Advisory Shareholder Sub-

Committee shall consider the business plans and financial performance of the 

Council’s companies in respect of which it may advise and make recommendations 

to the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Personnel Policy and the Cabinet in 

respect of its exercise of the shareholder function.  

Delegations 

The Governance, Audit & Standards Committee may delegate matters falling within its remit 

as permissible under the law unless otherwise delegated or reserved under this Constitution. 

 

 

9. Licensing and Appeals Committee 

Rules 

The following Rules apply to this Committee:- 

 Council Procedure Rules 4 – 7 and 12 – 21. 

 The Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 Council’s Hearing Procedure Rules. 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Substitute Members Permitted No 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Yes 

Page 85



 

Appointments / Removals Council 

Restrictions on Membership  Members of the Licensing & Appeals 

Committee must complete training prior 

to attending a meeting of the 

Committee.  

 Members of the Discretionary Panel 

must complete training on the 

discretionary Housing Payment Scheme 

prior to attending meetings of the Panel. 

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair As above 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up 

to be no less than 3 

DHP - One quarter (1/4) of Members 

rounded up to be no less than 2 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per Council 

Year 

Not less than 4  

DHP – As required 

Sub-Committee 

 Licensing Appeal Panel 

 Alcohol and Entertainments 

Licensing Panel 

 Discretionary Housing Payments 

Panel 

The Committee shall convene a Licensing 

Appeal Panel and a Alcohol & 

Entertainments Licensing Panel as 

required. 

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

1. To determine responses on behalf of the Council to any government, local authority 

or other consultation on matters within the remit of the Committee. 

2. All the functions of the licensing authority capable of being performed by a licensing 

committee established under section 6 Licensing Act 2003; section 154 Gambling Act 

2005, including (for the avoidance of doubt) the powers in section 212 Gambling Act 

2005 (setting of fees), but (for the avoidance of doubt) not the powers contained in 

Page 86



 

the LG(MP)A 1978 in relation to hackney carriage and private hire licensing vehicles 

which is for the consideration of the Cabinet. 

3. The Committee may appoint a Licensing Appeal Panel (sub-committee) comprising 

of a politically proportionate combination of three or five Members of the main 

Committee. 

4. A Licensing Appeal Panel is delegated all the functions capable of being exercised 

by the Committee. 

Licensing Appeal Panel / Alcohol and Entertainments Appeal Panel 

1. The functions of the Council relating to licensing and registration and the consideration 

and determination of appeals against the Council's decision across the full range of the 

Council's functions not otherwise provided for including hazardous substances consent, 

intentional homelessness, arrangements for Joint Negotiating Committee appeals, 

grievance and disciplinary appeals, including all those functions conferred on the 

Council or on a licensing committee by the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 

2005.   

2. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing the consideration and determination 

of applications for licences permits and registration not otherwise delegated. 

3. The enforcement of the functions of the Committee and the making and reviewing of 

policies concerning those functions, save for policies reserved for approval by full 

Council. 

4. To make determinations in respect of the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. 

5. To consider applications for Discretionary Housing Payments in accordance with the 

Councils policy. Meetings to be called by the Monitoring Officer as necessary to deal 

with applications. 

Delegations 

The Licensing and Appeals Committee may delegate matters falling within its remit as 

permissible under the law unless otherwise delegated or reserved under this Constitution. 

 

10. Planning Committee 

Rules 

The following Rules apply to this Committee:- 

 Council Procedure Rules 4 – 7 and 12 – 21. 

Page 87



 

 The Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

 Probity in Planning:  Code of Good Practice for the Planning Service. 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Yes 

Appointments / Removals Council 

Restrictions on Membership  Members of the Planning Committee 

(including substitutes) must complete 

training prior to attending meetings of 

the Planning Committee 

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair As above 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up 

to be no less than 3 

 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per Council 

Year 

Not less than 11 

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

1. The functions of the Council relating to town and country planning and development 

control other than where they are required to be exercised by full Council. 

2. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the functions of the Council in the 

areas at 3 – 18 below. 

3. In association with the Cabinet to propose matters of planning policy to the Council in 

accordance with Part II of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.   

4. The determination of applications for planning permission listed building and 

conservation area consent, consent for the display of advertisements and all matters 

capable of being dealt with by a regulatory Committee for development control and 

building control. 

5. The power to enter into agreements regulating the development and use of land 

including s106 Agreements. 

6. The power to grant conservation area consent and hazardous substances consent. 

Page 88



 

7. The power to require the discontinuance of a use of land. 

8. The power to serve a completion notice under Section 94(2) Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

9. The Council's powers in respect of tree preservation. 

10. The Council's development control and building control enforcement powers. 

11. The power to create, stop up and divert footpaths and bridleways. 

12. The functions detailed in Schedules 1 and 2 to The Local Authorities (Functions and 

Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 in respect of: 

12.1 town and country planning and development control; 

12.2 footpaths and bridleways and other public rights of way; 

12.3 trees and hedgerows. 

13. The functions of the Council under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

and in particular the functions relating to local development plan documents under 

sections 20 to 23 and 25, 26 and 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004. 

14. Enforcing section 224 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (control of advertisements). 

15. To authorise the making of conservation areas. 

16. To authorise directions under Article 4 Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995. 

17. To determine responses on behalf of the Council to any government, local authority or 

other consultation on matters within the remit of the Committee. 

Delegations 

The Planning Committee may delegate matters falling within its remit as permissible under 

the law unless otherwise delegated or reserved under this Constitution. 

 

11. Overview & Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

See Overview & Scrutiny Arrangements and Procedure Rules at Chapter 2 Part 7. 

 

12. Senior Chief Officer Employment Committee 

Rules 

Page 89



 

The following Rules apply to this Committee:- 

 Council Procedure Rules 4 – 7 and 12 – 21. 

 Council Hearing Procedure Rules. 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Number of Members 5 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply Yes 

Appointments / Removals Council 

Restrictions on Membership  The Committee must include at least one 

Cabinet Member. 

 If the Committee is considering the 

dismissal of the HOPS; MO or s151 

Officer or any other Chief Officer, two 

independent persons must be co-opted. 

 Members of the Committee must be 

complete training prior to attending 

meetings of the Committee  

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair As above 

 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up to 

be no less than 3 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per Council 

Year 

As required.  

Sub-Committee – Hearing Panel A Senior Chief Officer Employment Hearing 

Panel shall be convened as required.  

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

1. To short list and interview candidates for the posts of Head of Paid Service and Chief 

Officers including the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and any other Chief 

Officer.  

Page 90



 

2. To recommend to full Council the appointment of the Head of Paid Service, the 

Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and any other Chief Officer. 

3. To recommend to the Chief Executive (as Head of Paid Service) all permanent 

appointments to Chief Officer posts. 

4. To determine matters, other than those which under the law must be referred to full 

Council, relating to severance agreements for Chief Officers and Statutory Officers. 

5. To determine matters, other than those which under the law must be referred to full 

Council, involving the discipline and suspension of Chief Officers and Statutory 

Officers. 

6. To investigate, concerns in relation to the proposed dismissal of the Head of Paid 

Service, the Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and any other Chief Officer 

subject to the Committee containing two Independent Persons when performing this 

function.  

7. To determine any other matters referred to it by full Council. 

8.  Providing advice, views and recommendations to Council in respect of the dismissal 

of any Statutory or Chief Officer, subject to the Committee containing two 

Independent Persons when performing this function. 

9. The functions of an Investigating and Disciplinary Committee under the JNC 

Conditions of Service Handbook for Chief Executives, 7 September 2022. 

 

13. Functions Performed by The Local Joint Consultative Committee ('LJCC') 
 

The LJCC is the forum between Members of the Council and representatives of the 

employees of the Council set up to consider matters of common interest, further 

good relations between Members and Officers and make recommendations to the 

Cabinet, at Chapter 6 appendix 3. 

 

14. Functions Performed by The Bramcote Bereavement Services Joint Committee 
 

As set out in the agreement with Erewash Borough Council at Chapter 6 appendix 4. 
 

15. Functions Performed by The Economic Prosperity Committee 

As set out at Chapter 6 appendix 5. 

 

Page 91



 

16. Policy Overview Working Group 

Note: The Policy Overview Working Group is a Working Group of the Cabinet, 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Number of Members 13 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply At the Leader’s discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader 

Restrictions on Membership  Must have at least one Cabinet 

Member on the Working Group 

The following Councillors may not serve on 

the Policy Overview Working Group; 

 Members of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Restrictions on Chair / Vice Chair  As above 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up 

to be no less than 4 

Number of Ordinary Meetings per Council 

Year 

Up to 10  

Frequency and timing of meetings to be 
determined by the Chair 
 
Hybrid Meeting 

 

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

 To consider and recommend to Cabinet all the Councils policies and strategies for the 
Portfolios of Resources and Personnel Policy, Housing, Economic Development and 
Asset Management, Community Safety, Leisure and Health, and Environment and 
Climate Change.  

 To also include supporting reviewing and making recommendations towards the 
implementation of Member facilities, expenses, and allowances. 

 Time critical reports would go straight to Cabinet.  
 

 

Page 92



 

17. Events, Arts, Cultural and Heritage Working Group 

Note: The Events, Arts, Cultural and Heritage Working Group is a Working Group of the 

Cabinet, 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Number of Members 13 

Substitute Members Permitted Yes 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply At the Leader’s discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader 

Quorum One quarter (1/4) of Members rounded up 

to be no less than 4 

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

 To further promote the management of DHL Museum under the heritage 
banner.  

 To promote the health and vitality of town centres and communities through a 
planned programme of events and arts programmes. 

 To promote close co-operation with our twin towns in Gutersloh and friendship 
arrangement in Myskow and to bring forward the CCity project across Europe 
to Broxtowe.  

 To promote the Council’s heritage and culture through collaborate working 
with our European partners. 

 

18. SHARED PROSPERITY FUND MEMBERS ADVISORY PANEL (UKSPF 

PANEL) 

Note: The UKSPF Panel is a Panel of the Cabinet, 

Membership, Chair and Quorum 

Number of Members 5 

Substitute Members Permitted No 

Political Proportionality Rules Apply At the Leader’s discretion 

Appointments / Removals The Leader 

Restrictions on Membership Membership of this Panel shall include: 
The Leader, Portfolio Holder of Resources 
and Personnel Policy, One other Labour 
Member, Leader of the Opposition, Leader 

Page 93



 

of the Independent /Liberal Democrat 
Group 
 

Quorum 2 plus Chair 

Number of Meetings per Council Year As required 

 

Remit and Terms of Reference 

 UKSPF Panel to assist and advise to the S151/Deputy Chief Executive in 
making urgent delegated determinations, which fall in between Cabinet 
cycles, where expediency is required to ensure Investment Plan funding can 
be defrayed in a timely manner and not clawed back or any other urgent 
matters that cannot wait for Cabinet including the awarding of business 
grants. 

 Decisions should be by consensus wherever possible, however, the final 
decision will lie with the Section 151/Deputy Chief Executive. 

 The S151/Deputy Chief Officer will report back urgent decisions made to the 
next suitable Cabinet.   

 The Panel should at all times work to the agreed rules reflected in the   
 DHLUC/BBC Memorandum of Understanding and any other further rules or   
 best practice required by the funding body 

 

19. Functions Performed by The Stapleford Towns Deal Executive Board 

(Information to be added.) 

 

Page 94



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxtowe Borough 
Council Constitution 

Chapter 3 – Part 1 

Scheme of Delegation 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Chapter 3 Part 1:  THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

Introduction to the Scheme of Delegation 

Under the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government Act 2000 the Council has 

arranged for the discharge of its functions and responsibilities by the Council bodies 

detailed below and as set out in the corresponding section of this Constitution: 

1.1.1 The Council (Chapter 2 Part 1& 2); 

1.1.2 The Cabinet (Chapter 2 Part 3); 

1.1.3  Committees (Chapter 2 Part 8 -17); 

1.1.4 Officers (Chapter 3 this Part 1 – the Officer Scheme of Delegation;  

The exercise of delegated powers is subject to the restrictions set out at paragraph 3 below: 

Where a power has been delegated, the Council, Cabinet or Committee, or in the case of an 

Officer Sub-Delegation, the delegating Officer, may still exercise that power in a particular 

instance if considered appropriate. Equally, any matter may be referred up to the source of the 

delegation for determination.  

Where the name of a post is changed, or its relevant functions become vested in a different 

post, any delegated powers possessed by the post shall be retained by the renamed post or 

transferred to the different post as the case may be. This includes any delegated powers vested 

in a post by resolution of the Council, the Cabinet, or a Committee/Sub Committee.  

In the event of a restructure the Chief Executive shall have authority to re-allocate the delegated 

powers to other posts and shall give notice of this to the Monitoring Officer and the Head of 

Legal Services. Any use of the Chief Executive’s exercise of this delegated power must be 

reported to the Council and/or to the Cabinet as soon as practicable. 

The Officer Scheme of Delegation 

1. Introduction to the Officer Scheme of Delegation 

1.1 This Officer Scheme of Delegation (OSD) is for the Officers of the Council. ‘Officers’ are 

defined as all employees and staff employed or engaged by the Council to carry out its 

functions. It includes those under short-term, agency, or other non-employed situations. It 

does not apply to any person employed by contractors who are carrying out work or 

duties for the Council under contracts. 

Page 97



 

 

 

 

1.2 The OSD has been adopted by the Council and sets out the extent to which the powers 

and duties of the Council are delegated to Officers under the Local Government Act 1972, 

the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) and all other powers enabling the 

delegation of Executive and Non-Executive functions to Officers.  

1.3 The OSD is intended to provide a streamlined, clear and simple decision-making process 

and empower Officers to carry out their functions and deliver the Council’s services within 

the Budget and Policy Framework set by the Council, and subject to the guidelines set by 

the Council, the Cabinet and the Council’s management team. The OSD should be 

interpreted widely. 

1.4 All references to legislation shall be deemed to include any subsequent amendments to 

such legislation. 

1.5 In this OSD references to powers and functions of ‘the Council’ include the powers and 

functions of the Cabinet (Executive).  

1.6 The delegations under this OSD are intended to be cumulative. Each delegation may be 

read on its own unless it is specifically expressed to be subject to another. 

1.7 An Officer to whom a power has been delegated may Sub-Delegate that power to another 

appropriate Officer(s) following consultation with the Chief Executive and Monitoring 

Officer. A record of any delegations shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer, Head of 

Legal and Head of Democratic Services for their records.  

1.8 Where an Officer has delegated powers, the Council, the Cabinet, a Committee or a 

delegating Officer (as the case may be) can still exercise that power in a particular case if 

it considers it appropriate to do so. It remains open to an Officer not to exercise delegated 

powers and instead refer the matter up to the source of their delegated power for 

determination.  

2. Functions which are Not Delegated 

2.1 This OSD does not delegate to Officers: 

2.1.1 any matter reserved to full Council by law or otherwise in accordance with this 

Constitution;  

2.1.2 any matter which by law may not be delegated to an Officer;  

2.1.3 any Key Decision; 

2.1.4 any matter expressly withdrawn from delegation by the Council, Committees, 

Leader or Cabinet or delegating Officer (as the case may be). 

Page 98



 

 

 

 

3. Restrictions 

3.1 The exercise of delegated powers by an Officer is subject to: 

3.1.1  any statutory restrictions; 

3.1.2 the Budget and Policy framework;  

3.1.3 any provision of this Constitution including the Financial Regulations, 

Procurement Regulations and Procedure Rules; 

3.1.4 any financial limits set out in the revenue or capital budgets except as set out in 

the Financial Regulations set out at Chapter 4 Part 1&2;  

3.1.5 any policy set by the Council or its Committees, the Cabinet, the Leader or Chief 

Executive; 

3.1.6 the Employee Code of Conduct; 

3.1.7 consultation (as applicable). 

4. Consultation and Liaison 

4.1 When exercising delegated powers Officers must consult as appropriate, give due regard 

to any advice received and keep Councillors and relevant other Officers properly informed 

of actions arising within the scope the delegation exercised. 

5. Transfer of Functions 

5.1 Where the name of a post is changed, or its relevant functions become vested in a 

different post, any delegated powers possessed by the post shall be retained by the 

renamed post or transferred to the different post as the case may be. This includes any 

delegated powers vested in a post by resolution of the Council, the Cabinet, or a 

Committee/Sub Committee.  

5.2 In the event of a restructure the Chief Executive shall have authority to re-allocate the 

delegated powers to other posts and shall give notice of this to the Monitoring Officer. Any 

use of this delegated power must be reported to the Council and/or to the Cabinet as 

soon as practicable. 

6. Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

6.1 Officers designated by the Council as “Appropriate” or “Proper” Officer” for the purposes 

of any statutory function (including where necessary or convenient having regard to any 

professional or technical requirements of an Officer who is not an employee of the 

Page 99



 

 

 

 

Council) and their functions are set out at the Schedule of Proper Officer Functions & 

Delegations below. 

7. The Council’s Statutory Officers and Management Structure 

The Council shall engage such Officers as considered necessary for the discharge of its 

functions. 

The Statutory Officers & The General Management Team 

7.1 The Council’s Statutory Officers are: 

7.1.1 The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive); 

7.1.2 The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer;    

7.1.3 The Monitoring Officer.  

7.2 The Statutory Officers together with the Executive Director are the Council’s ‘Chief 

Officers’ and comprise the Council’s General Management Team. 

The Senior Management Team 

7.3 The Senior Officers listed below are part of the Council’s Senior Management Team and 

they have delegated authority within the terms of this Constitution for their areas of 

responsibility as set out further below, without limitation, at paragraphs 13 – 24.  

7.3.1 Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer; 

7.3.2 Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer; 

7.3.3 Head of Finance Services; 

7.3.4 Head of Planning & Economic Development; 

7.3.5 Head of Asset Management;   

7.3.6 Head of Housing; 

7.3.7 Head of Environment Services; 

7.3.8 Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer Services; 

7.3.9 Head of Administrative Services; 

7.3.10 Chief Environmental Health Officer; 

Page 100



 

 

 

 

7.3.11 Chief Communities Officer.  

7.4 The following Senior Officers are also members of the Council’s Senior Management 

Team: 

7.4.1 ICT and Business Transformation Manager;  

7.4.2 Payroll and Job Evaluation Manager; 

7.4.3 Health and Safety and Emergency Planning Manager;  

7.4.4 Corporate Communications Manager; Communications, Cultural and Civic 

Services Manager. 

7.4.5 Human Resources Manager;  

7.4.6 Commercial Manager.  

7.5 The Senior Officers of the Council are those who comprise the Senior Management Team 

as well as those who report directly to a Member of General Management Team as listed at 

paragraph 7.3 and 7.4.   

8. Delegation of General Powers 

8.1 The delegation to Chief Officers and Senior Officers shall include:- 

8.1.1 All powers under all present and future legislation relevant to their areas of 

responsibility and the discharge of their duties and functions, including all powers 

incidental and/or conducive to that legislation, their areas of responsibility and the 

discharge of their duties and functions. All such functions must be managed in 

accordance with Council policies, strategies and procedures and all applicable 

law. It shall be the responsibility of each chief Officer to liaise with their senior 

Officers as to the discharge of their delegated functions to ensure it aligns with 

corporate policy. 

8.1.2 The power to authorise the exercise of the delegated powers of decision by such 

other Officers as may be deemed appropriate for the proper and efficient 

performance of the work. A record of any delegations shall be provided to the 

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal and Head of Democratic Services (The 

Deputy Monitoring Officers) for their retention. 

8.2 If the Officer to whom a function has been delegated is unable to act due to a conflict of 

interest, a conflict of opinion with a Chief Officer or any other reason, then it is for the 

Chief Executive to determine who should exercise that function. If the Chief Executive is 

Page 101



 

 

 

 

unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, then it is for the Section 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer to determine who should exercise that 

function. If the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer are 

unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, then the function can be 

exercised by any Chief Officer from the General Management Team.  

8.3 Subject to any statutory restrictions or as otherwise provided for in this Constitution, the 

powers of a Statutory Officer/Chief Officer, Proper Officer or Senior Officer may be 

exercised by their nominated deputies or any other authorised Officer.  

8.4 A Statutory Officer/Chief Officer, Proper Officer or Senior Officer may, so far as 

permissible under the law or otherwise as provided for in this Constitution, sub-delegate 

their powers within their area of responsibility (including cross-service delegation where 

appropriate). 

Chief Officer Responsibilities and Specific Delegated Powers  

Without limitation the responsibilities and specific delegated powers of the Chief Officers are as 

set out below.  

9. The Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 

9.1 To act as the Council’s Head of Paid Service and to undertake the associated duties as 

set out in Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

9.2 To lead, manage and direct all Officers of the Council in providing a corporate, co- 

ordinated, cross-functional approach towards Strategy and Policy Development and the 

delivery of services for the Council. 

9.3 To deal with the grant and supervision of exemptions from political restrictions in respect 

of the relevant Council’s posts. 

9.4 To review the Whistleblowing Procedure for Employees. 

9.5 To review the Employee Code of Conduct. 

9.6 In consultation with the HR Manager, as considered necessary, to deal with all matters 

other than those reserved to the Council relating to the recruitment, appointment, 

remuneration, conditions of service, discipline, dismissal, superannuation, qualifications, 

training, job evaluation, promotion, safety and provision of welfare facilities of all 

employees of the Council (including settlement of claims up to £25,000 after consultation 

Page 102



 

 

 

 

with the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer) if within 

existing budgets.  

9.7 To act as the Council’s Returning Officer for the elections of Councillors of the Borough, 

Electoral Registration Officer for the Borough and Proper Officer for Parish polls under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

9.8 To act as the Council’s Emergency Planning Officer in both wartime and peacetime 

emergencies and to liaise as necessary with neighbouring authorities, government 

departments, agencies and other bodies. 

9.9 To perform the functions of the Council in respect of crime reduction including the 

payment of grants within the policy and budget of the Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Partnership. 

9.10 The Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the Council and, where 

possible, the Leader of the Opposition, shall have the power to allocate any new functions 

of the Council, or a function which has not been allocated under this Scheme, to the 

Officer (including the Chief Executive), which the Chief Executive considers most 

appropriate to perform the function. This enhances delegated urgency powers to the Chief 

Executive in light of any pandemic or other such circumstances. 

9.11 In consultation with the Leader of the Council, and other recognised group Leaders, to 

nominate or recommend any appointment to Liberty Leisure Ltd on behalf of the Council 

as shareholder. 

9.12 In consultation with the Leader of the Council and where possible, the Leader of the 

Opposition to authorise the taking or carrying out of action, notwithstanding anything on 

the Council’s Procedure Rules or Financial Regulations, where they consider that 

circumstances exist that make it expedient or necessary for action to be taken prior to the 

time when such action could be approved through the normal Council procedures.   A 

report on such action, and the circumstances justifying the exercise of the delegated 

powers, shall be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet or Council, as appropriate. 

9.13 Any action in accordance with the Council’s agreed policies and procedures with respect 

to the recruitment, appointment, promotion, training, grading, discipline, determination of 

wages and salary scales, determination of allowances, determination and application of 

conditions of service, including but not limited to allocation of leave, honorariums, ill health 

retirement and determination of establishment. 

9.14 To sign and seal documents on behalf of the Council, as required. 

10. The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  

Page 103



 

 

 

 

10.1 The Deputy Chief Executive shall deputise for the Chief Executive in their absence or 

where they are unable to act unless prohibited from doing so under the law or otherwise 

by any provision of this Constitution.  

10.2 To perform the Council’s commercial services function.  

10.3 The Deputy Chief Executive is the Council’s Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer 

and in such capacity:- 

10.3.1 Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence in Decision-Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  shall report to the Council, the 

Cabinet or appropriate Committee (as the case may be) and the Council’s 

external auditor, any proposal, decision or course of action which in the opinion 

of the Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  will incur unlawful expenditure 

or is otherwise unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or where the 

Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.  

10.3.2 Administration of Financial Affairs 

(a) The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer shall be responsible for 

the administration of the financial affairs of the Council pursuant to section 

151 of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) To make arrangements for the provision and operation of any treasury 

management, banking and insurance services including the authorisation 

of any transaction; signing of cheques or other financial instrument; 

provision of indemnities; agreement of terms for the raising, repayment or 

cancellation of loans, investments and leases; 

(c) To take any action to recover debts due to the Council and to write off 

debts considered to be irrecoverable for any proper reason; 

(d) To authorise arrangements for the disposal of surplus or obsolete assets 

and consequential accounting entries; 

(e) To determine all financial matters specified within statutory provisions and 

not reserved therein to the Council; 

(f) To allocate budgetary provision from approved contingencies and 

earmarked reserves; 

Page 104



 

 

 

 

(g) To make arrangements for the provision of an internal audit service to the 

Council; 

(h) Negotiate and settle the Council’s insurance claims through insurers up to 

a financial limit determined by policy; 

(i) Together with the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer provide 

advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy 

framework issues to all Councillors and support and advise Councillors and 

Officers in their respective roles. 

10.4 In consultation with the Head of Finance and Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer 

Services: 

10.4.1 Give financial information and provide financial information to the media, 

Members of the public and the community; 

10.4.2 Write off debts to the limit set in Financial Regulations; 

10.4.3 Grant non-domestic rating discretionary relief; 

10.4.4 Assess and determine applications regarding the Policy on Discretionary Council 

Tax Discounts. 

10.5 To discharge the Council’s functions in respect of: 

10.5.1 The Administration of benefits, including determination of entitlement and the 

award of discretionary housing benefits; 

10.5.2 The Collection of revenues due to the Council under currently prevailing 

legislation relating to local government finance; 

10.5.3 The Determination and declaration of the appropriate local average rate in March 

and September each year in respect of Council mortgages and perform and 

consequential administration; 

10.5.4 Appearance at hearings of the Valuation Tribunal; 

10.5.5 The recovery of rates and Council Tax including the appointment of enforcement 

agents for this purpose and the pursuit of court proceedings in consultation with 

the Head of Legal Services, where appropriate; 

Page 105



 

 

 

 

10.5.6 The Management of the Council’s investments and debts, including the 

appointments of external investment managers and brokers, in accordance with 

the Council’s adopted Treasury Policy Statement; 

10.5.7 The Appointment of, and liaison with, insurers; 

10.5.8 Unless otherwise delegated, the determination of tenders in respect of all 

activities in accordance with relevant legislative requirements and organisation 

and performance of all works in relation thereof; 

10.5.9 The negotiation and acceptance of quotations from contractors for works 

classified as part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations; 

10.5.10 The reduction or remittance of the charge for non-domestic rates on occupied 

and unoccupied properties on grounds of hardship, under Section 49 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988. 

11. The Monitoring Officer 

11.1 The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s Monitoring Officer for the purpose of section 5 of 

the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

11.2 The Monitoring Officer has the following specific functions: 

11.2.1 To report to the Council, if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission 

would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rise to a 

finding of maladministration, after such consultation with the Chief Executive and 

the S151 Officer. Such a report, once issued, will have the effect of stopping the 

proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered; 

11.2.2 To maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and ensure that it is widely 

available to Members, staff and public, to include the recording of any changes 

ensuring that all administrative changes are made in consultation with the Chief 

Executive, Leader and Leader of the Opposition, save where such consultees 

object to the proposed changes in which case the matter shall be determined by 

the Council; 

11.2.3 To provide support and advice to the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Officers; 

11.2.4 To provide advice to all Members on issues in relation to the scope of powers 

and authority to take decisions, interests, maladministration, financial impropriety, 

probity and the Budget and Policy Framework; 

Page 106



 

 

 

 

11.2.5 In consultation with the with Head of Legal Services and/or other Senior Officer’s 

as may be appropriate, deal with matters concerning regulators and 

Ombudsmen.  

11.2.6 To determine corporate complaints and to make payments for maladministration 

and other similar compensation awards by the Council up to a limit of £5,000. 

12. Executive Director 

12.1 To determine corporate complaints and to make payments for maladministration and 

other similar compensation awards by the Council up to a limit of £5,000. 

12.2 To negotiate compensation claims by or against the Council up to the maximum currently 

set out in Financial Regulations in capital consideration in each case or weekly 

compensation not exceeding that sum in each case. 

12.3 To perform the Council’s, Environmental Services, Governance, Administration, Payroll 

and Job Evaluation, ICT and Business Transformation, Health, Safety and Emergency 

Planning, Corporate Communication and Civic Office functions.  

12.4 To perform functions in relation to Climate Change matters. 

12.5 To act as the Council’s Data Protection Officer as required by relevant legislation.  

12.6 To act as the Council’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 

Senior Management Team Responsibilities and Specific Delegated Powers  

Without limitation the responsibilities and specific delegated powers of the Senior Management 

Team are as set out below.  

13. Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

13.1 Legal services Affixing the Common Seal of the Council. 

13.2 Certifying true copies. 

13.3 To determine, authorise, issue and withdraw any Notice, decision, proceedings (to 

include criminal and civil proceedings) and appeals on behalf of the Council. 

13.4 To exercise discretion in consultation with the S151 Officer to settle court and tribunal 

proceedings and other potential proceedings. 

13.5 To authorise, in conjunction with the Chief Executive, Officers under Section 223 of the 

Local Government Act 1972 to appear on behalf of the Council in proceedings before 

Page 107



 

 

 

 

the Magistrates’ Court where those Officers would otherwise not have rights of audience 

before the court. 

13.6 To arrange and authorise the signing of a contract under seal such signing to be 

witnessed by an Officer or Member of the Council and registered in a book kept for that 

purpose by the Monitoring Officer. 

13.7 To confirm unopposed public path orders and tree preservation orders. 

13.8 To determine applications for the Register of Community Assets and applications for 

compensation. 

13.9 To approve Wayleave Agreements. 

13.10 To authorise any person or sign any Notice to enable the use of the Council’s powers of 

entry to land or property including applications to the court to enforce or ensure that the 

power of entry can be exercised. 

13.11 To determine, prepare and serve applications for Certificates of Lawful Use or 

Development notices and directions subject to prior approval with the Head of Planning 

and Economic Development or his or her nominated Officer. 

13.12 To enter into an agreement regulating the development or use of land in consultation 

with the Head of Planning and Economic Development (Section 106 Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990). 

13.13 To determine appeals in relation to compensation for matters relating to the Register of 

Community Assets. 

13.14 To determine and issue any Notice, decision, proceedings, appeals not otherwise 

delegated to Officers (other than where prohibited by statute) or in circumstances where 

that Officer is unable to exercise his or her delegated authority. 

14. Head of Democratic Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer 

14.1 To perform, the Council’s Democratic Service  functions.   

.  

 .  

 To perform the Council’s Parking Services functions.  

 To perform the Council’s Surveillance functions.   

Page 108



 

 

 

 

14.2 To perform the Council’s Complaints functions. 

14.3 To ensure that all decisions, reasons for those decisions, relevant Officer reports and 

 background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible and in accordance 

with the relevant legislation.  

14.8 To act as the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the Surveillance Commissioner 

Code of Practice.   

15. Head of Finance Services 

15.1 To perform the Council’s Financial Management functions to manage the finances in an 

efficient manner such that the Council has sufficient financial resources to enable it to 

successfully implement its policies and plans.  

15.2 To perform the Council’s Accountancy Services functions to prepare and monitor the 

Council's detailed financial plans and pay all creditors and collect all income due to the 

Council promptly. 

15.3 To perform the Council’s Treasury Management and Banking functions to manage the 

Council's debt portfolio, investments and banking arrangements, manage the risks 

associated with these activities and pursue optimum performance consistent with these 

risks. 

15.4 To perform the Council’s Internal Audit functions as a key component of the Council’s 

governance framework to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-

based and objective assurance, advice and insight.   

15.5 To co-ordinate the Council’s Fraud and Corruption prevention activity.  The Council 

takes a zero-tolerance approach to fraud and corruption and is committed to establishing 

a strong anti-fraud and corruption culture. 

15.6 To co-ordinate the Council’s Business Planning and Performance Management 

framework, including support with the preparation of Business Plans and the suite of 

performance indicators and targets and the monitoring of these through the performance 

management system. 

15.7 To perform the Council’s Insurance and Risk Management functions to identify, arrange 

and monitor insurance requirements, including claims handling, and to implement risk 

management initiatives which minimise the risk of injury or loss to customers, employees 

and other stakeholders and safeguard the Council's assets. 

Page 109



 

 

 

 

15.8  To co-ordinate the Council’s Procurement and Commissioning activity to improve the 

delivery and cost effectiveness of high quality services across the organisation through 

the promotion of effective, prudent and innovative procurement and commissioning 

practices. 

15.9  To perform the Council’s Grant Aid activity to process applications for grant aid from 

voluntary organisations and individuals involved in sports or the arts. 

16. Head of Planning & Economic Development  

16.1 To perform the Council’s Planning regeneration and development management 

functions.  

16.2 To manage the Council’s shared Building Control functions.  

16.3 To perform the Council’s Street works functions. 

16.4 To perform the Council’s Planning policy functions.  

16.5 To determine Planning applications accordingly. 

16.6 To perform the Councils functions in relation to Economic Development, Investment 

Regeneration, and Local Enterprise Partnership.  

16.7 To determine applications for planning permission, the need for prior approval, consent 

for the display of advertisements and listed building consent and the determination of or 

response to any other application or matter received in respect of the town and country 

planning function, (excluding enforcement)  including Article 4 directions subject in each 

case to the proviso that any Member of the Council may bring the application before the 

Planning Committee for decision, and subject also to the provisos below: 

16.7.1 Any application above that is 

                i) contrary to policy 

                ii) made by a Member of the Council or  

                iii) by an Officer involved in the planning process, namely: Directors, Heads of 

Service and employees of the planning and building control sections shall be 

referred to Planning Committee for decision; 

16.7.2 In consultation with Ward Members, and the Chair and Vice Chair of the 

Planning Committee, the decision not to take enforcement action must only be 

made in consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 

Page 110



 

 

 

 

16.8 To determine planning enforcement action as may be necessary having due regard to 

the after prior consultation response from with Ward Members, and the Chair of 

Planning Committee and the Head of Legal Services to include the: 

 16.8.1 Investigation leading to breach of condition notices; 

 16.8.2 Investigation leading to enforcement notices and injunctions;  

16.8.3 Investigation leading to stop and temporary stop notices; 

16.8.4 Investigations leading to untidy land notices or community protection 

 notices. 

16.9     On a finding of breach of planning control, after consultation with Ward Members,  Chair 

and Vice Chair of Planning Committee and Head of Legal Services to carry out the necessary 

action. 

16.10 To approve or reject plans deposited under the Building Regulations and to make a 

declaration that plans approved under the Building Regulations since 1 April 1974 are of 

no effect where work has not commenced on site within 3 years of deposit of plans. 

16.11 To perform manage the Council's functions under the Building Act 1984 as amended to 

include the issue of Notices under Section 36 of the Building Act 1984 (removal or 

alterations of work done in breach of Building Regulations) in consultation with the Head 

of Legal Services. 

16.12 To exercise all local authority functions under the currently subsisting Building Act and 

Building Regulations. 

16.13 To issue Notices requiring advance payment of Private Street Works charges under 

Section 220 of the Highways Act 1980 and Exemption Notices under Section 219 of the 

Highways Act 1980. 

16.14 To enforce in respect of complaints Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, 

including high hedges. 

16.15 To determine street naming and numbering. 

16.16 To authorise suitable bidding requests for grant aid for shop fronts and industrial 

improvement. 

16.17 Where Section 106 contributions have been approved at the relevant Committee to 

arrange payments of these in consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 

Page 111



 

 

 

 

17. Head of Asset Management 

17.1 To deal with Capital Works Housing stock management and modernisations. 

17.2 To deal with Housing Repairs and Compliance matters.  

17.3     To approve bids and adaptations to Council properties up to a maximum of £30,000. 

17.3 House Building Delivery – To consider and recommend housing building schemes.  

17.4 Estate Management - Property/land acquisition and disposal (except housing stock).  

17.5 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes with regard to the 

Council's housing stock. 

17.6 To manage and maintain buildings and lands held for directorate purposes including 

public car parks, industrial and commercial property. 

17.7 To operate civil parking enforcement on and off street including those vested in the 

Council via an agreement with the County Council as Traffic Authority; save for the 

consideration of parking appeals referred back to the Council by the Traffic Penalties 

Tribunal. 

17.8 In common with the Head of Legal Services acquisitions, appropriations and disposals of 

land or property (except Council Houses) not exceeding the value currently set out in 

Financial Regulations. 

17.9 To consider, negotiate and determine all of the Council’s acquisitions, appropriations 

and disposals of any land or property (except Council houses), lettings, negotiations and 

settlement of leases and rents for Council owned land or property (except Council 

houses), easements, licences or other rights or interests affecting the land whether 

granted or to be granted to or by the Council not exceeding the rental or capital 

consideration currently set out in Financial Regulations and in accordance with the 

Council’s land disposal policy. 

17.10 To negotiate and accept quotations from contractors for such related works classified as 

part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations. 

17.11 To perform the function of requesting the County Council to apply to the Secretary of 

State for the closure or diversion of a public right of way on the grounds of crime 

reduction, following consultation with any Ward Members and the Crime and Disorder 

Reduction Partnership, for the purposes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

Page 112



 

 

 

 

17.12 To consider and recommend investment in, improvement of and carbon reduction of the 

Council’s housing stock.  

17.13 To negotiate and accept quotations from contractors for works to the Council housing 

stock classified as part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations. 

18. Head of Housing 

18.1 Housing Operations Management -The Council’s functions as a housing provider and as 

regards its housing stock and housing revenue account. 

18.2 The Council’s functions as regards homelessness. 

18.3 To deal with Income Management.  

18.4 The Council’s functions as regards to Housing Strategy.  

18.5 To perform the Council’s functions with regard to the Council’s housing stock and 

housing revenue account property in accordance with all legislation relevant to housing 

and including homelessness, anti-social behaviour, repairs and allocations. 

18.6 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes and approved policies 

with regard to the Council's housing stock. 

18.7 To approve conditions of sale and administer, in conjunction with the Head of Legal 

Services, the right to buy, voluntary sales schemes and property purchases. 

18.8 To award compensation (up to a maximum of £1000) under the Secure Tenants of Local 

Authorities (Compensation for Improvement) Regulations 1994 (or other legislation) 

unless appropriate to exercise a discretion.18.9 To recover rent, rates (from the 

Council’s housing stock), including the appointment of agents for this purpose and 

pursuit of Court proceedings. 

18.10 To approve bids and adaptations to Council properties up to a maximum of £30,000. 

18.11 To consider and conduct reviews of Council homeless decisions and introductory 

tenancies.  

18.11   To deal with Housing Repairs and Compliance Matters.  

18.12  In common with the Head of Legal Services deal with  acquisitions, appropriations and 

disposals of Council Houses not exceeding the value currently set out in Financial 

Regulations. 

Page 113



 

 

 

 

18.13 To consider, negotiate and determine all acquisitions, appropriations and disposals, 

lettings, negotiations and settlement of leases and rents for Council Houses not 

exceeding the rental or capital consideration currently set out in Financial Regulations 

and in accordance with relevant Council polices.  

19. Head of Environment Services 

19.1 To deal with Environmental services and waste collection services. 

19.2 Vehicle, plant, equipment and facilities management, acquisition and disposal. 

19.3 To deal with functions relating to Bereavement Services. 

19.4 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes with regards to the 

Council’s vehicle fleet and improvements to public parks and green spaces. 

19.5 To manage and maintain buildings and land held for Directorate purposes including 

Public Parks, Cemeteries, Woodlands, Play Areas, Recreational Grounds with 

associated Sports Facilities including Pavilions, Nature Reserves, The Nottingham 

Canal, public civil engineering assets and Allotments. 

19.6 To manage and operate the licence, in accordance with statutory obligations, on behalf 

of the Council as Waste Collection Authority. 

19.7 To manage and authorise the acquisition and disposal of all of the Council’s vehicles 

and plant not exceeding the value currently set in the Financial Regulations. 

19.8 To deal with all matters in relation to the provision of vehicles, facilities and equipment 

within the overall capital programme including power to negotiate and execute all leases 

for items of plant and equipment within the capital programme. 

19.9 To establish and review as necessary internal rates in respect of labour, plant and 

materials. 

20. Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer Services 

20.1 To perform the Council functions in relation to Revenue and benefits. 

20.2 To perform the Council functions in relation to Customer Services Contact Centre. 

20.3 To perform the Council functions in relation to Council Tax and Business Rates including             

the assessment of all reliefs, discounts levy’s and exemptions.   

20.4 To perform the Council’s Quality & Control functions.  

Page 114



 

 

 

 

20.5   To appoint Officers (either internally or externally) to act on behalf of the Council to 

perform functions in relation to Revenues, Benefits and Customer Services. 

21. Head of Administrative Services 

21.1 To perform the Council’s Business Support functions.  

21.2 To perform the Council’s elections, electoral registration and Local Land Charges 

functions.  

21.3 To perform the Council’s Support Services & Cleaning functions. 

21.4     To perform the Council’s Information Governance functions 

21.5  To perform the Council’s Parking Services functions  

21.6     To perform the Council’s Surveillance functions  

21.7    To act as the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the Surveillance Commission   

Code of Practice  

22.  Chief Environmental Health Officer  

22.1 To perform the Council’s functions, with regards to public protection and environmental 

health under all current and new relevant legislation to include anti-social behaviour, 

occupational health and safety, control of diseases, control of pollution, air quality, 

contaminated land, public health, drainage, statutory nuisance, verminous persons and 

property, animal health and welfare, private sector housing, Sunday trading, food and 

water supplies, environmental protection, health protection unlawful encampments and 

smoking and the regulation and deregulation of businesses. 

22.2 To approve and authorise the payment of housing grants. 

22.3 To implement property charges on dwellings in respect of aids and adaptations. 

22.4 To consider, determine and issue all of the Council’s applications for approvals, 

licences, permits and registration for the Directorate, and if applicable vary, refuse, 

revoke or suspend such approvals, licences, permits and registration in relation to 

relevant Council functions and under the relevant current and new legislation including 

(but not limited to) 

 skin piercing and special treatments 

 pleasure boats and vessels 

 premises for the preparation of food (including the Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme) 

Page 115



 

 

 

 

 animal activities including but not exclusively; dog breeding, pet vending, 
premises where animals are bred or kept as part of a business, animal 
boarding, animal trainers and exhibitors, riding establishments, zoos, 
dangerous wild animals, guard dogs 

 house in multiple occupation 

 mobile homes 

 scrap metal dealers (except for refusals which will go to Committee) 

 pollution control  

 private water supplies 

 health protection Liquor (Licensing Act 2003) 

 Gambling (Gambling Act 2005) 

 street collections 

 house to house collections 

 sex shops and cinemas 

 massage and special treatment 

 vehicles, drivers and operators 

 hypnotism 

 pavement licences 

 Scrap Metal Dealers (Sites and Collectors) 

22.5 To perform the role of Hearing Officer on an application to review a decision to issue 

possession proceedings on the absolute ground. 

22.6 To determine and maintain a matrix of competency and scope of enforcement levels of 

officers within environmental health.   

22.7 To administer Simple Cautions in conjunction with an officer from Legal Services. 

22.8 To be appointed as an Inspector in pursuance of section 19 of the Health and Safety at 

Work etc. Act 1974 authorised to carry out the powers vested in Inspectors by sections 

20, 21, 22 and 25 of the Act and also the several provisions mentioned in the third 

column of Schedule 1 to the 1974 Act and any regulations, orders and instruments made 

hereunder: 

 To authorise persons accompanying them on inspections for the purposes of 
section 20(2)(c)(i) of the Act. 

 To request prosecution proceedings under Section 39 of the Health & Safety at 
Work Etc. Act 1974.  

22.9 To act as an authorised officer under Food Safety Act 1990.  

22.10 To perform all the Council’s functions with regard to moveable dwellings, caravan sites 

and unlawful encampments. 

22.11 To perform the functions of the Council with respect to anti-social behaviour including 

Community Protection Notices and Fixed Penalties.   

Page 116



 

 

 

 

22.12 To enforce the powers of the Council in relation to smoking, save that the power to 

instigate legal proceedings is delegated to the Head of Legal Services. 

22.13 To be authorised to carry out private sector housing functions including caravan sites, 

waste, filthy and verminous and HIMO’s and improvement schemes (excluding Housing 

Act Notices, Grant Approvals and Licences). 

22.14 To exercise powers not otherwise provided for by committee under the Licensing Act 

2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, including providing for the discharge of the Authority’s 

functions as a responsible authority within the meaning of the Licensing Act 2003 and 

the Gambling Act 2005. 

22.15 To issue licences for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles which are outside the 

current age limits under the Council’s Exceptional Condition policy. 

22.16 To be authorised to carry out enforcement of all of the functions relating to the Licensing 

activities above (excluding the issue of Licences and Notices). 

23. CHIEF COMMUNTIES OFFICER  

23.1 To perform the Council’s functions, with regards to public protection an under all current 

and new relevant legislation to include anti-social behaviour and smoking. 

23.2 To perform the Council’s functions in the role of Independent Chair on an application to 

review Multi Agency Action in relation to community trigger applications (Anti-Social 

Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

23.3 To perform the Council’s functions in authorising the issuing of Community Protection 

Warnings for Anti-Social Behaviour. 

23.4 To perform the Council’s functions with respect to anti-social behaviour including 

Community Protection Notices and Fixed Penalties. 

23.5 To perform the Council’s functions in enforcement of the powers of the Council in 

relation to smoking. 

23.6 To perform the Council’s functions in determining applications for Sanctuary Scheme in 

accordance with the Sanctuary Scheme Policy. 

23.7 To perform the Council’s functions in managing secure systems for Multi-Agency 

information sharing and Key Individuals Network Contact Systems.  

23.8 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Local Strategic Partnership and 

Community Safety Partnership sharing and Key Individuals Network Contact Systems. 

Page 117



 

 

 

 

23.9 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Local Strategic Partnership and 

Community Safety Partnership.  

23.10 To perform the Council’s functions in managing Partnership finances on behalf of South 

Notts Community Safety Partnership. 

23.11 To perform the Council’s functions in commissioning Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

23.12 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Vetting Procedure.  

23.13 To perform the Council’s functions in managing and perform the role of Chair the Anti-

Social behaviour and Complex Case Panel. 

23.14 To perform the Council’s functions in determining Safeguarding referrals and referrals 

into other services or agencies. 

23.15 To perform the Council’s functions in determining applications for sharing personal 

information without consent in relation to vulnerable people.  

23.16 To perform the Council’s functions in determining referrals for Child Criminal 

Exploitation, Child Sexual Exploitation, PREVENT, Modern Slavery and Trafficking. 

23.17 To perform the Council’s functions in relation to Section 11 Children Act 2004 and 

Safeguarding Assurance Returns. 

24. SEALING 

24.1 The common seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Legal 

team. 

24.2 The common seal of the Council shall only be affixed to a document on the authority of a 

Proper Officer, as detailed in the Schedule of Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

or otherwise on the authority of the Council, or other Officer with delegated authority to 

commit the Council to enter into an instrument to which the Council’s seal should be 

affixed. 

24.3 An entry of every sealing of a document shall be made, and numbered consecutively, in 

a book kept for that purpose by the Monitoring Officer, and shall identify the persons who 

shall have attested the seal and the date when the seal was affixed. The seal may be 

witnessed and attested by any Officer or Member of the Council. 

 

Schedule of Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

The Council has approved the appointment of the following Officers as Proper Officers. 

Page 118



 

 

 

 

The Chief Executive shall act as the Proper Officer in relation to any other enactment 

where specific arrangements have not been made under the following provisions. 

The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer shall act as the Proper Officer in respect of 

any other statute where specific arrangements for financial matters have not been made under 

the following provisions. 

The Monitoring Officer shall act as the Proper Officer in respect of any other statute where 

specific arrangements for legal matters have  not been made under the following provisions. 

Proper Officer functions may be discharged by their Deputies or any other Officers duly 

authorised to act in the name of the Proper Officer concerned. 

If the Officer to whom a function has been delegated is unable to act due to a conflict of interest 

or any other reason, then it is for the Chief Executive to determine who should exercise that 

function. If the Chief Executive is unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, 

then it is for the Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer to determine who should exercise 

that function. If both the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer is unable to act then the 

powers shall be exercisable by any other Chief Officer of the Council’s General Management 

Team. 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1936 

S.79 Power to require removal of 
noxious matter 

Chief Executive   Chief Environmental 
Officer  

S.84 Certificate relating to cleansing 

or destruction of filthy or 

verminous items 

Chief Executive   Chief Environmental 

Officer  

S.85(2) Cleansing of verminous persons 
or articles 

Chief Executive 

 

Chief Environmental 
Health Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

S.83 (1) to (4) Witness and receipt of 

Declaration of Acceptance of 

Office 

Monitoring Officer    Chief Executive  

S.84 Receipt of notice of resignation of 

Elected Member 

Chief Executive  Deputy Chief 

Executive/Sec

tion 151 

Officer  

 

Page 119



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.88(2) Arranging a Council meeting to 

appoint to Chair of  the Council 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.89(1) Notice of casual vacancy Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.100B(2) The Officer also may exclude 

from agendas any information 

which is likely to be dealt with 

in the absence of press and 

public 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services   

S.100B(7) Disclosure to newspapers of a 

copy of the agenda and/or any 

further copies of documents in 

connection with the item.  

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services  

S.100C(2) Where parts of the published  

minutes have not been 

disclosed due to exempt 

information and the document 

does not provide members of 

the public  with a reasonably 

fair and coherent record than 

the proper officer shall  prepare 

a written summary of the 

proceedings at Cabinet/ 

Committees and Sub-

Committees 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services  

S.100D(1) and (5) The Officer responsible for 

identifying and compiling  lists 

of background papers 

Officer supporting 

the portfolio holder 

to compile the 

report. 

The Director of the 

service compiling the 

report. 

S.100F(2) The Officer making decisions 

as to documents disclosing 

exempt information which are 

not required to be open to 

inspection by Council Members 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

Page 120



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.115(2) Receipt of money due from 

Officers 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.137 and 137A Receipt of statement provided 

in relation to financial 

assistance 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.146(1) (a) and (b) Declarations and certificates 

with regard to transfer of 

securities 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.151 (and S.114 Local 

Government and 

Finance Act 1988) 

The Officer responsible for the 

proper administration of the 

Council’s financial affairs 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.191 Officer to whom an application 

under S.1 of the Ordnance 

Survey Act 1841 will be sent 

Head of Legal 

Services 

Head of Planning and 

Economic 

Development  

S.210 Charity functions of 

predecessor authorities 

transferred to the Council 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.225 Deposit of documents Chief Executive  Head of Legal Services 

S.228(3) Accounts for inspection by any 

Member of the       Council 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Chief Executive 

S.229(5) Certification of photographic 

copies of documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

Page 121



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.234 Officer who may authenticate 

documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.236(9) and (10) Sending of copies of byelaws to 

Parish Councils, Parish 

meetings and County Council 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.238 Certification of byelaws Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.248 Officer who will keep the Roll of 

Freemen 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

Para 4(2)(b) of Schedule 

12 

Signing of summons to Council 

meeting 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

Para 25 of Schedule 14 Certification of resolution 

passed under this paragraph 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

Schedule 29 To undertake those duties 
which arise at District and 
Parish Council elections which, 
under the Representation of the 
People Acts, are required to be 
undertaken not by the Returning 
Officer but by the Proper Officer. 

Chief Executive  Head of Administrative 

Services 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1974 

S.30(5) To give notice that copies of an 

Ombudsman’s report are 

available 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

LOCAL LAND CHARGES ACT 1975 

 Local Land Charges Registrar 

under the Land  Charges Rules  

Chief Executive  Head of Legal Services 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

S.41(1) The Officer who will certify 

copies of evidence of  

resolutions and minutes of 

proceedings 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

REPRESENTATION OF THE PEOPLE ACT 1983 

Page 122



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.8 Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.35 Returning Officer for local 

elections 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.52(2) Deputy Electoral Registration 

Officer 

Head of 

Administrative 

Services 

Chief Executive 

S.67 Acting as the appropriate 

person for the purposes of Part 

II 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.128 Publishing a petition questioning 

a local election 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.131 Providing suitable 

accommodation for election 

court 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.145 Receipt of High Court Certificate 

at the conclusion of  trial of local 

election petition 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.200 Posting notices required in 

relation to local elections 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraphs 3, 6 and 8 of 

Schedule 4 

Receipt of an election expense 

declarations and returns and the 

holding of those documents for 

public inspection 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

PUBLIC HEALTH (CONTROL OF DISEASE) ACT 1984 

S.48 To issue certificates relative to 

the removal of bodies to 

mortuaries or for immediate 

burial 

All Lead 

Consultants from 

Public Health 

England (East 

Midlands) 

Chief Executive  

S.60 Service of notices and other 

documents 

Chief Executive  Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

s.61 Powers to enter premises Chief Executive  Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

BUILDING ACT 1984 

Page 123



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.35A Certifying evidence is sufficient 

to justify commencing 

proceedings for contravention of 

building regulations 

Chief Executive 

 

Head of Legal Services 

S.61 Access to work to repair drain Chief Executive Head of Legal 

Services/Chief 

Environmental  Health 

Officer 

S.78 Taking immediate action in 

relation to dangerous building 

Chief Executive Head of Legal 

Services/Chief 

Environmental Health 

Officer 

S.93 Authentication of documents Chief Executive Head of Legal Services 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL ACT 1985 

Part II Public Health  Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

Part III Public Order & Safety  Chief Executive Chief Environmental  

Health Officer 

Part IV  Establishments for massages or 

special treatment 

Chief Executive Chief Environmental  

Health Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT 1988 

S114A, 115 Responsibility for Chief 

Financial Officer Reports. 

Section 151 Officer Chief Executive 

S. 116 Notify auditor of meeting to 

consider financial report to the 

authority and decision at that 

meeting 

Section 151 Officer Chief Executive 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 

S.2(4) Recipient of the list of politically 

restricted posts 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

S.4 Designation and reports of head 

of paid service 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/S151 

Officer    

Chief Executive  

S.5 (as amended by 

para 24 of schedule 5 of 

Designation and reports of 

Monitoring Officer 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

Page 124



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

the Local Government 

Act 2000) 

S.15,16 To undertake all matters 

relating to the formal 

establishment of political groups 

within the membership of the 

Council 

Chief Executive Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (COMMITTEES AND POLITICAL GROUPS) REGULATIONS 1990 NO. 1553 

 For the purposes of the 

composition of Committees and 

nominations to political groups 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 

s.5(6) Authorised Officer for the 

purposes of the Council’s 

functions 

Chief Executive Environmental Health 

Officers and 

Environmental Health 

Technical Officers 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 

S.149 Relating to stray dogs Executive Director Head of Environment 

Part III Relating to statutory nuisances  Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

DATA PROTECTION ACT 1998 

 Data Protection Officer/Senior 

Information Risk         Owner 

Executive Director  Chief Executive 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 

s.36 (2) and (5) The qualified person for the 

purposes of deciding whether 

information is exempt from 

disclosure to the public relating 

to the prejudice to the conduct 

of public affairs 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

S.36 Determination of all exemptions 

apart from those relating to the 

prejudice to the conduct of 

public affairs 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

Page 125



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

S.52 Undertakings by Members and 

co-opted Members to observe 

the Council’s Code of Conduct 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 

 Authorising Officer and 

Designated Person for the use 

of surveillance and the 

acquisition and disclosure of 

communications data 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer , Head 

of Legal Services, 

Head of Housing, 

Head of Revs and 

Bens. 

Chief Executive  

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS AND DIRECTIONS) (ENGLAND) 

REGULATIONS 2011 NO. 2914 

Regulation 4 Publish the number that is equal 

to 5 per cent of the number of 

local government electors for 

the authority's area 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 7 Post announcement and post 

directions – petitions 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 8 Amalgamation of petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 11 Procedure on receipt of petition Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 13 Publicity for valid petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 14 Publicity for invalid petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 19 Action following direction Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 NO. 2089 

Regulation 12 Recording of Executive 

decisions made at meetings 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services  

Regulation 13 Recording of Executive 

decisions made by individual     

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services  

Page 126



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

Members 

Regulation 14 Making documents available for 

inspection following Executive 

decisions 

Monitoring Officer   Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 5 Compiling list of background 

papers for inspection 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Serviices 

Regulation 15 Making report and background 

papers relating to key decision 

available for inspection 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 7 Access to agenda and 

connected reports 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 9 Publicity in connection with key 

decisions 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 10 General exception Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 16 Members’ rights of access to 

documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Democratic 

Services 

Regulation 20 Confidential/exempt information 

and exclusion of  public from 

meetings 

Monitoring Officer Head of Democratic 

Services  

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2003 

Regulation 13 Receipt of notice in writing that 

a Councillor wishes to forgo any 

part of his entitlement to an 

allowance 

Chief Executive Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

HOUSING ACT 2004 

Section 4 Where an official complaint 

about the condition of any 

residential premises in the 

district of a local housing 

authority is made to the proper 

Officer of the authority, and the 

circumstances complained of 

indicate – 

a) That any category 1 or 
category 2 hazard may 
exist on those premises, or 

Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

Page 127



 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

b) That an area in the district 
should be dealt with as a 
clearance area, the proper 
Officer must inspect the 
premises or area. 

LOCAL ELECTIONS (PARISHES AND COMMUNITIES) (ENGLAND AND WALES) RULES 2006 NO. 

3305 

Rule 5 Receipt of request to fill a 

casual vacancy in the office of a 

Parish or Community Councillor 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraph 50 of 

Schedule 2 

Receipt of declaration of result 

in Parish or  Community election 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MAYORAL ELECTIONS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 

2007 NO.1024 

Paragraph 54 of 

Schedule 1 

Receive declaration of result Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (CONDUCT OF REFERENDUMS) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 NO 323 

Regulation 4 Publicity in connection with 

referendums 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraphs 41 and 43 

of Schedule 5 

Receive declaration of result Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 
 

 

 

 

 

Authentication of Documents 

Any notice, order or other document which the Council are authorised or required by or under 

any enactment (including the Local Government Act 1972) to give, make or issue shall be 

signed or sealed on behalf of the Council by the proper Officer of the Council as defined below. 

 

 

Proper Officer Substitute Purpose 

Page 128



 

 

 

 

Chief Executive Appropriate Member of GMT In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

Head of Finance Services In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Monitoring Officer Head of Planning & Economic 

Development  

Head of Administrative Services 

Head of Legal Services & Deputy 

Monitoring Officer 

In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Head of Legal Services Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Chief Environmental Health Officer  Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Head of Asset Management  Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Head of Planning and Economic 

Development  

 

Chief Executive 

 

 

In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Page 129



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Proper Officer functions 

 

 

 

Head of Housing  Chief Executive  In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 130



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

  

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

 

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES, INCLUDING 
CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 

To report on the annual review of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules, 
including the Contract Procedure Rules; to consider the proposed changes made 
to the rules and to recommend onto Council that these updated rules are adopted 
as part of the Council’s Constitution.   

 
2. Recommendation from the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee: 

19 June 2023 
 

RECOMMENDED to Council that the updated Financial Procedure Rules, 
including the Contract Procedure Rules, be approved. 
 

3. Detail 
 

Under its terms of reference, the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
is tasked with an overview of the Council’s Constitution and consideration of 
proposed amendments or revisions to the Constitution, including the Schemes 
of Delegation, Procedure Rules and Protocols; and to recommend to Council 
amendments to the Constitution. 
 

4. Considerations of the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee 
 

At its meeting on 19 June 2023, the Committee was informed that the annual 
review of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules, including the Contract 
Procedure Rules, had been completed.  These rules, formerly referred to as 
Financial Regulations and Contract Standing Orders, were designed to assist the 
Council to regulate and control the finances of all directorates and services.  
These rules are fundamental to maintaining acceptable standards of financial 
administration, supporting good governance and the performance of functions 
across all areas of service delivery.  As a contractual condition of employment, 
every employee shall comply with these rules when carrying out their duties. 
 
A brief overview and summary of the changes made to the rules are provided in 
appendix 1, whilst the updated versions of the Financial Procedure Rules and 
the Contract Procedure Rules are provided at appendix 3 and 4 respectively. 
 
The documents were benchmarked against other district councils and have been 
subsequently reviewed by General Management Team.  Whilst leading Members 
were provided with the opportunity to feedback on the existing regulations, it is 
acknowledged that there has only been limited time for Member engagement 
given the timing of the Borough elections.  It is noted though that the Financial 
Procedure Rules are subject to periodic review, so any further changes required 
can be considered again as part of the next annual review of the Constitution.   

Page 131

Agenda Item 8.2



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

  

5. Financial Implications 
 

The comments from the Head of Finance Services were as follows: 
 

The Financial Procedure Rules are designed to assist the Council to regulate 
and control the finances of all directorates and services of the Council.  The rules 
are fundamental to maintaining acceptable standards of financial administration, 
supporting good governance and the performance of functions across all areas 
of service delivery.   
 

6. Legal Implications 
 
The comments from the Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
were as follows:   
 
Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities operating 
executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a document which 
contains:  
 
(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct 
(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure) 
(c) the Code of Conduct for Members 
(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate.   
 
Broxtowe Borough Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s website 
 

7. Human Resources Implications 
 
There were no comments from the Human Resources Manager. 
 

8. Union Comments 
 
There were no Union comments in relation to this report. 
 

9. Data Protection Compliance Implications 
 
There are no Data Protection issues in relation to this report. 
 

10. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
As there is no change to policy an equality impact assessment is not required.   

 
11. Background Papers  

 
Nil 

  

Page 132



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

  

APPENDIX 1 
 
UPDATES TO FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. Financial Procedure Rules  

 
The Financial Procedure Rules (formerly referred to as Financial Regulations) 
are designed to assist the Council to regulate and control the finances of all 
directorates and services of the Council.  Section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 requires that ‘every local authority shall make arrangements for the 
proper administration of their financial affairs and shall secure that one of their 
Officers has responsibility for the administration of those affairs’.   
 
The Deputy Chief Executive is the ‘Section 151 Officer’ so responsible and, as 
such, he will exercise control over accounting arrangements and obtain 
uniformity therein throughout all directorates and services of the Council. 
 
The review of the Financial Procedure Rules has been undertaken to ensure 
these remain fit-for-purpose, comply with the relevant legislation and regulations 
and meet the current and future requirements of the Council.  The process has 
included a complete review of the rules and benchmarking against similar 
documents published by other local district councils.   
 
The existing Financial Regulations were found to be generally effective but did 
require some update in terms of process and to specified delegated limits, which 
have not been refreshed for many years. 
 
In addition to some minor wording updates, the main changes relate to the 
inclusion of new sections and increases in delegated limits which have not been 
updated in recent years, as follows: 
 

Section Updates 

2. Budget Updates to budget virement limits, with better clarification 
at 2.7.2 including delegated limits and for Cabinet 
approval to be required for amounts above the limit. 

New addition at 2.7.3 to allow for capital budget virement 
by the Deputy Chief Executive from any remaining 
approved capital contingency budget of up to £25k. 

4. Audits Slight refinement, particularly at 4.4, to better reflect the 
current Pubic Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
reference to counter fraud and corruption policy. 

5. Income Update of write-off limits at section 5.9 to increase the 
delegated limit from £1,200 to £7,500.  Benchmarking has 
suggested that this limit is still lower than some district 
authorities in Nottinghamshire. 

Page 133



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

  

Section Updates 

6. Banking Arrangements   

10. Payment of Accounts 

Minor updates to emphasise payments now by electronic 
methods with cheques only used in the most exceptional 
of circumstances. 

14. Council Assets and 
Properties 

Updated section title and at section 14.3 to increase 
delegated limit from £20k to £25k for all acquisitions and 
appropriations of land or property (except Council 
houses) and to refer to the addition of the new section 
‘Sale of Council Assets’ at 14.6 to 14.11 which has been 
moved from the earlier Contract Standing Orders. 

15. Stocks and Stores Update to stores write-off limits at 15.8 to increase the 
values before a report to Cabinet is required to approve 
the disposal of surplus or obsolete materials, stores or 
equipment.  This now aligns with delegated limits for debt 
write-off. 

21. External Arrangements New section inserted to refer to partnership arrangements 
and external funding 

24. Failure to comply with 
and Interpretation of Rules 

New addition at section  24.1 regarding failure to comply 
with rules. 

 
2. Contract Procedure Rules 
 

The review has been undertaken to ensure the Contract Procedure Rules are 
compliant with procurement regulations; meet the current needs of the Council; 
and allow for future procurement legislative requirements. 
 
The process has included a complete review of the document and benchmarking 
against similar documents published at local authorities, including Derby City 
Council, Nottingham City Council and Derbyshire Dales District Council. 
 
The main objectives underpinning the review were to: 
 

 Allow for greater flexibility in the Council’s approach to procurement 

 Allow for the implementation of new Procurement Regulations (UK 
Procurement Law) anticipated early 2024 

 Allow for changes in UK Procurement Thresholds; and  

 Structure the rules in a more logical order. 
 
The Contract Procedure Rules have been largely re-written.  The following table 
shows the list of the key areas for review, considered to be either important, new 
or materially changed: 

Page 134



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

  

 

Material Changes to Chapter 4 – Part 2 Financial Procedure Rules (Contracts) 
 

Section/Area Current Rules and Process Proposed Rules/Process Reason for Change 

Section 11.6/11.7 – 
Pre-Procurement 
Approvals 

 

Not applicable Where the Contract Value is above 
£25,000 or when procurement 
involvement is required, a Procurement 
Approval Form is to be completed by the 
Procuring Officer and signed by the 
Head of Service.  

A ‘Broxtowe Procurement’ (BP) 
reference number will be allocated to 
the process to uniquely identify the 
procurement project. 

There is no current pre-approval 
process for procurement projects. 
This proposed process will ensure 
Head of Service awareness and 
budget approval and allow 
transparency to the procurement 
officer of Council contracts. 

A unique reference number will help 
with audit trails and identifying 
particular projects. 

Section 28 – Award 
Procedure and 
Internal Approvals 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
approves contract awards 
above £25,000.  

The appropriate Committee 
can if a tender is above 
budget provision. 

For contracts values below £100,000 
and within the stated budget, Head of 
Service approval is required. If a 
competitive tendering process has been 
undertaken the Deputy Chief Executive 
needs to approve it. 

For contracts values in excess of 
£100,000 and within the stated budget, 
an evaluation report with a 
recommendation, should be presented 
to the Deputy Chief Executive for 
approval, unless previously decided that 
Cabinet approval is required. 

Updating the process to take account 
of the updated Contract Value 
thresholds in Appendix A and to 
make process clearer. It also adds 
the reminder of ‘Key decisions’ if 
report is going to Cabinet. 

P
age 135



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

  

Section/Area Current Rules and Process Proposed Rules/Process Reason for Change 

Where it has been decided before the 
procurement process that Cabinet 
approval is required, a report shall be 
submitted to Cabinet as to the bid that 
should be accepted and the basis for 
such a recommendation. Where the 
value of the expenditure / income is 
greater than £250,000 and affects more 
than two wards, it needs to meet the 
deadlines required for the Key Decision 
process. 

Section 30 and App 
B – Contract 
Approval and 
Signing 

 

Contract terms and 
conditions needed 
consultation with the Head of 
Legal Services and the 
Procurement Officer if value 
is below £25,000. 

 

. 

The contract only needs consultation 
with Head of Legal Services if below. 
£25,000. 

Confirmation that use of suppliers terms 
and conditions above £25,000 needs 
Head of Legal Services approval. 

Confirmation of types of contract 
signature that are acceptable. 

ICT to also give approval for ICT related 
contract terms and conditions. 

Unclear why the Procurement Officer 
also needed to see contract terms 
and conditions for values under 
£25,000.  

Added reference to use of suppliers 
terms and conditions. 

Added types of signature that are 
acceptable as there was no reference 
to this. 

Added ICT input for contracts relating 
to ICT to use their expertise. 

Section 36 - 
Information 
Communication 
Technology 

No distinction between ICT 
contracts and any other 
contract. 

Description of process and approvals 
relating to existing software. This may 
be ‘maintain’, ‘enhance’ existing 
software or ‘purchase’ new software. 

To formally document this process. 

P
age 136



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

  

Section/Area Current Rules and Process Proposed Rules/Process Reason for Change 

Section 40 – 
Externally Funded 
Projects 

 

No reference to managing 
projects that have external 
funding. 

Requirement to ensure procuring officer 
understands the rules for spending the 
external funding and to keep appropriate 
records. 

To make reference that the spend of 
external funding follows our 
procurement rules unless there are 
separate conditions relating to the 
granting of the external funding. 

Section 48 – 
Waivers (exemption 
to these Rules) 

 

Exemption to rules required 
from Chief Executive or 
Deputy Chief Executive and 
then reported to Committee 

Introduction of three types of waiver and 
detail on the process and reporting 
requirements. 

Deputy Chief Executive approval 
(Directorate Waiver), if Contract Value is 
below £100,000. 

Cabinet approval (Cabinet Waiver) if 
Contract Value is above £100,000 

Chief Executive or duly nominated 
representative approval (Urgent 
Waiver), if Contract Value is above 
£100,000, in cases of urgency. 

List of reasons provided for a Waiver. 

Requirement for Cabinet to approve 
‘waivers’ above £100,000. 

Clearer process proposed and 
reference to having a contract as 
limited information on current 
process.  

Allowance for ‘Directorate’ waiver to 
these rules to increase flexibility. All 
waivers to be justified and 
transparent. 

Classification of different levels of 
Waiver. 

Likely to increase transparency of 
such contracts as process is clearer 
and identifies areas where a contract 
may need tendering in the near 
future. 

Appendix A – 
Contract Values and 
procurement 
Processes 

 

Very Low Value – Below 
£1,000 Ensure Value for 
Money 

 

Very Low Value – Below £25,000 Senior 
Officer decides if quotes needed.  

Low Value – £25,000 to £100,000 – 
three quotes minimum to be requested. 

Increased thresholds to allow more 
flexibility and quicker procurement 
processes, still with the requirement 
of value for money.  

P
age 137



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

  

Section/Area Current Rules and Process Proposed Rules/Process Reason for Change 

Low Value - From £1,000 to 
£25,000 – Obtain three 
quotations (note) 

Medium Value - From 
£25,000 to OJEU threshold - 
Conduct Tender exercise 
(Procurement) 

Above Threshold - Over 
OJEU threshold - Conduct 
Tender exercise 

Note: The relevant Senior 
Officer (as defined in the 
Scheme of Delegation) can 
decide if quotations are needed 
and/or are appropriate in order 
to demonstrate Value for Money 

Medium Value – £100,001 to UK 
Procurement Threshold (Currently 
£177k) – Competitive Tendering 
Process  

High Value – Above UK Procurement 
Threshold (currently £177k) – 
Competitive Tendering Process as 
dictated by UK Procurement  

ICT Existing Software licensing and 
maintenance - Below UK Procurement 
Threshold – Direct Award if not 
tendering out. 

Increase in thresholds does not 
prevent competitive tendering below 
£100,000 if appropriate. 

Treating ICT Existing Software 
renewals so that direct awards are 
allowed up to the UK Procurement 
Threshold, when the process in 
section 36 has been followed. 

 

 
 

P
age 138



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

APPENDIX 2 
BROXTOWE BOROUGH COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 
CHAPTER 4 PART 1: FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES  
 

 

1. GENERAL 
 
1.1 This Code of Financial Procedure Rules is designed to assist the Council to 

regulate and control the finances of all directorates and services of the Council. 
 
1.2 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires that “every local 

authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial 
affairs and shall secure that one of their Officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs".  In Broxtowe Borough Council, the Deputy Chief 
Executive is the Officer so responsible (the ‘Section 151 Officer’). 

 
1.3  As such, the Deputy Chief Executive will exercise control over accounting 

arrangements and obtain uniformity therein throughout all directorates and 
services of the Council. 

 
1.4 Each Chief Officer shall consult the Deputy Chief Executive regarding any matter 

within their purview which is liable materially to affect the finances of the Council, 
before any provisional or other commitment is incurred or before reporting 
thereon to the Cabinet.  All Officers have responsibility for financial matters 
within their purview.  Chief Officers are responsible for developing estimates and 
the Deputy Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring that they are robust and 
that there are sufficient reserves to deal with any unforeseen circumstances. 

 
1.5 In these Financial Procedure Rules a reference to an Act of Parliament or 

Statutory Instrument includes a reference to any amendment or replacement to 
that Act or Instrument, or any consolidating re-enactment of it. 

 
1.6 Any reference in these Financial Procedure Rules to a named Officer shall be 

deemed to include: 
 
(i) a reference to any Officer who may at any time succeed to or carry out the 

functions of that named Officer (whether as a result of departmental 
reorganisation, change of post title or otherwise) 

 
(ii) a reference to any Officer who is duly authorised by the named Officer to 

perform the relevant functions. 
 
1.7 Any references to Chief Officer include the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 

Executive when he or she is operating in the capacity of a Chief Officer. 
 
  

Page 139



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
2. BUDGET 
 
2.1 The detailed form of capital and revenue estimates shall be determined by the 

Deputy Chief Executive in a manner consistent with the general directions of 
Cabinet for further consideration by full Council. 

 
2.2 Estimates of income and expenditure on revenue and capital accounts shall 

jointly be prepared by Chief Officers and the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
2.3 Upon the approval by the Council of the revenue budget and programme of 

capital expenditure, the Chief Officer concerned shall be authorised to take steps 
to ensure that the budget and the programme, as amended from time to time, 
are implemented (with the exception of asterisked items, which require the prior 
approval of Cabinet), and provided that the expenditure on both capital and 
revenue accounts does not exceed the approved estimate. 

 
2.4 Any proposal to Cabinet which would involve the incurring of expenditure shall 

be accompanied by a report of the Chief Officer concerned, indicating the 
sufficiency or otherwise of the relevant financial provision in the budget and/or 
the capital programme. 

 
2.5 A medium term financial strategy, providing a forward assessment of the 

commitments of the Council, shall be produced as deemed necessary by the 
Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
2.6 Where it appears that the amount of any estimate of approved expenditure may 

be exceeded or the amount of any approved income may not be reached, it shall 
be the duty of the Chief Officer concerned, after consultation with the Deputy 
Chief Executive, to inform Cabinet unless the additional cost can be contained 
within overall expenditure totals and met by approved virement within the limits 
specified below. 

 
2.7 Amendment to Revenue Budgets – Virement 
 
2.7.1  The object should be to avoid the transfer of estimates and this is best achieved 

by sound and detailed estimating together with the accurate coding of 
expenditure during the year in accordance with the provisions made.   

 
2.7.2  Where it is desired to transfer funds between expenditure budgets, the following 

procedure shall be adopted, with the Deputy Chief Executive consulted in every 
case, to effect the necessary amendments to the approved budgets: 
 
(i) Transfer between detailed budget codes within a particular cost centre up 

to a cumulative limit of £25,000 within each financial year (subject to 
exclusions at 2.7.2 below) can be authorised by the relevant Head of 
Service (as set out in the Scheme of Delegation at sections 7.3.1 to 7.3.11 
inclusive), in conjunction with the Deputy Chief Executive, and actioned 
by Finance Services.   
 

Page 140



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

(ii) Transfer between cost centres within a particular directorate / service 
area, up to a cumulative limit of £25,000 within each financial year, can 
be authorised by the Deputy Chief Executive following a request from the 
relevant Chief Officer.  For any individual request between £25,000 and 
£50,000, the Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Officer concerned 
should consult with the relevant Portfolio Holder for the service regarding 
the action taken.  Any individual request above £50,000 will require the 
approval of Cabinet, having been recommended by the Deputy Chief 
Executive and the relevant Chief Officer.  All transfers to be actioned by 
Finance Services. 

 
(iii) Transfer between corporate priority areas is subject to the appropriate 

authorisation of the Deputy Chief Executive (up to the £25,000) or the 
approval of Cabinet over this delegated limit. 

 
2.7.2  No virement shall be undertaken with the purpose of utilising additional income 

for expenditure purposes and/or out of savings on payroll budgets without the 
express consent of the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
2.7.3  Virement between capital budgets is not allowed, including virement between 

revenue and capital budgets.  It is, however, permissible for any approved capital 
contingency to be utilised and transfer requests for urgent works from 
contingencies can be authorised by the Deputy Chief Executive up to a value of 
£25,000 per scheme, subject to the limitation within the approved annual 
contingency budget. 

 
2.7.4  There shall be no carry forward of any underspending on budgets into the 

following financial year without the express authorisation of the Deputy Chief 
Executive and the approval of Cabinet.  When considering any applications for 
carry forwards, the Deputy Chief Executive shall consider the overall budget 
position of the Council. 

 
2.7.5  The Deputy Chief Executive is authorised to introduce additional restrictions on 

virement. 
 
3. ACCOUNTING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
3.1 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be responsible for the financial organisation 

and accounting necessary to ensure the proper recording of all sums due from 
and accruing to the Council and for overseeing arrangements for the collection, 
custody, control, accounting and disposal of all monies including cash.  The 
Deputy Chief Executive shall advise on proper accounting systems for the 
control of all assets (including stores) and, in liaison with other Chief Officers, 
ensure that proper standards of financial administration are maintained 
throughout the Council's business. 

  

Page 141



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
3.2 The Chief Officer of the directorate concerned shall consult the Deputy Chief 

Executive as to the form and manner of undertaking financial transactions and 
keeping financial records, statements and accounts.   No change shall be made 
to any such system or matter without the Deputy Chief Executive's prior 
approval. 

 
3.3 Financial records shall not be disposed of other than in accordance with the 

arrangements approved by the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
3.4 The following principles shall be observed in the allocation of accounting 

responsibilities: 
 
a) the duties of providing information regarding amounts due to or from the 

Council and of calculating, checking and recording these amounts shall be 
separated as completely as possible from the duties of collecting or 
disbursing them. 

 
b) Officers charged with the duty of examining and checking the accounts of 

cash transactions shall not themselves be engaged in any of those 
transactions. 

 
3.5 A Chief Officer shall be able to transfer, subject to the Deputy Chief Executive's 

prior approval, individual capital or revenue estimates within the limits specified 
in these rules.  Such revenue transfers shall be limited to estimates other than 
for recharges, capital charges, and estimates provided for specific items of 
expenditure. 

 
3.6 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be kept informed by the appropriate Chief 

Officer of any change in charges or in fees determined by legislation and shall 
be consulted in relation to any other proposal to introduce new or amend existing 
charges for work done, services rendered, goods supplied, fees, tolls, scales of 
rent or similar income and any scale for the remission of sums due to the Council 
either wholly or in part.  The appropriate Chief Officer, in consultation with the 
Deputy Chief Executive, shall review existing charges at least annually and shall 
report upon the results of such a review to Cabinet. 

 
3.7 Chief Officers shall furnish the Deputy Chief Executive with such information as 

they may reasonably require from time to time in connection with the financial 
administration of the Council. 

 
3.8 The Deputy Chief Executive shall produce, for the guidance of Officers 

responsible for incurring expenditure, such financial information as may be 
necessary for the efficient conduct of their functions. 

 
3.9 The Deputy Chief Executive shall prepare a statement of all accounts of the 

Council after the close of each financial year.  They shall prepare or liaise with 
the directorates concerned and with partner organisations in the preparation of 
financial returns required by government departments or other agencies. 

 

Page 142



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

3.10 Where an employee of the Council operates on behalf of the Council and/or 
Mayor an unofficial fund or funds as part of their duties or in connection with their 
duties, Chief Officers shall ensure that Proper Officers are appointed to 
administer the fund and that the fund is audited by persons having knowledge of 
the purpose of the fund.  Any proposed unofficial funds shall have the prior 
approval of Chief Officers who shall maintain a record of all such funds and 
receive the audited accounts thereof.  Such accounts shall be prepared annually 
or at the completion of the purpose for which the fund was set up, whichever is 
the earlier.  The Deputy Chief Executive shall have access to any records 
relating to such funds. 

 
4. AUDITS 
 
4.1     The Deputy Chief Executive shall ensure that an adequate and effective audit is 

undertaken of the Council’s accounting records and of its system of risk 
management, control and governance processes in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
4.2 The role of Internal Audit is defined within the Internal Audit Charter, as 

periodically reviewed by the Chief Audit and Control Officer and approved by the 
Governance, Audit and Standards Committee. The work of Internal Audit is 
performed in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and other 
associated guidance.   

 
4.3     Internal Audit has been established to provide independent, objective assurance 

to the Council on its operations and to add value by assisting management to 
improve the delivery of the Council’s objectives and operations through 
evaluating and challenging the effectiveness of risk management, control and 
governance processes. 

 
4.4     In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the work of the 

Internal Audit Service is performed utilising a risk-based approach. Primarily, 
this approach is made through the production and delivery of an annual Internal 
Audit Plan, based on an independent risk assessment of all aspects of the 
Council’s operations in conjunction with Chief Officers, Heads of Service and 
other Senior Managers. Other ad-hoc reviews of specific areas of operations 
may also be occasionally performed at the request of the relevant Chief Officer. 

 
4.5  The Deputy Chief Executive, or their authorised representative, if required to do 

so for the purposes of the internal audit, shall have authority to: 
 
a) enter at all reasonable times on any Council premises or land; 
 
b) call for the production of all records, documents (including information 

recorded in an electronic form), cash, stores, correspondence or other 
Council property in the custody or under the control of any employee of 
the Council as are considered necessary by those conducting the internal 
audit; 

 

Page 143



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

c) require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any 
matter under examination. 

 
4.6 Officers shall ensure adherence to the Council’s anti-fraud and corruption 

prevention policies and ensure that all suspected irregularities are reported 
accordingly.  The Deputy Chief Executive shall be notified forthwith, by the 
respective Chief Officer, of any circumstances which suggest the possibility of 
irregularity affecting cash, stores or other property of the Council.  Any 
irregularity shall be investigated and reported upon by the Chief Audit and 
Control Officer to the Deputy Chief Executive who shall, where appropriate, 
inform the Chief Officer of the circumstances concerned.  If fraud or serious 
irregularity is disclosed, the matter shall be reported to the Chief Executive. 

 
4.7 The Deputy Chief Executive shall submit accounts and documents to the 

Council's external auditors and give any explanation required by them in the 
performance of their duties. 

 
5. INCOME 
 
5.1 The collection of all money due to the Council shall be under the control and 

supervision of the Deputy Chief Executive. It is the responsibility of departments 
to ensure that sundry debtor invoices are raised where appropriate in respect of 
debts to the Council. 

 
5.2 All receipt forms, tickets, books and other documents of a similar nature shall be 

ordered under the direction of the Deputy Chief Executive, who shall be satisfied 
as to the arrangements for their control and issue.  No receipts shall be given 
except on an authorised form. 

 
5.3 All monies received by an Officer on behalf of the Council shall be properly 

safeguarded and without delay paid to the Deputy Chief Executive or as they 
may direct to the Council's bank account.  No deduction may be made from such 
money save to the extent that the Deputy Chief Executive may specifically 
authorise.  Any refunds of overpayments must be made through the payments 
system and not out of income.  Each Officer who so banks money shall enter on 
the paying-in slip a reference to the related debt (such as the receipt number or 
the name of the debtor) or otherwise indicate the origin of the money. 

 
5.4 All cheques shall be crossed specifically to the account of the Council when 

received. 
 
5.5 Personal cheques shall not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the 

Council. 
 
5.6 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be notified promptly of all money due to the 

Council and of contracts, leases and other agreements and arrangements 
entered into which involve the receipt of money by the Council.  They shall have 
the right to inspect any document or other evidence in this connection, as he or 
she may decide. 

 

Page 144



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

5.7 Each Chief Officer shall furnish the Deputy Chief Executive with such particulars 
in connection with work done, goods supplied or services rendered and of all 
other amounts due, as may be required by them to record correctly all sums due 
to the Council and to ensure the prompt rendering of accounts for the recovery 
of such sums. 

 
5.8 Every transfer of official money from one Officer to another will be evidenced in 

the records of the department concerned by the signature of the receiving Officer 
unless instructions to the contrary are issued by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
5.9 The Deputy Chief Executive, after consultation with the Head of Legal Services 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer, shall recommend to Cabinet to write off amounts 
deemed to be irrecoverable, subject to individual amounts of £7,500 or less, and 
debts claimed and admitted under the provisions of the Insolvency Act 1985, 
being written off at their discretion.  Items in excess of the delegated limit shall 
be referred to Cabinet for approval on the recommendation of the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

 
5.10 The Deputy Chief Executive will provide departments with an aged profile of 

outstanding debt on a monthly basis.  Departments will be required to analyse 
this information and ensure that appropriate further action is taken where 
necessary.  

 
5.11 The Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the appropriate Chief Officer, 

shall submit periodical reports to the relevant Committee on the collection of 
income and the level of arrears. 

 
6. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
6.1 All arrangements with the Council's bankers concerning the Council's banking 

arrangements and the issue of payments, including cheques, shall be made by 
or under arrangements approved by the Deputy Chief Executive.  The Deputy 
Chief Executive shall be authorised to operate such subsidiary banking accounts 
as they may consider necessary. 

 
6.2 All cheques shall be ordered only on the authority of the Deputy Chief Executive 

who shall make proper arrangements for their safe custody. 
 
6.3 a) Payments drawn on banking accounts of the Council shall bear the 

signature of the Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
b) Payments by cheque for amounts of £5,000 or above shall include a 

second signature of an authorised Officer in addition to that of the Deputy 
Chief Executive. 

 
6.4 Overdrafts shall not be permitted on subsidiary bank accounts. 
 
6.5 Banking accounts shall be reconciled with cash books at least once in each 

month. 

Page 145



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
7. TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
7.1 All money in the hands of the Council shall be aggregated for the purposes of 

treasury management and shall be under the control of the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

 
7.2 All Executive decisions on borrowing, investment, financing and all other 

Treasury Management transactions shall be delegated to the Deputy Chief 
Executive or through them to their Officers, who shall all be required to act in 
accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code 
of Practice; the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities; 
and the rules and procedures laid down in the Council's Treasury Policy 
Statement, and Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 
7.3  The Deputy Chief Executive shall be the Council's Registrar of Stocks, Bonds 

and Mortgages and shall maintain records of all borrowing of money by the 
Council. 

 
7.4 Within the approved Capital Programme, where finance is to be provided by way 

of lease, the Deputy Chief Executive shall have authority to arrange such leases. 
 
7.5 The Deputy Chief Executive may make arrangements for the issue of negotiable 

securities only within the limits authorised from time to time by resolution of the 
Council. 

 
7.6 All borrowings and investments shall be effected in the name of the Council. 
 
7.7 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be responsible for the safe custody of all 

securities. 
 
7.8 The Deputy Chief Executive shall periodically report to Cabinet and the 

Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on the activities of the treasury 
management operation and on the exercise of treasury management powers 
delegated to them.  Such reports shall include at least a mid-year review of each 
year in question and an annual report on treasury management for presentation 
by 31 July of the succeeding financial year. 

 
8. IMPREST ACCOUNTS 
 
8.1 The Deputy Chief Executive shall make such advances as they consider 

appropriate for the purpose of defraying petty cash and other expenses.  Such 
accounts shall be maintained on the imprest system.  A receipt shall be signed 
in respect of each advance by the Officer concerned who shall be responsible 
to account therefrom. 

  

Page 146



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
8.2 No income received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an imprest 

account.  All such income must be paid to the Deputy Chief Executive or direct 
to the Council's banking account, as provided elsewhere in these Financial 
Regulations.  No cheques are to be cashed from cash imprest accounts. 

 
8.3 Vouchers for petty cash disbursements shall be obtained wherever possible and 

all vouchers shall be carefully preserved and forwarded to the Deputy Chief 
Executive with a claim for reimbursement at such period as shall be arranged 
with them. 

 
8.4 Payment out of petty cash advances shall be limited to minor items of 

expenditure only and to such other items as the Deputy Chief Executive may 
approve.  In no case shall the amount of any individual payment exceed £50 
except by special arrangement with the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
8.5 All petty cash accounts shall be certified as correct by the Chief Officer 

concerned or other responsible person expressly authorised by them.  When 
required by the Deputy Chief Executive, an Officer holding an imprest account 
shall certify the state of the account. 

 
8.6 Chief Officers shall be responsible for ensuring that all cash balances are kept 

in a safe place and secure from unauthorised interference. 
 
8.7 On leaving the employment of the Council or otherwise ceasing to hold an 

imprest balance, an Officer shall account to the Deputy Chief Executive for the 
amount advanced to them. 

 
9. ORDERS FOR GOODS, SERVICES AND MINOR WORKS 
 
9.1 The custody and issue of all electronic and paper based Purchase Orders shall 

be maintained within the computerised financial management system under the 
direction of the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
9.2 The appropriate Chief Officer shall be responsible for all orders issued from their 

directorate.  A list of all persons authorised to sign orders electronically or in 
writing shall be maintained by the Deputy Chief Executive and agreed with the 
relevant Chief Officers.  No Officer shall authorise an order using any name or 
computerised registration other than their own. The authorising of the order shall 
indicate the following: 
 
a) that the goods or services are necessary for the discharge of 

responsibilities of the Council or to carry out functions approved by the 
Council under Section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972; 

 
b) that there is provision for the cost within the approved annual estimates, 

supplementary estimate or special financial provision; 
 
c) that Financial Procedure Rules have been complied with. 

 

Page 147



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

9.3 Official electronic and paper-based orders shall be in a form agreed by the 
Deputy Chief Executive and, where possible, shall indicate clearly the nature 
and/or quantity of work, goods or services required and any contract or agreed 
prices relating thereto.  Electronically produced orders will be serially numbered 
and will be stored within the computerised financial management system.    
Paper-based order books will only be utilised in exceptional circumstances 
where access to the electronic based ordering system is not available. 

 
9.4 All orders should specify that goods supplied must be accompanied by a delivery 

note and that invoices must be sent to the directorate or establishment issuing 
the orders as soon as possible after the despatch of the goods.   

 
9.5 Orders on official pre-determined forms shall be issued for all works, goods and 

services to be supplied to the Council.  Orders are not required for rents, rates 
or supplies of public utility services, nor for small purchases properly paid for by 
corporate purchasing cards or out of petty cash imprest accounts.  Other 
exceptions must be agreed by the Chief Officer concerned with the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

 
9.6 Verbal orders shall be kept to a minimum and given only in cases of urgency, by 

an Officer authorised to sign the relevant order.  They shall be confirmed either 
the same or next working day by electronic or written orders which shall be 
marked accordingly. 

 
9.7 Each order shall conform with the directions of the Council with respect to central 

purchasing, the standardisation of supplies and materials and the Council’s 
Procurement and Commissioning Strategy. 

 
9.8 An exception exists to sections 9.4, 9.5 and 9.6 where corporate purchasing 

cards are used.  This is dealt with in section 11 below. 
 
10. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
10.1 The payment of all accounts due from the Council shall be made by the Deputy 

Chief Executive, with the exception of payments made using corporate 
purchasing cards or from imprest or petty cash accounts.  Payments shall be 
made by electronic payment (BACS) or other instrument drawn on the Council's 
banking account.  Cheques are only used in exceptional circumstances. 

 
10.2 Each Chief Officer shall arrange for invoices to be sent to the directorate or 

establishment issuing the orders, in accordance with directions to be specified 
on the orders and the supplier shall be asked to quote the name of the 
department, the number of the order and the place where the work was done or 
goods delivered. 

 
10.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all invoices are scanned and 

images made available within the financial management system. 
  

Page 148



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
10.4 Invoices shall not be made out by Officers of the Council except in any cases or 

category of cases agreed by the Deputy Chief Executive, nor shall any Officer 
add any item to an invoice tendered by a supplier.  Any amendment to an 
account shall be made in ink on the invoice and initialled by the Officer making 
it, briefly stating the reasons where they are not self-evident.  The invoice should 
then be re-scanned and indexed if necessary to show any amendment made. 

 
10.5 The certification of accounts for payment shall be by the Chief Officer concerned 

or by an Officer authorised by them.  A list of the Officers authorised to certify 
accounts and the respective limits on individual transaction value shall be 
maintained by the Deputy Chief Executive and agreed from time-to-time with the 
relevant Chief Officer.  Authorised officers should ensure that such limits are not 
exceeded.  Where limits are exceeded unintentionally, then the Deputy Chief 
Executive should immediately be informed. 

 
10.6 The Chief Officer issuing an order shall be responsible for the examination, 

verification, processing and certification of the relevant invoice(s) and, similarly, 
for any other payment vouchers or accounts arising from sources in their 
directorate.  The processing and certification of any invoice by or on behalf of a 
Chief Officer shall mean: 
 
a) that the goods have been received, examined and approved as to quality 

and quantity, or that service rendered or work done has been performed 
satisfactorily; 

 
b) that, where appropriate, the goods or services conform with the order; 
 
c) that the price is in accordance with the quotation, contract or current market 

rate, whichever is applicable, or is otherwise reasonable; 
 
d) that all trade and cash discounts, other proper allowances and credits due 

and Value Added Tax are correct; 
 
e) that the expenditure has been properly incurred, was duly authorised, is 

within the relevant estimate provision and that the allocations are correct; 
 
f) that the account is arithmetically correct; 
 
g) that the account has not previously been passed for payment and is a 

proper liability of the Council; 
 
h) that appropriate entries have been made in inventories, goods received 

and/or stores records which are required to be kept; 
 
i) that the account has been correctly entered into the computerised 

purchasing/payments system. 
 
10.7 The invoice submitted for payment should be cross referenced to any official 

order numbers. 

Page 149



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
10.8 The duties of completing and certifying orders shall not be performed by the 

same Officer, subject to the Deputy Chief Executive being informed where such 
separation of duties is in any individual instance impracticable. 

 
10.9 All copy invoices or statements processed for payment must be certified to show 

that payment has not previously been made for the goods or services in question 
and that appropriate checks have been made to this effect, except where firms 
normally submit copy invoices and the directorate has notified the Deputy Chief 
Executive accordingly. This certification should be entered onto the copy invoice 
or statement as appropriate and the document should be re-scanned or indexed 
if necessary to show this certification. 

 
10.10 Duly checked and authorised accounts shall be processed for payment without 

delay. The Deputy Chief Executive shall examine them to the extent that they 
consider necessary, for which purpose he or she shall be entitled to make such 
enquiries and to receive such information and explanations as he or she may 
require. 

 
10.11 Subject to the foregoing Financial Procedure Rules being complied with, the 

Deputy Chief Executive shall, within a reasonable period, pay all accounts 
passed to them for payment and shall ensure the prompt payment of such of 
those accounts as are of an urgent nature. 

 
10.12 Each Chief Officer shall, as soon as possible after 31 March in each year, and 

in any case not later than a date to be specified by the Deputy Chief Executive, 
submit to the Deputy Chief Executive schedules of all outstanding revenue and 
capital accounts relating to the previous financial year and, when such accounts 
are subsequently processed for payment, they shall be identified accordingly.   

 
11. USE OF CORPORATE PURCHASING CARDS 
 
11.1 Where purchases are made using a corporate purchasing card, orders will not 

be required but details should be maintained of all purchases made in 
accordance with procedures laid down by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
11.2 Corporate purchasing cards should only be used for Council purchases, unless 

in exceptional circumstances and with the prior agreement of the Deputy Chief 
Executive.  Usage should be in accordance with the conditions of use as laid 
down by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
11.3 Limits exist as to individual transactions and cumulative credit allowed on each 

card.  Authorised users should ensure that such limits are not exceeded.  Where 
limits are exceeded unintentionally, then the Deputy Chief Executive should 
immediately be informed. 

 
11.4 Corporate purchasing cards are the personal responsibility of those users to 

whom they are issued.  Such authorised users should not pass their card or card 
details to other individuals to use it on their behalf without the prior approval of 
the Deputy Chief Executive. 

Page 150



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
11.5 All endeavours shall be made by the card user to obtain a VAT receipt for the 

transactions made. 
 
11.6 It is not permitted for any Officer using a corporate purchasing card to use their 

own personal shopper loyalty cards to obtain points and/or cash for personal 
gain when making transactions on behalf of the Council.  

 
12. CONTRACTS FOR BUILDING, CONSTRUCTIONAL AND ENGINEERING 

WORK 
 
12.1 All contracts entered into by the Council shall be subject to the Council's 

Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
12.2 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be informed as soon as possible of all 

contracts, agreements, awards or other instruments involving the payment or 
receipt of money on behalf of the Council.  Any variations or extras agreed on 
behalf of the Council shall be reported by the appropriate Chief Officer to the 
Deputy Chief Executive.  Where such variations or extras cannot be contained 
within the approved estimate, they shall be subject to the prior approval of 
Cabinet. 

 
12.3 Where contracts provide for payment to be made by instalments, the Deputy 

Chief Executive shall arrange for the maintenance of a contracts register to show 
the state of accounts between the Council and the contractor, together with any 
other payments and the related professional fees. 

 
12.4 All payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be on the basis of a 

certificate signed by the Chief Officer concerned or their authorised Officer, even 
where outside consultants have been employed.  The certificate shall show the 
total amount of the contract, the value of approved variations thereto, the value 
of work done and the date of valuation, any amount deducted by way of 
retention, the amount previously paid and the amount now due for payment. 

 
12.5 The Officer designated as Engineer or Architect in any contract for building, civil 

engineering or mechanical installations shall be the Officer responsible for the 
issue of all interim and final certificates or for the issue of variation orders.  Every 
variation in any contract shall be authorised in writing by the Chief Officer or a 
duly authorised Officer. 

 
12.6 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be informed of any variation considered 

essential in the exercise of professional judgement or other circumstances 
which, after allowing for contingencies already encountered, increases the total 
authorised amount of the contract. 

 
12.7 If, at any time, it appears to the Chief Officer or to the person appointed to 

supervise the contract that the tender sum or total authorised amount of the 
contract may be exceeded by more than 10%, then a report of the circumstances 
shall be submitted to Cabinet for approval at the earliest opportunity. 

 

Page 151



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

12.8 Notwithstanding Rule 12.7 and in accordance with section 2 above relating to 
budgetary control and virement, if it appears to the Chief Officer or person 
appointed that the tender sum or the total authorised amount of a contract may 
be exceeded and cannot be contained within the annual estimates or by 
virement within the limits allowed, then such additional expenditure should not 
be incurred or authorised without the prior approval of Cabinet. 

 
12.9 A final certificate of payment under contract shall not be issued, except upon the 

requirements of a particular contract by the Chief Officer or duly authorised 
person acting as supervising Officer, until: 
 
a) they have made available to the Deputy Chief Executive a detailed 

statement of account together with such vouchers, documents and 
information as the Deputy Chief Executive may require relating to prime 
cost items, quantities, variations, rates, additions or omissions, 

 
b) the Deputy Chief Executive shall have been supplied with a certificate of 

the completion of the work, 
 
c) the Deputy Chief Executive shall have agreed the amount to be certified, 
 
 Nothing in this Rule shall in any way detract from the responsibilities of the 
supervising Officer or of any other technical Officer having any duty towards the 
contract. 

 
12.10 The Deputy Chief Executive shall, to the extent they consider necessary, 

examine final accounts for contracts and they shall be entitled to make all such 
enquiries and receive such information and explanations as they may require in 
order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 

 
12.11 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the terms of any 

existing contract shall be referred to the Deputy Chief Executive for financial 
consideration and to the Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
for consideration of the Council’s legal liability before settlement is reached. 

 
12.12 Where completion of a contract is delayed it shall be the duty of the technical 

Officer concerned to take appropriate action in respect of any claim for liquidated 
damages and to report their action to Cabinet. 

 
12.13 Every architect, engineer or other consultant appointed for the purpose of any 

contract for building, constructional or engineering works, whether as 
supervising Officer or otherwise, shall on engagement be placed under an 
obligation to conform to the requirements of the Financial Procedure Rules. 

 
12.14 No site work on schemes for which a borrowing approval, subsidy approval or 

grant approval is required shall be started prior to the receipt of such approval.  
A copy of each appropriate approval must be forwarded to the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

 

Page 152



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

12.15 All Officers and Members are required to provide a declaration of interest to the 
Monitoring Officer where contracts are entered into or orders placed with a third 
party where the Officer or Member concerned may have cause to be affected 
financially or otherwise by the decision.  Further guidance is contained in the 
Member and Officer Codes of Conduct or may be obtained from the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
13. SALARIES AND WAGES 
 
13.1 After taking account of the requisite arrangements outlined in section 3 of these 

rules, the payment of all salaries, wages and other emoluments to all employees 
or former employees of the Council shall be made by the Executive Director, in 
conjunction with the Chief Executive, who shall approve the method of payroll 
preparation and payment and the form of documents used and records 
maintained. 

 
13.2 Each Chief Officer shall, as regards employees in their department, notify the 

Executive Director, the Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Executive (for the 
Payroll, Human Resources and Finance Services teams who hold establishment 
records and budgets and make payments) as soon as possible and in the form 
prescribed by them of all matters affecting the payment of such emoluments, in 
particular: 
 
a) appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, secondments and 

transfers; 
 
b) absence from duty for sickness or other reason apart from approved leave; 
 
c) changes in remuneration other than normal increments and pay awards 

and agreements of general application; 
 
d) information necessary to maintain records of service for superannuation, 

income tax and national insurance, and of a like nature. 
 
13.3 Appointments of all employees shall be made in accordance with the policies 

and regulations of the Council and the approved establishments, grades and 
rates of pay. 

 
13.4 Each Chief Officer shall ensure that adequate records of all time worked are 

maintained in respect of all employees and that the terms and conditions of the 
work specifications are adhered to.  The following procedures shall be observed 
in connection with the preparation, allocation and certification of attendance 
sheets: 
 
a) attendance sheets shall be prepared, from the details held in each 

operational area, and be authorised by the Chief Officer of the directorate 
or by any Officers authorised by them, in manuscript and in the authorised 
Officers own name, 

 

Page 153



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

b) attendance sheets shall include a record of all employees in that 
department, and provide a record of the hours worked by each employee 
along with leave, overtime and sickness details, 

 
c) operational managers are required to maintain such records as may be 

required by the Chief Officer of the directorate concerned, in order that the 
accuracy of the hours claimed may be ensured. 

 
13.5 The names of Officers authorised to sign time records or other pay documents 

shall be periodically sent to the Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Executive 
together with specimen signatures.  All amendments to the list of such names 
shall be notified to the Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Executive in writing. 

 
13.6 Attendance sheets and other payroll data shall be forwarded to the Chief 

Executive to comply with such deadlines as may be required. 
 
14. COUNCIL ASSETS AND PROPERTIES 
 
14.1 There shall be maintained a terrier/register of all properties owned by the Council 

(except dwellings provided under the Housing Acts) in a form agreed between 
the Head of Asset Management, the Head of Housing and the Deputy Chief 
Executive, recording the purpose for which the asset is held, location, extent, 
plan reference, purchase details, particulars of nature of interest, rents payable 
and particulars of tenancies granted.  The Deputy Chief Executive will ensure 
that a revaluation programme is agreed to ensure that up-to-date valuations of 
assets are provided on the asset register. 

 
14.2 The Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer shall have the 

custody of all title deeds under secure arrangements agreed with the Deputy 
Chief Executive. 

 
14.3 All acquisitions and appropriations of land or property (except Council houses) 

exceeding £25,000 in value shall be referred to Cabinet for approval.  The 
purchase of former Council houses and/or other land and property for Housing 
purposes will be authorised in accordance with policies and financial limits 
agreed and periodically reviewed by Cabinet.  For all disposals of land, property 
or equipment (excluding Council housing) refer to sections 14.6 to 14.11 below. 

 
14.4 Lettings, negotiations and settlement of leases and rents for Council-owned land 

or property (except Council houses) where the annual rental exceeds £10,000 
shall be referred to Cabinet for approval.  In respect of properties in Beeston 
Square only, lettings, negotiations and settlement of leases and rent for Council 
owned land or property where the annual rental exceeds £100,000 shall be 
referred to Cabinet for approval. 

 
14.5 All easements, licences or other rights or interests affecting land whether 

granted or to be granted to or by the Council resulting in an annual rental in 
excess of £10,000, or a capital consideration in excess of £20,000, shall be 
referred to the Cabinet for approval. 

 

Page 154



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

Sale of Council Assets  
 

14.6 All disposals of land, property or equipment (excluding Council housing) 
estimated to be below £25,000 in value shall only be disposed of with the prior 
approval of the appropriate Senior Officer acting in accordance with the agreed 
policy governing the disposal of land and property owned by the Council and 
any other policy agreed from time to time by full Council and/or Cabinet. 

 
14.7 All disposals of land, property or equipment (excluding Council housing) 

estimated to be between £25,000 and £100,000 in value shall only be disposed 
of with the prior approval of the appropriate Chief Officer acting in accordance 
with the agreed policy governing the disposal of land and property owned by the 
Council and any other policy agreed from time to by full Council and/or Cabinet. 

 
14.8 All disposals of land, property or equipment (excluding Council housing) 

estimated to exceed £100,000 in value shall only be disposed of with the prior 
approval of Cabinet.  In such cases Cabinet will decide upon the details of 
disposal having regard to the approved policy governing disposal of land and 
property owned by the Council and any other policy agreed from time to time by 
a by full Council and/or Cabinet. 

 
14.9 Wherever possible, the sale of assets by bid will be conducted electronically 

using the Council’s preferred e-Tendering portal. 
 
14.10 Bids shall remain in the custody of the Deputy Chief Executive or an Officer of 

the Council designated by them until they are opened. Where bids are not 
electronic, they shall be opened at one time, by the appropriate Senior Officer, 
in the presence of the Deputy Chief Executive or his/her representative. 
Commercial details within the bids shall be immediately initialled and dated by 
those present at the opening. The names of the bidders and the amounts of the 
bids shall be immediately recorded in a register kept by the Deputy Chief 
Executive and the persons present at the opening of such bids shall record their 
presence in the said register. 

 
14.11 The appropriate Senior Officer shall accept the highest offer received subject to 

scrutiny and shall report the acceptance to Cabinet. 
 
15. STOCKS AND STORES 
 
15.1 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for the care and custody of the stocks 

and stores in their directorate. 
 
15.2 The method of valuation of stores shall be approved by the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the appropriate Chief Officer, and all stores 
accounts and records controlling the receipt and issue of stores and equipment 
shall be kept in a form to be approved by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
15.3 The Deputy Chief Executive shall be entitled to check stores and to receive from 

each Chief Officer such information as they require in relation to stores for the 
accounting, costing and financial records of the Council. 

Page 155



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
15.4 Stocks shall not be held in excess of normal requirements, except in special 

circumstances with the approval of the respective Chief Officer and the Deputy 
Chief Executive. 

 
15.5 Chief Officers shall arrange for continuous stocktaking at each store and shall 

ensure that all stocks are checked at least once in every year.  The Chief Officer 
concerned shall issue to the Deputy Chief Executive a certified return of stores 
on hand at each year end. 

 
15.6 Stores deficiencies and surpluses arising from continuous stock checks will be 

transferred to a Stores On-cost Account subject to the approval of the Deputy 
Chief Executive.  This procedure will apply unless the deficiency on an individual 
item arising from any stocktaking exceeds £2,000 or the total annual value 
exceeds £7,500, in which event a report must be submitted to the Cabinet by 
the appropriate Chief Officer seeking approval to effect an adjustment in the 
stores accounts. 

 
15.7 Disposal of surplus or obsolete materials, stores or equipment shall not be made 

unless at least three tenders are first obtained, except where the Deputy Chief 
Executive has approved other arrangements for a particular sale or a particular 
type of sale.  The procedures for receipt, opening and acceptance of tenders 
shall be described in the Procedure Rules relating to contracts. 

 
15.8 Where the value of surplus or obsolete materials, stores or equipment exceeds 

£7,500 on a particular item, disposal shall not take place without prior 
consideration by Cabinet. 

 
16. VEHICLES AND PLANT 
 
16.1 Each Chief Officer concerned shall ensure that records are maintained in 

respect of vehicles and plant under their control.  Such records shall be kept in 
a manner approved by the Deputy Chief Executive and shall include details of 
usage, mileage and fuel consumed.  

 
16.2 The Deputy Chief Executive, in consultation with the appropriate Chief Officer, 

shall be responsible for calculating and reviewing from time to time the hourly 
rates to be charged for the use of vehicles and plant. 

 
17. SECURITY 
 
17.1 A nominated Officer of the Council shall be responsible for maintaining proper 

security at all times for all public buildings. 
 
17.2 Each Chief Officer is responsible for the stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, 

cash and other items under their control.  They shall consult the Deputy Chief 
Executive in any case where security is thought to be defective or where it is 
considered that special security arrangements may be needed. 

 

Page 156



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

17.3 Each Chief Officer is responsible for items of furniture, equipment and cash and 
other items belonging to individuals who are not employees or Members of the 
Council temporarily taken into their control and shall record and make proper 
arrangements for the security of such items until they can be returned to the 
owner or the owner’s representative.  

 
17.4 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall not exceed the limits set down in the 

Council's policies of insurance, details of which shall be notified by the Deputy 
Chief Executive to the appropriate Chief Officers. 

 
17.5 The Chief Officer shall arrange that designated Officers be responsible for the 

keys of all safes or similar receptacles and shall notify the Deputy Chief 
Executive of the names of such Officers.  Such Officers shall keep the keys 
personally and not leave them on the premises.  Duplicate keys shall be kept by 
the Chief Officer or in such a manner as may be approved by the Deputy Chief 
Executive.  The loss of keys must be reported to the Deputy Chief Executive 
immediately. 

 
17.6 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that information held within 

their directorate conforms to the Council’s Information Management Strategy 
and Information Security Policy. 

 
17.7 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that all information 

containing personal data within their directorate comply with the Council’s Data 
Protection Policy and any other guidance as may be issued from time to time. 

 
18. INSURANCES 
 
18.1 The Deputy Chief Executive shall effect all insurance cover and, in consultation 

with other Officers where necessary, negotiate all claims and maintain the 
necessary records. 

 
18.2 Each Chief Officer shall give prompt notification to the Deputy Chief Executive 

of the extent and nature of all new risks, properties or vehicles which require to 
be insured and of any alterations affecting existing insurances in their 
directorate. 

 
18.3 Chief Officers shall notify the Deputy Chief Executive without delay and in 

writing, of any loss, liability or damage which constitutes a claim or is likely to 
lead to a claim.  In no circumstances should an Officer admit liability for loss, 
damage or injury, however sustained. 

 
18.4 All appropriate employees of the Council shall be included in a fidelity guarantee 

policy of insurance. 
 
18.5 The Deputy Chief Executive shall carry out a review of insurances annually or at 

such other period as they may consider necessary, in consultation with other 
Chief Officers as appropriate. 

 

Page 157



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

18.6 Chief Officers shall consult the Deputy Chief Executive and the Head of Legal 
Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer regarding the terms of any indemnity 
which the Council is requested to give. 

 
18.7 All employees using their car for Council business shall, on request, produce to 

the Deputy Chief Executive such policies or certificates of insurance and/or 
premium receipts and driving licences as may be necessary to ensure that 
adequate cover continues to be maintained against any liability of the Council 
arising out of official use. 

 
19. INVENTORIES 
 
19.1 Inventories in a form approved by the Deputy Chief Executive shall be kept of 

property belonging to or in the care of the Council and shall be maintained in all 
sections of all directorates.  They shall be added to or amended by the Chief 
Officer in respect of the sections under their control and shall record an adequate 
description of furniture, fittings and equipment, plant and machinery.  Items of a 
material value (over £250) should be notified to the Deputy Chief Executive in 
order that appropriate insurance cover can be provided.  Advice as to items 
suitable to be shown on an inventory will be provided by the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

 
19.2 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for making such checks upon items on 

the inventory as will ensure the accuracy of the records and the safeguarding of 
the equipment.  Surpluses or deficiencies shall be reported to the Deputy Chief 
Executive and shall be noted on the inventories concerned. 

 
19.3 The Deputy Chief Executive shall have access to all property of the Council and 

to audit the inventories. 
 
19.4 All property belonging to the Council shall, as far as practicable, be marked in a 

suitable manner as being the property of the Council. 
 
19.5 The Council's property shall not be removed otherwise than in accordance with 

the ordinary course of the Council's business or used otherwise than for the 
Council's purposes except in accordance with specific directions issued by the 
Chief Officer concerned. 

 
20. TRUST FUNDS 
 
20.1 All trust funds shall, wherever possible, be in the name of the Council. 
 
20.2 All Officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit all 

securities, etc. relating to the trust with the Deputy Chief Executive unless the 
deed provides otherwise. 

  

Page 158



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
21. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 

Partnerships and External Funding 
 
21.1 Where the Council is involved with other organisations and partnerships in 

achieving its objectives, it is important that arrangements are rigorously 
controlled, with the highest level of probity as for any other arrangement.  In 
particular, these rules will apply except where, in specific circumstances, the 
Deputy Chief Executive agrees that some alternative may be used, or where the 
Government and/or other funding body sets their own criteria and rules for the 
administration of grant funding. 

 
21.2 The Deputy Chief Executive shall: 
 

 Advise on the relevant controls that should apply to any arrangement, 
whether through these rules or some adequate alternative 

 Ensure satisfactory accounting arrangements 

 Ensure that any match-funding requirements are considered prior to 
entering into any such agreements 

 Consider and, if necessary, challenge the business case for major projects 
and their future financial implications 

 Certify all claims for payment in respect of grants awarded by any external 
organisation. 

 
21.3 Chief Officers and Heads of Service shall: 
 

 Consult with the Deputy Chief Executive in respect of financial controls 

 Ensure that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented 

 Provide appropriate information to the Deputy Chief Executive to enable 
proper accounting arrangements to be made 

 Ensure that conditions of funding are duly complied with. 
 
22. OFFICERS' TRAVELLING AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCES 
 
22.1 All claims for the payment of travelling, subsistence allowances, and incidental 

expenses in connection with the performance of duty, and for reimbursement of 
educational expenses incurred on approved courses of study shall be submitted 
to the Chief Executive.  Such claims shall be duly certified as correct by each 
Officer submitting a claim in a form approved by the Chief Executive.   

 
22.2 The names of Officers authorised to certify such claims shall be sent to the 

Deputy Chief Executive and the Chief Executive by each Chief Officer together 
with specimen signatures. 

 
22.3 The certification by or on behalf of the Chief Officer shall be taken to mean that 

the certifying Officer is satisfied that the journeys were authorised, the 
expenditure properly and necessarily incurred and that the allowances are 
properly payable by the Council. 

 

Page 159



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

22.4 All claims shall be accompanied, as appropriate, by a valid VAT certificate 
relevant to the period of the claim and shall not otherwise be certified in 
accordance with Rule 22.1 above.  

 
23. MEMBERS' TRAVEL, SUBSISTENCE AND ATTENDANCE ALLOWANCES 
 
23.1 Procedure for submitting claims and making payments, and the documents to 

be kept in respect of Members' Travelling, Subsistence and Attendance 
Allowances shall be under the control of the Chief Executive and shall be as laid 
down in guidance which is available to all Members. 

 
24. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AND THE INTERPRETATION OF RULES 
 
24.1 Failure to comply with the Financial Procedure Rules is a breach of the Code of 

Conduct that is covered by the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Procedures. 
 
24.2 The Deputy Chief Executive shall, if necessary, after consultation with the 

Monitoring Officer and the Chief Officer of the directorate concerned, report to 
the Cabinet any non-compliance with the Financial Procedure Rules. 

 
24.3 Any doubt as to the interpretation of these rules, if unresolved after consultation 

with the Monitoring Officer, shall be referred to Cabinet. 
 
24.4 The attention of all Officers and Members is drawn to the relevant Accounts and 

Audit Regulations and the CIPFA / IIA Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
and associated Local Government Application Notes.   

 
 

  

Page 160



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

APPENDIX 3 
 
BROXTOWE BOROUGH COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 
CHAPTER 4 PART 2: FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES (CONTRACTS) 
 
GLOSSARY 
 

Bid A potential or received submission from a Bidder in response 
to a procurement process. 

Bidder The organisation who will potentially or has submitted a Bid in 
response to a procurement process. 

Competitive 
Tendering Process 

A procurement process that has been openly advertised to all 
potential Bidders. 

Concession 
Contracts 

An agreement where an organisation is given the right to 
exploit works or services provided for their own gain and at 
their own risk. 

Contract Manager Officer responsible for the management of the contract on a 
day to day basis. 

Contract Value  Annual value of the contract multiplied by the number of years 
of the contract, including any potential extension periods. It is 
the value of the contract to the Bidder/s. 

HoLS Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer (or 
delegated officer). 

PCO Procurement and Contracts Officer 

Procuring Officer Lead officer for the service area (may also be the Contract 
Manager). 

Senior Officer Officers comprising of the Senior Management Team 
(including those reporting directly to a Chief Officer) as listed 
at paragraph 7.3/7.4 in the Officer Scheme of Delegation. 

UK Procurement 
Law 

Means the Procurement Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 as amended or any 
future enacted UK procurement legislation. 

UK Procurement 
Threshold 

Point where the Contract Value requires the full requirements 
of the UK Procurement Law to be complied with.  UK 
Procurement Thresholds change every two years and are 
recalculated on 31 December every other year. 

 
  

Page 161



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES  
 
The rules below have been approved by the Council relating to contracts and are 
incorporated into the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations) 
accordingly.  These rules should be read alongside the Council’s Procurement and 
Commissioning Strategy; the latest guidance on the Council’s Intranet; and any other 
advice received from the Council’s Procurement and Contracts Officer. 
 
1. COMPLIANCE 
 
1.1. All contracts (see Rule 4) must comply with these rules and procedures.  A 

contract is any arrangement made by or on behalf of the Council for the supply 
of goods or services or for the carrying out of works.  A concession contract is 
also subject to these rules. 

 
1.2. Contracts may include verbal instructions to provide goods or services or to carry 

out works. This can commit the Council without any appropriate terms and 
conditions, insurance, health and safety requirements bidder accreditation, 
budget checks etc. being carried out or agreed.  For this reason, all requirements 
must be communicated to Bidders by a signed contract or an official purchase 
order with appropriate authorisation, prior to the commencement of any works 
or supply of any goods or services. 

 
1.3. Users of Council purchase cards should consider which terms and conditions 

apply, insurances, health and safety requirements, Bidder accreditation and 
budget for all purchases.  

 
1.4. Every Officer involved in buying goods, services or works must be aware of 

these rules and comply with them.  In case of doubt, advice must be sought from 
the PCO before proceeding. 

 

1.5. Officers involved in any aspect of procurement are to have completed the 
Procurement E-Learning Module within three months of notification of 
requirement to complete. 

 
1.6. No exception from any of the following provisions of these rules shall be made 

otherwise than by the direction of the Council or by Cabinet (as appropriate) or 
via Rule 48 (Waivers). 
 

2. GUIDANCE 
 
2.1. Further information and guidance on procurement is on the Intranet 

Procurement pages. 
 
2.2. In addition, advice on specific procurement issues and how to apply these rules 

can be obtained by contacting the PCO. 
 

Page 162



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

3. PURPOSE 
 
3.1. The purpose of the rules is to: 
 

 achieve value for money (value for money is not the lowest possible price; it 
combines goods or services that fully meet your needs, with the level of 
quality required, delivery at the time you need it, and at an appropriate price); 

 be consistent with the highest standards of integrity; 

 ensure transparency and fairness in allocating public contracts;  

 comply with all legal requirements and legislative principles;  

 ensure appropriate approvals for budgets and contract awards; 

 support the Council’s vision, values and priorities; and 

 prevent fraud and corruption.  
 

4. WHEN THESE RULES APPLY   
 
4.1. These rules apply to the following types of procurement on behalf of the Council: 

 

 purchasing any goods or materials, including information communication 
technology; 

 purchasing of any services, including consultancy services; 

 hiring, renting or leasing of any goods or equipment; 

 ordering the carrying out of building or engineering works; 

 Concession Contracts; 
 
4.2. Partnership and Collaborative Arrangements:  These rules will apply where the 

Council is part of a partnership and it is the lead or accountable body.  Also see 
Rule 9. 

 
4.3. Any agent or consultant appointed to act for the Council in a procurement 

exercise must be required to comply with these rules. A consultant is someone 
employed for a specific length of time to work to a defined project brief with clear 
outcomes to be delivered, who brings specialist skills or knowledge to the role.  

 
5. EXEMPTIONS / NON-APPLICABLE EXPENDITURE 
 
5.1. The rules do NOT apply to: 
 

 contracts of employment with individual employees;  
 land transactions (sales, purchases, leases, licences, easements etc. 

although certain development agreements are covered); 
 performing artist contracts; 
 giving of grant funding (but contracts with voluntary organisations for the 

supply of services, goods and works are covered by the rules);  
 

5.2. Nothing in these rules and procedures shall require competitive bids to be invited 
in any of the following circumstances: 
  

Page 163



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
5.2.1. The works to be executed or the goods or materials to be supplied consist 

of repairs to or the supply of compatible parts to existing proprietary 
machinery or plant by the manufacturers or their agents which cannot be 
cost effectively provided by other bidders.  

 
5.2.2. The renewal of existing ICT software license and maintenance services, 

where the ICT Software has been purchased, and the value of the 
renewal is less than the UK Procurement Threshold.  General 
Management Team (GMT) are to agree the way forward and obtain 
procurement advice as appropriate (see Rule 36). 

 
5.2.3. Utility/energy supplies to empty housing or buildings that are or will be 

available for occupation. 
 
5.2.4. The estimated expenditure is less than £25,000, provided that the 

appropriate Senior Officer shall take reasonable steps to secure the order 
at the most competitive price. 

 
5.2.5. Where the Council chooses to deliver services itself (in-house). 
 
5.2.6. Where the Council uses one of its subsidiary companies to deliver 

services. 
 
5.2.7. Where co-operating with another public sector body. For this to apply the 

public sectors bodies are required to ensure that public services they 
have to perform are provided with a view to achieving objectives they 
have in common and that the cooperation is governed solely by 
considerations relating to the public interests. Further procurement and 
legal advice is to be sought. 

 
6. INTERPRETATION 
 
6.1. The PCO will advise on the implementation and interpretation of the rules and 

will seek the views of the Deputy Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, if 
required.  The Monitoring Officer’s view will be binding.   

 
7. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS 
 
7.1. The nature of the procurement process to be undertaken will depend on the 

estimated total contract value of the contract. See ‘Appendix A – Contract 
Values and Procurement Process’ for further information. 

 
7.2. Where it is considered appropriate, the Council can choose to go out for quotes 

or Competitive Tender Process in order to ensure value for money even if this 
is not required by these rules. 

 

Page 164



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

8. ALTERNATIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS: GENERAL  
 
8.1. Before approaching the market for any goods, services or works the Procuring 

Officer undertaking the procurement must first establish if there are any of the 
following they could use: 

 
 a Corporate Contract  
 an existing Framework Agreement 
 an existing Dynamic Purchasing System.  
 contract extensions (See Rule 31) 

 
8.1.1. Corporate Contract: Where an existing corporate contract exists, this 

should be considered as the default option. 
 
8.1.2. Framework Agreement: These must only be used where the Council is 

either a named participant or where the Council is a recognisable class of 
contracting Council under the terms of the Framework Agreement.  

 
Contracts based on Framework Agreements may be awarded by either:  

 
(i) applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement (where 

such terms are sufficiently precise) without reopening competition 
(direct award), or  

 
(ii) where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not 

precise enough or it may be possible to obtain improved value for 
money, by holding a mini competition amongst all the organisations 
included within the Agreement.  

 
8.1.3. Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 
 

(i) A DPS must only be used where the Council is either a named 
participant or where the Council is a recognisable class of 
contracting Council under the terms of the DPS.  

 
(ii) Contracts based on a DPS may only be awarded by holding a mini 

competition amongst all the organisations included within the 
Agreement.  

 
9. PARTNERSHIP AND COLLABORATIVE PROCUREMENT 
 
9.1. In order to secure value for money the Council may decide to enter into 

collaborative procurement arrangements. All purchases made/contracts 
awarded via a local authority procurement consortium or another Local 
Authority, who have followed their own rules, are deemed to comply with these 
rules and no exemption is required. 

 
9.2. Purchases above the UK Procurement Threshold must be let under UK 

Procurement Law unless the consortium concerned has satisfied this 

Page 165



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

requirement already by letting their contract in accordance with UK Procurement 
Law on behalf of the Council and other consortium Members. 

 
10. UK PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS 
 
10.1. UK Procurement Law specifies financial thresholds, which determine how 

goods, services and works should be procured.  Contracts for the supply of 
goods or services or works which are estimated to be over the UK Procurement 
Thresholds must be tendered in accordance with UK Procurement Law and the 
PCO must be consulted and their advice taken on how to comply with this 
legislation. 

 
10.2. The current UK Procurement Thresholds can be found on the Procurement 

pages on the intranet. 
 
10.3. The UK Procurement Thresholds relate to the estimated total value of the 

contract including VAT (including any potential extension periods), not the 
annual value. 

 
10.4. Where it applies, the UK Procurement Legislation imposes requirements on 

such matters as: 
 

 conduct of each stage of the procurement process;  
 preliminary market consultation, including consideration of the Public 

Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 
 where the notices relating to advertising and awarding of bids must be 

placed and their contents; 
 minimum bid periods; 
 selection and award criteria and procedures;  
 reporting requirements and documentation. 

 
11. CONTRACT VALUE, FUNDING AND PRE-PROCUREMENT APPROVALS 
 

Estimated Contract Value  
 
11.1. The Procuring Officer must estimate the total Contract Value, (including any 

extension periods). This estimate will determine what competition requirements 
apply under these rules (see Appendix A - Contract Values and Procurement 
Process). 

 
11.2. Contracts must not be artificially divided to reduce the Contract Value and avoid 

the application of the requirements under these rules but should be packaged to 
ensure value for money.  

 
11.3. The Contract Value or estimated Contract Value (in money or equivalent value) 

for a contract is calculated as follows: 
  

 where the contract is for a fixed period: by taking the total price to be paid or 
which might be paid during the whole of the period; 

Page 166



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for the same type of 
item: by aggregating the value of those transactions in the coming 12 
months;   

 where the contract is for an uncertain duration: by multiplying the monthly 
payment by 48;   

 for feasibility studies: the value of the scheme or contracts which may be 
awarded as a result; 

 
Contracts Across the Council 

 
11.4. Where the aggregated value across all departments for similar goods, services 

or works Council on a number of individual contracts for is likely to exceed the 
UK Procurement Thresholds as laid down in these rules, then Officers shall seek 
guidance from the PCO. The department with the highest proportion of total 
expenditure is appointed as the lead service area.  

 
Budget/Funding 

 
11.5. A Procuring Officer must not place an order or start a process for letting a 

contract unless they are satisfied that expenditure for it has been included in an 
approved capital budget, revenue budget or grant. 

 
Pre-Procurement Approval 

 
11.6. Where the Contract Value is above £25,000 or when procurement involvement 

is required, a Procurement Approval Form is to be completed by the Procuring 
Officer and signed by the relevant Senior Officer. This is to be sent to the PCO. 

 
11.7. Once the Procurement Approval Form has been received, the Procuring Officer 

will receive a ‘Broxtowe Procurement’ (BP) reference number that should be 
used in all communications, to uniquely identify the procurement project. 
 
PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
 

12. PROCURING OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES IN PROCUREMENT 
 

12.1. The Procuring Officer is to be integral to the procurement process and they are 
to fulfil the requirements in Appendix C - Contract Manager Responsibilities. 

 
13. SOFT MARKET TESTING/PRE-PROCUREMENT ENGAGEMENT 

 
13.1. UK Procurement Legislation encourage pre-bid market engagement in order to 

ensure that specifications are as accurate as possible. The Procuring Officer, 
when preparing a complex specification, should consult potential Bidders about 
the detailed requirements of the specification but before doing so, the Officer 
should seek the advice of the PCO.  

 
13.2. When carrying out soft market testing the Procuring Officer must: 

Page 167



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
 make it clear to participating organisations that they will receive no 

preferential treatment in the Bid process;   
 not draw up the specification wholly by reference to one specific Bidder or if 

they do, that organisation must be excluded from the subsequent bid 
process.   

 keep a written record of all enquiries, responses and related meetings on 
the contract file.  

 
13.3. The PCO provides advice and can facilitate the conduct of desktop soft 

marketing testing exercises. 
 
14. THE PUBLIC SERVICES (SOCIAL VALUE) ACT 2012 
 
14.1. For all contracts for services which exceed the UK Procurement Thresholds, 

Procuring Officers must consider the various matters prescribed by the Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 2012.  

  
14.2. Procuring Officers must therefore before the formal procurement process starts 

consider: 
 
14.2.1. how what is proposed to be procured might improve the economic, 

social and environmental well-being of the relevant area; and 
14.2.2. how, in conducting the process of procurement, the Council might act 

with the aim of securing that improvement.  
 

14.3. The PCO can provide advice and facilitate the conduct of a desktop social value 
consultation exercise. 

 
15. CHOICE OF TENDERING PROCEDURE 

 
15.1. Where there is a requirement in the rules for a contract to be subject to UK 

Procurement Legislation, the tendering procedures available can be obtained 
from the PCO. 

 
16. ADVERTISING CONTRACTS (where Alternative procurement method are 

not an option – Rule 8) 
 
16.1. Required advertising requirements of contract opportunities is detailed in 

Appendix A – Contract Values and Procurement Process. 
 
16.2. Where the contract opportunity is to be advertised, the PCO must facilitate this 

process to ensure UK Procurement Legislation is complied with.  
 
17. SPECIFICATION  
 
17.1. Specifications can be performance based, with a focus on the result required, 

rather than how it is achieved and detail the minimum standards and 
accreditations a Bidder is required to meet. This will vary dependent on the 
requirement. 

Page 168



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
17.2. The Procuring Officer must make sure the specification provides details of the 

type and quality of goods or nature and standard of service or works to be 
supplied.   

 
17.3. The length and detail of the specification will vary depending on the size, 

complexity and nature of the proposed contract requirements but it should be 
clear and include all the material details that the Bidder will be required to comply 
with and deliver. 

 
17.4. Technical specifications must be defined by reference to relevant UK or EU 

Standards.  Where a standard is quoted the words “or equivalent” must be 
added. 

 
17.5. The specification must not refer to a particular make or brand names unless it is 

identified as a permissible exemption under UK Procurement Legislation and the 
PCO has provided specific advice.   

 
17.6. The specification should not be designed to favour any particular Bidder.   
 
18. INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS  
 (required where a quote or Competitive Tendering Process is undertaken) 
 
18.1. All procurement documents must include Instructions to Bidders as well as: 

 
 specification of the goods, services or works required; and 
 contract conditions. 

 
18.2. All Instructions to Bidders must include: 

 
 the award criteria and, where applicable, the weightings applicable to each 

of those criteria; 
 the last time and date for receipt of Bids; 
 the address to which Bids must be delivered/submitted 
 a requirement that Bids must be kept open for acceptance for no less than 

60 days;   
 full details of the time, date and method by which Bids can be submitted 

through the Council’s e-tendering system (if a Competitive Tendering 
Process);   

 a statement that the Council is not bound to accept the lowest or any Bid;   
 a statement that the Council will not be liable for the Bidders expense in 

preparing their Bid; 
 a statement that no Bid received after the closing date and time will be 

accepted, except as detailed in Rule 23.1 
  

Page 169



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
19. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES (PRE-SUBMISSION DEADLINE) 
 
19.1. Providing clarification for an invitation to bid to potential or actual Bidders 

involved or seeking clarification of a Bid, is permitted. These matters shall take 
place in such a way as to not disadvantage or show favour towards any Bidder 
involved.  

 
19.2. Where a Competitive Tendering Process is undertaken All questions, in non-

attributable form, together with the Council’s responses, will be posted on the e-
tendering portal, for all Bidders to see.  

 
19.3. Exceptionally, Bidders may request information is not published if it could 

damage their commercial advantage or disclose their innovative ideas. The PCO 
will determine whether such information can be withheld from all other Bidders.  

 
19.4. Where a meeting or a site visit is required, all Bidders should be invited to attend 

a single meeting so all are given the same information and have opportunities to 
ask questions and hear responses. Minutes should be taken of any meetings 
and published on the e-tendering portal to ensure all Bidders, including those 
not attending, have the same information.  

 
20. SELECTION AND AWARD CRITERIA 
 
20.1. Before placing an advert requesting Bids or issuing the procurement documents, 

the Procuring Officer, alongside the PCO where a Competitive Tendering 
Process is required, must define the selection and award criteria for the contract 
which is best suited to the procurement exercise and is designed to secure value 
for money.  

 
21. SELECTION OF BIDDERS  
 
21.1. UK Procurement Legislation and Cabinet Office guidance set out clear rules on 

the use of Pre-Qualification Questionnaires (PQQ) / Selection Questionnaire 
(SQ) 
 
Selection Criteria 

 
21.2. Selection (often referred to as pre-qualification stage) criteria involves an 

examination of the suitability and capability of the potential bidders to perform 
the contract.  Selection criteria could include: 

 
 eligibility for public contracts in regard to the grounds specified in UK 

Procurement Law; 
 economic and financial standing; 
 suitable professional ability/qualifications/accreditations; 
 technical and professional ability including references. 

Page 170



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

Award Criteria  
 
21.3. Award criteria should be designed to ensure Bidders demonstrate how well they 

can meet the Council’s requirements and encourage competition and value for 
money. 

 
21.4. All Bids must detail the award criteria and assessment methodology which will 

be used. The options are:  
 

(i) ‘quality/price’ ratio, (preferred option), where considerations other than 
price also apply, or  

(ii) ‘lowest price’, where payment is to be made by the Council, or  
(iii) ‘highest price’, where payment is to be received by the Council.  

 
21.5. When ‘quality’ criteria are used, it must be fully defined in the procurement 

documentation supplied to Bidders, detailing assessment criteria which must be 
wholly relevant to the procurement. These may include service delivery process, 
quality of goods, previous experience (in limited circumstances), delivery date, 
relevant environmental features, technical performance, functional 
characteristics, after sales service, technical assistance, social value added and 
any other relevant matters. The extent and weighting of these criteria must be 
declared and documented when sending out any details. 

 
21.6. The weighting of non-financial criteria must; 

 
 reflect their importance to the Council, 
 ensure equal treatment of all potential Bidders,  
 not preclude or give undue preference to any Bidder  
 ensure that all dealings with Bidders are undertaken on a fair, equitable and 

transparent basis 
 be designed to give the Council the best possible outcome 

 
21.7. All evaluations for procurement process above the UK Procurement Threshold 

must comply with UK Procurement Legislation and have regard to the financial 
and technical standards relevant to the contract and the award criteria.  

 
21.8. Wherever possible a breakdown of costs should be requested, to allow clear 

understanding of the pricing structure and to allow minor adjustment of scope to 
meet changing circumstances. 

 
22. PERIOD FOR SUBMISSION OF BIDS 
 
22.1. Bidders must be given a reasonable period in which to prepare and submit a Bid 

having regard to the amount of detail that they have to prepare and the 
complexity of the contract requirements. UK Procurement Law lays down 
specific minimum time periods for contracts with a value in excess of UK 
Procurement Thresholds.   

  

Page 171



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
23. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF BIDS  
 

Quote Process 
 
23.1. Any quotation received for procurement exercises below £100,000, after the 

specified date and time where the e-tendering portal has not been used, shall 
not be considered unless the appropriate Senior Officer, with the approval of the 
Deputy Chief Executive, consider that exceptional circumstances warrant it. 
Appropriate supporting documentation must be maintained to substantiate the 
decision taken. 

 
23.2. Under no circumstances can any late quotation be considered after the other 

quotations have been opened. 
 

Competitive Tendering Process 
 
23.3. Bids must be issued and received electronically through the Council’s e-

tendering system, except for Rule 23.7. 
 
23.4. For Bids above the UK Procurement Threshold, submissions must be managed 

electronically via the e-tendering portal unless there are justified reasons.   
 
23.5. Bids remain within the e-Tendering portal’s secure vault until the closing date 

and time. The vault shall be unlocked, releasing all bids simultaneously, by the 
Deputy Chief Executive, or an officer of the Council designated by them.  

 
 NOTE: All Bid documents are securely retained in the vault within the e-

tendering portal. This information is not visible until the vault is un-locked and 
cannot be changed once opened. All actions conducted within the portal are 
recorded and are fully auditable. There is therefore no requirement to witness 
the bid opening or record any data. 

 
23.6. Bids cannot be uploaded to the e-tendering portal after the closing date and time. 
 
 Use of Frameworks/DPS 
 
23.7. Where use of a framework or DPS requires the use of an alternative e-tendering 

portal run by the framework/DPS provider then this will be deemed as complying 
with Rule 23. 

 
24. POST BID SUBMISSION CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES  
 
24.1. Where an error is discovered in a Bid during scrutiny by the Council's Officers, 

clarification should be sought. Material clarifications obtained must be detailed 
in the Bid evaluation report (where a report is required), with a recommendation 

Page 172



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

to accept or reject any required corrections. Bidders shall have the opportunity 
to withdraw their bid if they have made an error.   

 
24.2. No Bidder will be permitted to alter its Bid after it has been received by the 

Council except with the PCO’s consent to correct an arithmetical or 
typographical error or omission made in the Bid. 

 
24.3. Should the contract have been awarded before the error or omission is identified, 

then it can only remain so if in the opinion of the Deputy Chief Executive or in 
their absence Head of Finance Services, it is still the most favourable to the 
Council following the correction.    

 
25. ABNORMAL TENDER:  CLARIFICATION  
 
 If the Procuring Officer considers the lowest or most economically advantageous 

Bid to offer an unusually low price or excessive benefits (“abnormal”) given the 
nature of the contract, the estimated Contract Value, and value for other bids 
he/she must ask the Bidder to clarify in writing its Bid or parts of it.  The Procuring 
Officer with the PCO must take such explanation into account in deciding 
whether to consider the abnormal bid as part of the evaluation. Where the 
procurement process is governed by UK Procurement Law, this sets out grounds 
on which abnormal bids can be excluded from procurement process.   

  
26. POST BID NEGOTIATIONS  
 
26.1. Discussions with Bidders after submission of a Bid and before the award of a 

contract may only occur where UK Procurement Law permits it. 
 
26.2. Where negotiations are permitted by the procurement procedure being followed:  
 

 negotiations must be conducted by at least two officers, one of whom must 
be a Senior Officer grade or above, or alternatively one Senior Office if a 
quotation process; 

 during negotiations tendered rates and prices must only be adjusted in 
respect of a corresponding adjustment in the scope or quantity included in 
the bid documents; 

 negotiation meetings should be minuted; 
 any change in specification or price arising from post bid negotiations must 

be recorded in writing and signed by the Bidder;  

and 

 where post-Bid negotiation result in a fundamental change to the 
specification (or contract terms) the contract must not be awarded but a new 
procurement process needs to be run, so as not to risk distorting competition 
or causing discrimination. 

 
26.3. Where post bid negotiations relate to procurement process governed by UK 

Procurement Law then the PCO’s advice should be sought. 
 

Page 173



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

27. EVALUATION OF TENDERS 
 
27.1. Bids must be evaluated in accordance with the stated award criteria and where 

the criteria are other than the lowest price, a written record must be kept of the 
evaluation with scores for each Bidder on each of the stated award criteria.   

 
27.2. Interviews may be conducted with some or all of the Bidders as part of the 

evaluation process but only to clarify matters relating to the award criteria and 
where part of the published award criteria includes an interview/presentation 
evaluation. 

 
Due Diligence 

 
27.3. If there is any doubt about the sustainability or capability of the Bidder, due 

diligence must be carried out prior to award. Due diligence may include financial 
checks, obtaining references (preferably from other public sector bodies), 
visiting other works which have been completed and ensuring the Bidder has 
sufficient available capacity with suitably experienced and qualified staff. Any 
potential due diligence checks should be clearly stated in the procurement 
documents at the start of the procurement process. 

 
28. AWARD PROCEDURE AND INTERNAL APPROVAL 
 

Award Procedure 
 
28.1. Contracts must be awarded in accordance with the stated award criteria and UK 

Procurement Law (where the Contract Value is above the UK Procurement 
Threshold).  

 
Internal Approvals below £100,000 

 
28.2. For contracts values below £100,000 and within the stated budget, the Head of 

Service approval, in conjunction with the Chief Officer, is required and should be 
in writing and kept as evidence of approval, unless it has previously been 
decided that Cabinet approval is required. 

 
28.3. Rule 28.4 must be followed if an Competitive Tendering Process has been used, 

regardless of contract value. 
 

Internal Approvals in excess of £100,000 
 
28.4. For contracts values in excess of £100,000 and within the stated budget, an 

evaluation report with a recommendation as to the Bid that should be accepted 
and the basis for such a recommendation, should be prepared by the appropriate 
Procuring Officer and the PCO and presented to the Deputy Chief Executive for 
approval, unless it has previously been decided that Cabinet approval is 
required. 

  

Page 174



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
28.5. Deputy Chief Executive approval is required in writing and kept as evidence of 

approval. 
 

Internal Approvals by Cabinet 
 
28.6. Where it has been decided before the procurement process that Cabinet 

approval is required, the Procuring Officer in conjunction with the PCO shall 
submit the report to Cabinet as to the bid that should be accepted and the basis 
for such a recommendation. 

 
28.7. Where the value of the expenditure/income is greater than £250,000, then the 

Procuring Officer will also need to meet the deadlines required for the Key 
Decision process. 

 
Internal Approvals in excess of approved budget 

 
28.8. Where the Bid recommended for acceptance is for an amount in excess of the 

approved budgetary provision, then the appropriate Procuring Officer may:  
 

28.8.1. apply to Cabinet for approval to a revised budget for the scheme, or  
 
28.8.2. in limited circumstances recommend post-Bid negotiations with the 

lowest Bidder, in accordance with Rule 26, to reduce the bid amount by 
value engineering to bring the cost of the work within the approved 
budget. The effect of such revision and negotiation shall be reported to 
Cabinet.  

 
28.8.3. declare the procurement exercise void, produce a new and 

fundamentally different specification which will ensure lower costs and 
commence a new procurement exercise. 

 
29. INFORMING BIDDERS OF CONTRACT AWARD 
 
 Contracts awarded via Quote Process  
 
29.1. The Procuring Officer must as soon as possible, following the identification of 

the successful Bidder, notify all Bidders simultaneously of the award of contract 
telling them the name of the successful Bidder and the reason for their selection. 

 
 Contracts awarded via a Competitive Tendering Process 
 
29.2. Once a preferred Bidder has been identified, the PCO will, as soon as 

reasonably possible notify all Bidders simultaneously of the intention to award 
the contract to the preferred Bidder, providing the information to all Bidders as 
required by UK Procurement Law. 

  

Page 175



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
 Challenge to the Contract Award 
 
29.3. If the contract award decision is challenged by an unsuccessful Bidder, the 

Procuring Officer must not award the contract but must instead immediately seek 
the advice of the PCO, who in conjunction with the Head of Legal Services, shall 
advise further.   

 
CONTRACTS 
 
30. CONTRACT APPROVAL AND SIGNING  

Also see summary Appendix B – Contracts and Signing 
 
30.1. Every contract which is less than £25,000 (except purchase orders) shall be in 

writing and be signed by the appropriate Senior Officer after the Head of Legal 
Services has approved the terms and conditions. The Senior Officer is 
responsible for ensuring there is sufficient budget available. 

 
30.2. All contract documents for relevant contracts which exceed £25,000 shall be 

subject to scrutiny by and approval of the Head of Legal Services, in consultation 
with the Chief Officer, prior to commencing any procurement exercise. 

 
30.3. Every relevant contract which exceeds £25,000 shall be in writing, and unless 

under seal, shall be signed by the Deputy Chief Executive or in their absence 
the Head of Legal Services. 

 
30.4. Where a contract to be signed under seal; The common seal shall be kept in 

legal services. The contract shall be signed by the Head of Legal Services 
identified as the proper officer for these purposes and such signature shall be 
witnessed by an officer or Member of the Council.  

 
30.5. Bidders terms and conditions for services and works above the value of £25,000 

shall be subject to scrutiny by and approval of the HoLS., 
 

30.6. Every contract in writing shall specify:  
 

 the goods, services or works, to be provided, 
 the location, that the goods, services or works, are to be provided 
 the prices to be paid, including details of how any staged payments will be 

managed and a statement of discounts or other deductions and, 
 the time or times within which the contract is to be performed.  
 the Terms and Conditions which apply. 

 
30.7. Each contract for the execution of works in excess of £100,000 shall contain a 

clause specifying the percentage deduction to be made from instalment 
payments to the bidder to provide a retention sum, and the period and conditions 
for holding and releasing such retention sum. For contracts values below this 
sum, the Procuring Officer is to consider whether such as clause is required. 

  

Page 176



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
30.8. The Procuring Officer, and if the Contract Value is above £25,000 Head of Legal 

Services, should also consider the following requirements in each contract, 
based on the nature and risk in the contract: 
 
30.8.1. liquidated damages to be paid by the bidder in case the terms of the 

contract are not duly performed. Costs for liquidated damages should 
be pre-agreed and detailed in the Contract wherever possible. 

 
30.8.2. additional security including performance bonds for the due 

performance of contract for the execution of works.  
 
30.8.3. the provision of a parent company guarantee. 

 
30.9. Contracts should be signed prior to commencement of services, works or 

delivery of goods. 
 

31. CONTRACT EXTENSIONS  
 
 Exercising Options to Extend 
 
31.1. Where a contract has been advertised with an option to extend beyond the initial 

contract period and the contract includes such an option it may only be exercised 
if: 
 

 the Procuring Officer or Contract Manager is satisfied that such an extension 
is in the best interests of the Council in the light of the contractor’s 
performance; 

 there is sufficient budget provision  
 

No Option to Extend  
 

31.2. Contracts, awarded with a value below the UK Procurement Thresholds, which 
do not contain any option to extend, (or a further option to extend) in the original 
contract, cannot be continued, unless a ‘new’ contract is awarded accordance 
with these rules. Advice from the PCO should be obtained.  

 
31.3. Contracts, awarded with a value above the UK Procurement Thresholds, which 

do not contain any option to extend in the original contract cannot be extended, 
unless it is in accordance with these rules and UK Procurement Law. Advice 
from the PCO should be obtained. 

 
31.4. Rules 31.2 and Rule 31.3 will also have to meet the following requirements: 

 there is sufficient budget provision  
 there are no material changes to the scope of the contract, and  
 the Procuring Officer or Contract Manager is satisfied that such an extension 

is in the best interests of the Council in the light of the contractor’s 
performance; 

  

Page 177



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
31.5. Where unforeseen circumstances have delayed the delivery of the specified 

scope/volume of the contract, an extension may be granted after discussions 
with the PCO, as long as there are no material specification or contract value 
changes to the contract.  

 
CONTRACT REGISTERS, RECORD KEEPING, CONTRACT MANAGEMENT AND 
FUTURE PROCUREMENT 
 
32. CENTRAL RECORDS  

 
Publication Requirements  

 
32.1. In line with the Governments transparency requirements, the Council will publish 

on its website, on a quarterly basis, details, of all procurement exercises and 
contracts entered into with a value exceeding £5,000. 

 
32.2. To facilitate this, the Senior Officer will ensure that the PCO receives all 

requested details of all contract awards above £5,000, in a form and within the 
time limits stated by the PCO. 

 
32.3. This process will also ensure the Council is compliant with the requirement to 

publish a contract register and advertise all relevant contract awards as per UK 
Procurement Law. 

 
32.4. The details contract details required Rule 32.1 must include: 
 

 title of contract  
 brief details of the nature of the contract 
 the name of the successful bidder 
 status of the successful bidder (Small, Medium Enterprise, Voluntary and 

Community (SME) etc.) 
 brief details of the nature of the contract 
 the annual value of the contract 
 the total value of the contract including extension periods 
 contract start date 
 contract end date (not including extension period) 
 duration of potential extension period (if any) 
 the process used to award the contract 
 any contract notice period for termination 

 
33. RETENTION OF CONTRACTS AND TENDERS 
 
33.1. Procurement records and contracts must be kept in accordance with the Council 

‘Document Retention Scheme’. An accessible electronic copy stored on the 
Council’s systems for the stated period will satisfy this requirement, unless a 
contract is signed under seal, where a hard copy must be kept by Legal Services. 

  

Page 178



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
33.2. Procuring Officers must send all original signed contracts to the Head of Legal 

Services/Legal Services. 
 
33.3. The Head of Legal Services/Legal Services will send the PCO an electronic copy 

of the all fully signed contracts awarded under these rules that they receive. 
 
34. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
34.1. Every contract awarded by the Council should have a named contract manager, 

responsible for the day to day management of the contract.  Depending on the 
risk and complexity of the contract, the Contract Manager’s responsibilities may 
include: 

 
34.1.1. scheduling regular meetings with the contractor, alongside annual 

review meetings to include performance review and financial 
monitoring;  

 
34.1.2. obtaining, recording and monitoring, management information and KPI 

data, to assist discussions regarding performance and finance 
monitoring; 

 
34.1.3. undertaking financial monitoring to ensure expenditure is in line with 

that expected under the contract.  The Contract Manager is to confirm 
to the PCO, on an annual basis, that expenditure is (or is not) in line 
with the contract; 

 
34.1.4. seeking advice from the PCO, before amendments are made to the 

contract or framework, for example to vary the scope and / or price.  
 
34.1.5. should the contractor fail to meet requirements, notifying the contractor 

of the issues, giving reasonable time for these to be addressed and 
rectified. If a contractor continually fails to meet the contract 
requirements, the process for managing non-compliance detailed 
within the terms and conditions of the contract must be followed. 

 
34.1.6. follow any Council approved Contract Management Strategy. 

 
34.2. The Contract Manager is to keep written records of the above, 
 
35. FUTURE PROCUREMENT 
 
35.1. Where a Procuring Officer/Contract Manager is aware of any future required 

procurement activity (including the re-tendering of an existing contract), they will 
inform the PCO in a timely manner. 

 
35.2. To ensure the PCO can plan future procurement activity, the Procuring 

Officer/Contract Manager should usually give the PCO at least six months’ 

Page 179



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

notice before the contract is to start. Additional notice is required with complex 
procurement projects. 

 
35.3. The PCO will publish future procurement activity requirements in compliance 

with UK Procurement Law. 
 
 
SPECIAL CASES 
 
36. INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY  
 
New or Replacement Software / Hardware Procurement 
 
36.1. The purchase of any new ICT hardware or software, whatever the value, must 

follow these rules. 
 
36.2. All procurements of computer hardware or software should follow any advice on 

technical standards issued by the ICT and Business Transformation Manager or 
nominated representative. 

 
36.3. In addition to Rule 30 contracts should also be reviewed by the ICT and Business 

Transformation Manager or nominated representative before signing. 
 
Existing Software  
 
36.4. Decisions on existing software licensing and maintenance contracts due to 

expire are to follow the process below: 
 
 A system review is to be carried by ICT at least 12-24 months before the 

expiry of the current software contract.  
 The system review is to be present to GMT with a recommendation of either 

‘maintain’, ‘enhance’ or ‘replace’. 
 If the GMT decision is to maintain’ or ‘enhance’, the Council (ICT 

representative) shall seek proposals from the software provider to achieve 
this. 

 These proposals should be presented to the Executive Director and Deputy 
Chief Executive for consideration and further action. 

 Where any extension to software licensing and maintenance to existing 
software exceeds the UK Procurement Threshold, a compliant route to 
extending the software licensing and maintenance and internal approvals 
are to be sought. 

 It is the Council’s preference that these contracts are of a fixed duration and 
not left allowed to expire or be subject to annual renewals. 

 Where the decision is ‘replace’, then Rule 36.1 is to be followed. 
  

Page 180



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
37. CONCESSION CONTRACTS 
 
37.1. The procurement of Concession Contracts must follow these rules. 
 
37.2. Depending on the contract value, Concession Contracts may also be subject to 

UK Procurement Law. Procuring Officers must obtain further advice from the 
PCO. 

 
37.3. The value of a Concession Contract, is the estimated total turnover that the 

supplier can generate in consideration for the works, goods and services over 
the duration of the contract, net of value added tax, as estimated by the Council. 

 
38. OUTSOURCING AND TRANSFERRING SERVICE CONTRACTS (TUPE) 
 
38.1. Where the proposed contract is to outsource work currently done “in house” the 

Procuring Officer must as soon as possible consult the Head of Legal Services, 
Human Resources and Deputy Chief Executive regarding Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) implications 
before any procurement process and in particular: 

 
 the need to compile and send out with the procurement documents detailed 

information about the current workforce (Workforce Information); 
 issues relating to pension requirements; 
 the need to include specific reference to the possible TUPE transfer in the 

procurement documents; and 
 the need to include TUPE clauses in the contract conditions. 

 
38.2. Where the proposed contract may involve the transfer of a service contract from 

one provider/contractor to another the Procuring Officer must: 
 
 request detailed TUPE information about the current workforce (Workforce 

Information); 
 sense check the information provided by the current contractor to ensure it 

reflects the current delivery of the contract; 
 include specific reference to the possible TUPE transfer in the ITT; and 
 include TUPE clauses in the contract conditions. 

 
39. FINANCE OPERATING LEASES 
 
 No operating/finance lease including those for equipment and vehicles must be 

entered into without the prior written consent of the Deputy Chief Executive.   
 
40. EXTERNALLY FUNDED PROJECTS 
 
40.1. Any procurement process using externally funded money should follow these 

rules in addition the following requirements in Rule 40: 
  

Page 181



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
 Officers 
 
40.2. The Procuring Officer has responsibility to: 

 
40.2.1. adhere strictly to the requirements set within the funding/grant 

conditions which may be more stringent than these rules, to avoid any 
reclaiming of monies;  

40.2.2. when seeking advice from the PCO make it clear that the funding for 
the project is coming from an external source; 

40.2.3. keep accurate records throughout any procurement process which can 
be accessed for external audits to check compliance.  

 
Competition Requirements 

 
40.3. If the funding/grant conditions are less stringent than these rules, these rules 

take precedent. 
 
40.4. If using a Framework, due diligence must be done to check the eligibility to 

access Frameworks and to ensure that they have been procured compliantly in 
accordance with the UK Procurement Law. 

 
41. PUBLIC AUCTIONS  
 

The appropriate Senior Officer in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive 
or the Chief Executive may resolve whether the acquisition or disposal of goods 
or materials by the Council up to an anticipated value of £150,000 should be by 
way of public auction. Purchases and sales of goods or materials of an 
anticipated value in excess of £150,000 shall only be conducted at auction with 
the approval of Cabinet.  

 
42. ELECTRONIC REVERSE AUCTIONS 
 

Reverse auctions to procure goods, services or works should be conducted 
through the Council’s e-tendering portal., where system functionality allows. 
Reverse auctions will be run by the Senior Officer or PCO.   

 
AVOIDANCE OF CORRUPTION 
 
43. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
 Conflicts of interest can lead to allegations of corruption. Therefore, when a 

Member or Officer is directly involved in the award or management of a contract 
to a particular organisation they must, whenever possible avoid any personal 
dealings with that organisation. Where that is not possible the Officer must act 
in accordance with Rule 44. 

  
  

Page 182



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
44. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY OFFICER  
 
 Any Officer or Member who has a material interest, financial or otherwise, which 

may affect the procurement process at any stage must immediately they become 
aware of it declare it in writing the Monitoring Officer and take no further part in 
the procurement process unless the Monitoring Officer gives their written 
approval to the Officer’s continued involvement in the procurement exercise.   

 
45. GIFTS AND REWARDS   
 
 No Member or officer must accept any gift, fee or other material reward from any 

organisation in return for giving them more favourable treatment in a 
procurement exercise.   

 
46. FAILURE TO COMPLY  
 
 A failure to comply with Rules 44, 45 or 46 could be a criminal offence as well 

as being a disciplinary matter and breach the relevant Code of Conduct..  
 
 
VARIATIONS TO THE RULES AND WAIVERS 
 
47. VARIATIONS TO THE RULES 
 
47.1. The Monitoring Officer has power to make a minor amendment to these rules 

but must subsequently report them to the Council. 
 
47.2. Any significant amendment to these rules must be approved by Council first.     
 
47.3. Anyone with suggested amendments to these rules should contact the 

Monitoring Officer.  
 
48. WAIVER TO THE RULES  
 
48.1. Officers must in the first instance comply with the requirements of these rules. 

Waivers are not to be seen as an alternative to a compliant procurement 
process. 

 
48.2. Considering a waiver must be risk based and always a last resort after all other 

options have been considered.   
 
48.3. A waiver cannot be given where the contract value exceeds the UK Procurement 

Threshold unless the PCO in conjunction with the HoLS and Deputy Chief 
Executive has confirmed in writing that an exemption is available under the UK 
Procurement Law. 

  

Page 183



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
48.4. Officers must not enter into contracts under waiver until confirmation of Waiver 

approval has been received. 
 
48.5. Waivers may be considered in, but not limited to, the following circumstances:  

 
48.5.1. where the purchase of supplies or the execution of works or services 

involve specialist or unique skills or knowledge which cannot be 
obtained from other providers;   

 
48.5.2. where the Council require upgrades to existing software packages or 

require repairs to, or parts for, existing machinery or equipment that 
are specific to that machinery or equipment;  

 
48.5.3. if the Council has already engaged with an organisation for a similar 

and related procurement provided that the Council will not be exposed 
to unacceptable risk and there is significant benefit to extending the 
scope of the contract to cover this additional requirement;   

 
48.5.4. where, after advertising in accordance with these rules, it has not been 

possible to obtain competitive prices for works, supplies or services;  
 
48.5.5. In relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, where 

the time limitations will not allow a competitive procurement process to 
be completed and where the grant conditions allow this; 

 
48.5.6. if works, supplies or services are urgently needed for the immediate 

protection of life or property or to maintain the immediate functioning 
of a public service that the Council is responsible for, on the basis of 
an unforeseeable emergency. 

 
48.5.7. any other exceptional circumstances. 

 
48.6. In such circumstances, waivers to these rules may be granted by: 

 
48.6.1. Deputy Chief Executive (Directorate Waiver), if Contract Value is below 

£100,000  See Rules 48.7 and 48.8;  
 
48.6.2. Cabinet (Cabinet Waiver) if Contract Value is above £100,000. See 

Rules 48.9 to 48.11; or  
 
48.6.3. Chief Executive or duly nominated representative (Urgency Power 

Waiver), if Contract Value is above £100,000, in cases of urgency. See 
Rules 48.12 to 48.15. 

  

Page 184



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

 
Directorate Waiver 

 
48.7. After consultation with the PCO, a Directorate Waiver form is to be completed 

by the Procuring Officer and signed by the Director of Service and approved by 
the Deputy Chief Executive. 

 
48.8. All approved Directorate Waivers are to be sent to the PCO within two weeks of 

approval, by the Procuring Officer. 
 

Cabinet Waiver 
 
48.9. Any request for a Cabinet Waiver must, after consultation with relevant Chief 

Officer and the Chief Executive, be submitted by the Procuring Officer. The Chief 
Officer will report the circumstances of the waiver to the next Cabinet meeting. 

 
48.10. As a minimum, the report to Cabinet shall include: 
 

 the reasons why the waiver is being requested; 
 the reasons why these rules cannot be followed; 
 confirmation that there is an approved budget or it includes a request to 

approve any new or additional budget; 
 the details of the organisation due to benefit from the waiver; 
 the value of the waiver; 
 the duration/term that the waiver relates to; 
 the specific rules the waiver wishes exemption to; 
 confirmation approval of the waiver complies with UK Procurement Law, 

confirming consultation with the PCO and the HoLS. 
 

48.11. All approved Cabinet Waivers are to be reported to the PCO within two weeks 
of approval, by the Procuring Officer. 

 
Urgency Power Waiver 

 
An Urgency Power Waiver form, shall be completed by the Procuring Officer 
after consultation with the PCO and Director of Service and, is to be considered 
by the Chief Executive as to whether their use of Urgency Powers should be 
used.  
 

48.12. The Chief Executive, after consultation with the Leader and Leader of the 
Opposition (if available) can exercise use of their Urgency Powers, if 
appropriate, to approve an Urgency Power Waiver to them to approve. 
 

48.13. The Chief Executive will retrospectively report the circumstances of the Urgency 
Power Waiver to Cabinet and the report shall contain the information detailed in 
Rule 48.9. 
 

48.14. All approved Urgency Power Waivers are to be reported to the PCO within two 
weeks of approval, by the Procuring Officer. 

   

Page 185



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

Appendix A – Contract Values and Procurement Process 

 

Requirement Category Total Contract 
Value (£) 
(see Rule 11) 

Procurement Process Advertising 
Requirements 

Form of Contract  

Goods, 
Services and 
Works 

Very Low 
Value 

Below  £25,000  Senior Officer decides if quotes 
needed.  

None Standard Council Contract or 
Purchase Order 
Standard Form of Contract  
Bidders Terms and 
Conditions 

Goods, 
Services and 
Works 

Low Value £25,000 to 
£100,000  

3 quotes minimum to be requested 
Completion of procurement 
approval form and sent to PCO. 
 

None Standard Council Contract 
Standard Form of Contract  

Goods, 
Services and 
Works 

Medium 
Value 

£100,001 to UK 
Procurement 
Threshold  

Competitive Tendering Process 
Completion of procurement 
approval form and sent to PCO. 
 

as dictated by 
UK Procurement 
Legislation 

Standard Council Contract 
Standard Form of Contract 

Goods, 
Services and 
Works 

High Value Above UK 
Procurement 
Threshold  

Competitive Tendering Process as 
dictated by UK Procurement 
Completion of procurement 
approval form and sent to PCO. 
Legislation 

as dictated by 
UK Procurement 
Legislation 

Standard Council Contract 
Standard Form of Contract  

IT Software 
licensing and 
maintenance 

NA Below UK 
Procurement 
Threshold  

Completion of procurement 
approval form. 
Direct Award if not tendering out.  

None Standard Council Contract 
Standard Form of Contract  
Bidders Terms and 
Conditions 

 

P
age 186



COUNCIL       12 July 2023 
 

  

Appendix B – Contracts and Signing 
 
 

 Total Contract Value 
(£) 

(see Rule 10) 

Contract Terms 
Approval Required 
before start of 
procurement 
process. 

Contract Terms 
Approval Required 
before start contract. 

Who can sign the 
contract? 

Acceptable Signing 
Method 

1. Below £25,000  

(unless under seal) 

None Head of Legal Services Senior Officer Wet signature 

Electronic Signature 

Signature via e-signing 
system 

2. Above £25,000 

(unless under seal)  

Head of Legal Services Head of Legal Services Deputy Chief Executive 
or in their absence the 
Head of Legal Services 

Wet signature 

Electronic Signature 

Signature via e-signing 
system 

3. Contracts under seal 
(any value) 

As per rows 1 and 2 
depending on value. 

Head of Legal Services Head of Legal Services Wet signature and seal 

 

4. ICT Contracts As per rows 1, 2 and 3 
depending on value, 
with ICT approval too. 

ICT in conjunction with 
Head of Legal 
Services. 

As per row 1, 2 and 3 
depending on value. 

As per row 1, 2 and 3 
depending on value. 

 

P
age 187



COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

Appendix C – Procuring Officer / Contract Manager Responsibilities 

 
The Procuring Officer / Contract Manager for any particular contract entered into by the 
Council holds a number of key responsibilities with regard to Procurement and 
subsequent contract management. This document is a brief outline of the relevant 
specific requirements.  These requirements may change dependent on the nature, risk 
and/or value of the contract. 
 
It is important to note that although specific tasks may be delegated, the Procuring 
Officer / Contract Manager retains ultimate responsibility for ensuring these 
requirements are met. 
 
The Procurement and Contracts Officer (‘PCO’) will provide guidance and assistance 
during the whole procurement process. 
 
1. Pre-Advert Requirements 

 
Procurement Approval Form – Completion, in conjunction with the PCO, and 
Senior Officer sign-off of the Procurement Approval Form (‘PAF’). 
 
Data Protection Impact Assessment – Assess to see if a Data Protection 
Impact Assessment (‘DPIA’) is required. If so, complete a DPIA. If required a draft 
Data Sharing or Data Processing Agreement is to be completed as part of the bid 
document pack. 
 
IR35 – If payroll status is not clear, an IR35 assessment is to be completed and 
sent to the Procurement and Contracts Officer. Further information available at 
https://www.tax.service.gov.uk/check-employment-status-for-tax/setup. 
 
Equalities Impact Assessment – Review to see if an Equalities Impact 
Assessment (‘EIA’) is required. If so, complete an EIA. This should then feed into 
the specification requirements. 
 
TUPE – Confirm with the current incumbent whether they think TUPE is 
applicable. If so, obtain and check TUPE data using the templates available from 
the PCO. 
 
Climate Change Implications – Completion (in conjunction with the PCO) and 
sign-off of any Climate Change documentation/requirements. 
 
Documents – Alongside the PCO, draft, finalise and approve: 

 Suitability Questions 

 Quality Questions 

 Specification 

 Pricing Schedule 

 Evaluation Criteria 

 Contract 

 Any other relevant documents 
 

Page 188

https://www.tax.service.gov.uk/check-employment-status-for-tax/setup


COUNCIL  12 July 2023 
 

  

Contract – Identify any special terms and conditions required.  
 
Evaluation Guidance Document – Determine what is expected from the 
responses to the tender. This should inform the specification. Managed by the 
PCO. 
 
Evaluators – Confirm who the evaluators are and what questions they are 
evaluating. Minimum of two evaluators per question. Evaluators must be available 
for moderation meetings if the evaluation process require this. Managed by the 
PCO. 
 

2. Bidding Stage Requirements 
 

Clarifications – Respond to bidder clarification queries in a timely manner. 
Managed by the PCO. 

 
3. Evaluation Stage Requirements 
 

Evaluators – Ensure evaluators are available and follow the evaluation rules and 
requirements. 
 
Moderation – Ensure evaluators are available for moderation meetings if 
applicable and follow the moderation rules and requirements. 
 
Approval – Approve the final bid result. 

 
4. Post-Award Stage Requirements (Contract Management) 
 

The following is a (non-exhaustive) summary of ongoing matters relating to 
Contract Management: 
 

 Review need for a DPIA. 

 Review IR35 status. 

 Review risk assessments. 

 Arrange and manage initial contract meetings/mobilisation. 

 Ensure legislation, standards and contract requirements are being met. 

 Arrange frequent meetings with the provider/contractor at the start of the 
contract. These are to be minuted and shared with the bidder. 

 Assist the PCO in confirming the annual expenditure on the contract. 

 Arrange annual reviews with bidder. These are to be minuted, shared with 
the provider/contractor and provided to the PCO on request. 

 Document contract performance issues and ensure these are raised with 
the provider/contractor. Notify the PCO of any significant performance 
issues. 

 
Do not agree to contract changes without consulting the PCO and Legal 
Services. 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

Report of the Monitoring Officer  
 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND UPDATE ON 
MEMBER CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS 
 

1. Purpose of report 
 

To update Members on the annual review of the Code of Conduct. 
  

2. Recommendation from the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee: 19 June 
2023 

 
RECOMMENDED to Council that the Code of Conduct at the appendix be 
approved.  
 

3. Detail 
 

The Localism Act 2011 section 27, places the Council under a duty to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct. In discharging this duty, the Council is required to 
adopt a Code dealing with the conduct that is expected of its Members and Co-opted 
Members. It was agreed Broxtowe Borough Council’s Code of Conduct, included in 
the appendix, would continue to be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it remains 
fit for purpose and in-line with Best Practice Recommendations.  

 
4. Considerations of the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee  
 

Members were informed at the meeting on 19 June 2023, that the Code was last 
reviewed in 2022 and a new Code was adopted on 13 April 2022 and came into effect 
on 11 May 2022. In line with the Best Practice Recommendations it was agreed that 
an annual review of the Borough’s Code would be added to the Committee’s agenda. 

 
The review recommended making no further amendments to the Code of Conduct 
currently adopted, as the Borough’s Code continues to be fit for purpose, provides 
clarity on the behaviour expected of Members and reflects public expectations. Both of 
Broxtowe’s Independent Persons were consulted and agreed with the review’s 
recommendation. 
 
Since adopting the new Borough Code and rolling out numerous Code of Conduct 
training sessions for both Borough and Parish Members in 2022/23 there has been a 
decrease in the number of Code of Conduct Complaints received in 2022/23, from 
those received in 2021/22. 

 
During the Committee’s consideration of Part 2 – General Obligations, it was 
suggested that under 4. ‘Confidentiality and Access to Information’, the word ‘and’ had 
been omitted at 4.1b)iv)2:  It was agreed this amendment would be made.  
 
 

Page 191

Agenda Item 8.3



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

 

It was suggested safeguarding concerns needed to be added as further ground for 
disclosing information. The following amendment was made as highlighted below: 

 

4.1 You must not disclose information: 

a) given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

b) acquired by you which you believe, or ought 

reasonably to be aware, is of a confidential nature, 

unless: 

i) you have the consent of a person authorised to 
give it; 

 
ii) you are required by law to do so; 
 
iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the 

purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 
provided that the third party agrees not to 
disclose the information to any other person; or 

 
iv) the disclosure is: 
 

1. reasonable and in the public interest or necessary due to 
safeguarding concerns; and 

 

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable  

    requirements of the Council, and 

 

3. you have consulted the Monitoring Officer [or Clerk] prior to 

its release. 

 
Dispensations (12.5) 
 
12.5 You will only be granted a Dispensation where there are reasonable grounds for 
doing so and where such grounds are in the public interest. 
 
It was queried what  grounds  a dispensation could be sought. The Localism Act 2011, 
Section 33 - Dispensations sets out the following:  
 
(1) A relevant authority may, on a written request made to the proper officer of the 

authority by a member or co-opted member of the authority, grant a dispensation 
relieving the member or co-opted member from either or both of the restrictions in 
section 31(4) in cases described in the dispensation. 

 

Page 192



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

(2) A relevant authority may grant a dispensation under this section only if, after having 
had regard to all relevant circumstances, the authority— 
(a) considers that without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited by   
section 31(4) from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business, 
(b) considers that without the dispensation the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business, 
(c) considers that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 
the authority’s area, 
(d) if it is an authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies 
and is operating executive arrangements, considers that without the dispensation 
each member of the authority’s executive would be prohibited by section 31(4) from 
participating in any particular business to be transacted by the authority’s 
executive, or 
(e) considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 
(3) A dispensation under this section must specify the period for which it has effect, 

and the period specified may not exceed four years. 
 
(4) Section 31(4) does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose of 

deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this section. 
 

Dispensations are very rarely granted and need to be assessed on a case-by-case 
basis. Broxtowe Borough Council has only granted dispensations under 33(2)(a) to 
allow Members to consider Members’ Allowances and Council Tax precepts. 
 

5. Financial Implications 
 

The comments from the Head of Finance were as follows: 
There are no additional budget implications for the Council in adopting the Code of 
Conduct. 
 

6. Legal Implications 
 

The comments from the Head of Legal were as follows:  
Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities operating 

executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a document which 
contains:  

(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct 
(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure) 
(c) the Code of Conduct for Members 
(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate.   
Broxtowe Borough Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s website 
 

7. Human Resource Implications 
 

Not applicable 
 

Page 193



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

8. Union Comments 
 

Not applicable 
 

9. Climate Change Implications 
 

The comments from the Waste and Climate Change Manager were as follows: 
N/A 
 

10. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

As there is no change to policy an equality impact assessment is not required.   
 

11. Background Papers 
 

There are no background papers.  
 

Page 194



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

 APPENDIX  

 

Code of Conduct of Broxtowe Borough Council  

 

Part 1: General Provisions 

 

Introduction 

This section sets out general interpretation and background to the Code of Conduct, 

including definitions used within the Code, the purpose of the Code, the principles the 

Code is based on and when the Code applies. It does not form part of the Code of 

Conduct itself and consequently does not contain any obligations for you to follow, as 

these are contained in the ‘Code of Conduct’ section below.  

All Councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct. 

 

Definition 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Member” means a Member or Co-opted 

Member of Broxtowe Borough Council (‘the Council’).  

A “Co-opted Member” is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person 

who is not a Member of the Council but who 

a) is a Member of any committee or sub-committee of the Council, or; 

b) is a Member of, and represents the Council on, any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the Council; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that 

committee or sub-committee”. 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set 

out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is also to 

protect you, the public, fellow Members, Council officers and the reputation of the Council 

and local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all Members 

and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The fundamental aim of 

the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of Member and local 

government. 

Page 195



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

You are Member or Co-opted Member of the Council and you have a responsibility to 

represent the community and work constructively with our staff and partner organisations 

to secure better social, economic and environmental outcomes for all.  

 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

The Code of Conduct has been adopted by the Council under Section 27 of the Localism 

Act 2011. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance 

of the office or attend your first meeting as Member or Co-opted Member and continues 

to apply until you cease to be a Member. 

The Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a Member 

or Co-opted Member of the Council and conduct the business of the Council (which, in 

this Code includes the business of the office to which you are elected or appointed). 

Where you act as a representative of the Council on another Council, you must, when 
acting for that other Council, comply with that other Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 
When you act as a representative of the Council on any other body, you must, when 
acting for that other body, comply with this Code of Conduct, except and insofar as it 
conflicts with any other lawful obligations to which that other body may be subject.  
 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

• at face-to-face meetings  

• at online or telephone meetings  

• in written communication  

• in verbal communication  

• in non-verbal communication  

• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments. 

You are expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times 

when acting as a Member. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of 

Conduct. It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code and to ensure 

all its obligations are met. You are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 

on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct, which you are unsure of. Town 

and Parish Members are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk (who may refer 

matters to the Monitoring Officer).  

 

 

Page 196



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

General principles of Member conduct 

In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity you are 

committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following Seven Principles 

of Public Life also known as the Nolan Principles set out below: These general principles 

underpin the obligations in the Code of Conduct that follows and aim to achieve best 

value for our residents and maintain public confidence in this Council: 

SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE: 

1. SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest. 
  

2. INTEGRITY: Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence 
them in their work. They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial 
or other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must 
disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 
 

3. OBJECTIVITY: Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly 
and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 
 

4.  ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for your decisions 
and you must co-operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office 
internally and externally, including by local residents.  
 

5. OPENNESS: Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there 
are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 
 

6. HONESTY: Holders of public office should be truthful.  
 

7. LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles and 
be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 
 

 
Part 2 – Member Code of Conduct  

General Obligations: 

 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a Councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

1. Respect 

1.1 You must always treat all others with respect, including the organisations, staff and 
public you engage with and those you work alongside.  

1.2 You must value colleagues and staff and engage with them in an appropriate manner 

Page 197



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

and one that underpins the mutual respect between you that is essential to good local 
government. 

 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 

2.1 You must not do anything which may cause the Council to breach any of the     
     equality enactments. 
 

a) bully any person; 
 
b) harass any person; 
 
c) behave in an improper or offensive manner; 

d) discriminate unlawfully against any person due to their race, age, religion, 

gender, sexual orientation or disability and will promote equalities.  

 

3. Impartiality of officer of the Council 
 

3.1 You must not do anything which compromises or is likely to compromise the 
impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 

 
3.2 You must deal with representations or enquiries from residents, members of our 

communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 
 

 

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

4.1 You must not disclose information: 

a) given to you in confidence by anyone, or 

b) acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, unless: 

i) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it; 

 

ii) you are required by law to do so; 

 
iii|)  the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining       

  professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 
the information to any other person; or 

 
iv) the disclosure is: 

 
1. reasonable and in the public interest or necessary due to safeguarding 

concerns;  and 
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements 

Page 198



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

of the Council; and 
3. you have consulted the Monitoring Officer [or Clerk] prior to its release. 

 

4.2 You must not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of your role as a 
Councillor for the advancement of yourself, your friends, your family members, your 
employer or your business interests.  
 

4.3 You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to     which that 

person is entitled by law. 

 

5. Disrepute 

5.1  You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded     as 

bringing your office or the Council into disrepute. 

 

6. Use of your position  

6.1 You must not use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to confer 
on or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage. 

6.2 You will not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside individuals   
or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your official 
duties. 

 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

7.1 You must not misuse Council resources; 

7.2 You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resource of the   

Council act in accordance with the Council’s reasonable requirements; 

7.2 You must ensure that such resources are not used improperly, including use  for 
political and party political purposes unless that use could reasonably be regarded 
as likely to facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the 
Council or of the office to which you have been elected or appointed. 

 
8. Decision making 

8.1 When reaching decisions on any matter you must have regard to any relevant    

advice provided to you by officers of the Council acting pursuant to their statutory 

responsibilities (including a proper officer designated by the Council), or other 

professional officers of the Council, taking all relevant information into consideration, 

remaining objective and making decisions on merit 

8.2  You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory       

requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed. 

Page 199



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

8.3 You must behave in accordance with all the Council’s legal obligations, alongside any 

requirements contained within this Council’s policies, protocols and procedures. 

8.4 You must not allow other pressures to unreasonably deter you from pursuing 

constituents' casework, the interests of the Council’s area or the good governance 

of the Council in a proper manner. 

 

9. Complying with the Code of Conduct 

9.1 You will undertake Code of Conduct training provided by your Council. 

9.2 You will fully cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination. 

9.3 You will not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved 

with the administration of any investigation or proceedings; in relation to an allegation 

that a Member (including yourself) has failed to comply with his or her Council’s Code 

of Conduct; 

9.4  You will comply with any sanction imposed on you following a finding that you have 

breached the Code of Conduct. 

 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the Council 

10. Interests   

10.1 You will register and disclose your interests in accordance with the provisions set out 

in Appendix A. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of Members of the Council. The register is publically 

available and protects you by demonstrating openness and willingness to be held 

accountable. 

You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an 

interest in a meeting which allows the public, Council employees and fellow Councillors 

know which of your interests gives rise to a conflict of interest.  If in doubt you should 

always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

defined in Appendix A, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

11. Gifts and hospitality 

11.1 You will not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which could give 

rise to real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence on my 

part to show favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the 

Council or from persons who may apply to the Council for any permission, licence or 

other significant advantage. 

Page 200



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

11.2 You will register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 

11.3 You will register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality with an 

estimated value of at least £25 that you have been offered but have refused to accept 

 
12. Dispensations  

12.1 You may request a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer for one meeting only.  

12.2 You must make the request in writing detailing what my interest is, why the 
dispensation is required and for what meeting.  

12.3 You must make any request 5 days prior to the meeting at which the Dispensation is 
required.  

12.4 You must make any further requests for dispensation to the Standards Sub Hearing 
Committee.  

12.5 You will only be granted a Dispensation where there are reasonable grounds for 
doing so and where such grounds are in the public interest.  

 
Appendix A sets out the situations where a Member’s personal interest in a matter may 

prevent them from participating in the decision-making process. In certain circumstances, 

however, there may be reasonable grounds to allow a Member to participate in decision-

making on that matter where it would be in the public interest to do so. Where you consider 

that there may be good grounds for you to continue to participate you should request a 

dispensation from the Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 201



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
1. Definitions 

 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means any interest described as such in the Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and includes an interest 
of yourself, or of your Partner (if you are aware of your Partner's interest) that falls within 
the descriptions set out in the following table. A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is a 
Registerable Interest. 
 
“Partner” means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 

Table of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain, which you, your spouse or 
civil partner, undertakes.  
{any unpaid directorship} 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from your 
Council) made or provided within the 
previous 12-month period in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in 
carrying out duties as a Member, or 
towards your election expenses.  
 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

Any contracts Any contract which is made between 
you, your spouse or your civil partner or 
person with whom you are living with as 
spouse or civil partner (or a body in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, has a beneficial interest) and 
the Council under which a) goods or 
services are to be provided or works are 
to be executed; and b) which has not 
been fully discharged.  

Page 202



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

Subject  Prescribed description 

 
For this purpose “body in which you or 
they have a beneficial interest” means a 
firm which the relevant person is a 
partner or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body 
corporate of which the relevant person 
is a director, or in the securities of which 
the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest. “Director” includes a Member of 
the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society.  
 

Land Any beneficial interest in which you, or 
your spouse or your civil partner, have 
and which is within the area of the 
Council.  
 
For this purpose “ Land” excludes an 
easement, servitude, interest or right in 
or over land which does not carry with it 
a right for you, your spouse, civil partner 
(alone or jointly with another) to occupy 
the land or to receive income. 

Licences  Any licences (alone or jointly with 
others) which you, or your spouse or 
your civil partner, holds to occupy land 
in the area of the Council for a month or 
longer.  
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 
a) the landlord is the Council; and b) the 
tenant is a body in which you, or your 
spouse or your civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living 
with, as if they were spouse/civil 
partners is a partner of or a director of 
or has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of.  

Securities 

 
 

Any beneficial interest in securities of a 
body where: (a) that body (to your 
knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the relevant Council; 
and (b) either: (i) the total nominal value 
of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or (ii) if the share 
capital of that body is of more than one 
class, the total nominal value of the 

Page 203



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

Subject  Prescribed description 

shares of any one class in which the 
Member, or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
Member is living as if they were 
spouse/civil partners have a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 
 
For this purpose, “securities” mean 
shares, debentures, debenture stock, 
loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning 
of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited 
with a building society.  

 

 
Note - Failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and to take part in any 
discussion in or vote on any matter in which the Member has        a pecuniary interest 
is a criminal offence, which is punishable by a fine of up to £5,000 and 
disqualification. 

         
“Registrable Interests” are interests that you are required to register in accordance with 
this Code of Conduct and include both Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other 
Registerable Interests. 
 
“Other Registerable Interests” are a personal interest in any business of your Council 

which relates to or is likely to affect:  

a) any unpaid directorships 
 

b) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your Council; or 
 

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or 

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union) 

of which you are a Member or in a position of general control or management. 

 

“Non-Registrable Interests” are interests that you are not required to register but need 

to be disclosed in accordance with section 3.3. 

Page 204



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

 
A “Dispensation” is agreement that you may continue to participate in the decision-
making process notwithstanding your interest as detailed at section 12 of the Code of the 
Conduct and this Appendix. 
 
A “Sensitive Interest” is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the Member, or 
a person connected with the Member, being subject to violence or intimidation. In any 
case where this Code of Conduct requires to you to disclose an interest (subject to the 
agreement of the Monitoring Officer in accordance with paragraph 2.4 of this Appendix 
regarding registration of interests), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, 
if it is a Sensitive Interest in such circumstances you just have to disclose that you have a 
Sensitive Interest under S32(2) of the Localism Act 2011. You must update the 
Monitoring Officer when the interest is no longer sensitive, so that the interest can be 
recorded, made available for inspection and published.  
 
A matter “directly relates” to one of your interests where the matter is directly about that 
interest. For example the matter being discussed is an application about a particular 
property in which you or somebody associated with you has a financial interest.  
 
A matter “affects” your interest where the matter is not directly about that interest but 
would still have clear implications for the interest. For example, the matter concerns a 
neighbouring property. 
 
2. Registering Interests  

2.1 You must, within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, or taking office 

as a Member or appointed as a Co-opted Member, register all details of Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interest and Other Registerable Interests, with the Monitoring Officer. 

2.2 You must upon your re-election as a Member or your re-appointment as a Co-opted 

Member, within 28 days re-register all details of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and 

Other Registrable Interests, with the Monitoring Officer. 

2.3 You must register any change to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or new interest 

within 28 days of becoming aware of it. 

2.4 You must notify the Monitoring Officer where you have a Sensitive Interest, with the 

reasons why you believe it is a Sensitive Interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees 

they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

2.5 You must observe the restrictions the Council places on your involvement in 

matters where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Registerable 

Interest, as defined by the Council. 

 

3. Declaration at and Participation in Meetings 
 

 If you are present at a meeting and you have either a Registerable or Non-

Registerable Interest in any matter to be considered or being considered, and the 

Page 205



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

interest is not a Sensitive Interest, you must disclose that interest to the meeting 

(whether or not it is registered). 

 

To determine whether your interest affects your ability to participate in a meeting, 
you must first determine what type of interest you have and, if necessary, go on to 
apply the tests as set out below. 

 
3.1 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 
3.1.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests:  
 

 Action to be taken 

 you must disclose the nature of the interest at the commencement of that 
consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent, whether or not such 
interest is registered in the Council’s register of interests of Member and Co-opted 
Members or for which you have made a pending notification.  If it is a sensitive 
interest you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have 
an interest.  
 

 you must not participate in any discussion of that particular business at the 
meeting, or if you become aware of a disclosable pecuniary interest during the 
meeting you must not participate further in any discussion of the business, 
including by speaking as a member of the public. 

 

 you must not participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting and  

 

 you must withdraw from the room at this point to make clear to the public that 
you are not influencing the meeting in anyway and to protect you from the criminal 
sanctions that apply should you take part, unless you have been granted a 
Dispensation. 

 

3.2 Other Registerable Interests 
 

3.2.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest 
or wellbeing of one of your Other Registerable Interests:  
 

Action to be taken 

 

Where a matter arises at any business of the Council, of its executive or any 

committee of the executive, or any committee, joint committee, or joint sub-

committee of the Council and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest relating to 

any business that is or will be considered at the meeting: 

 

 you must disclose the interest at the commencement of that consideration, or 
when the interest becomes apparent, whether or not such interest is registered in 

Page 206



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

the Council’s register of interests of Member and Co-opted Members or for which 
you have made a pending notification.  If it is a sensitive interest you do not have 
to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.  

 you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter, but may speak 
on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting  
 

 you must withdraw from the room unless you have been granted a 
Dispensation. 
 

3.2.2. The provisions of paragraph 3.1.1 and 3.2.1 shall be applied in such a manner as 

to recognise that this Code should not obstruct a Member’s service on more than 

one Council. For the avoidance of doubt, participation in discussion and decision 

making at one Council will not by itself normally prevent you from taking part in 

discussion and decision making on the same matter at another Council. This is on 

the basis that a reasonable member of the public will see no objection in principle 

to such service or regard it as prejudicing a Member’s judgement of the public 

interest and will only regard a matter as giving rise to a Personal Interest which 

might lead to bias in exceptional circumstances. 

3.3 Non-Registerable Interests 
 
3.3.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to a financial interest or 

the well-being of yourself or of a friend, relative or close associate (and is not a 
Registerable Interest):  

 
Action to be taken 

 you must disclose the interest; if it is a sensitive interest you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.  
 

 you must not take part in any discussion or vote, but may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting; and 
 

 you must withdraw from the room unless you have been granted a Dispensation. 
 

3.3.2. Where a matter arises at a meeting which does not directly relate to but affects 

a) a financial interest or the well-being of yourself or of a friend, relative or close 

associate; or 

b a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included in those you need to 

disclose under Other Registerable Interests 

Action to be taken 

 you must disclose the interest and extent of your interest including 
enough detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature, at 

Page 207



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes 
apparent.  

 

In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after disclosing your 

interest the following test in paragraphs 3.3.3 and 3.3.4 should be applied. 

3.3.3. Where a matter under paragraph 3.3.2 affects the financial interest or well-being 

or body: 

a) to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests or wellbeing of the 

majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision; and 

b) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest. 

Action to be taken 

 you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter but may 
speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak 
at the meeting; and 
 

 you must withdraw from the room unless you have been granted a 
Dispensation. 

 

3.3.4. Where a matter under paragraph 3.3.2 does not affect the financial interest or   

well-being or body: 

a) to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests or wellbeing of the 

majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision; and/or 

b) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would not believe that 

it would affect your view of the wider public interest 

Action to be taken 

 you may remain in the room,  
 

 you may speak if you wish to and take part in any discussion or  
 

 you may vote on the matter, provided you have disclosed your interest 
under paragraph 3.3.2. 

 

4.  Single-Member-Decision-Making 

4.1.  In the event that you are making a decision as a single Member the following 

section applies in relation to any interests you may have. 

4.1.1. Where you have a personal interest on a matter to be considered or is being 

considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise of your executive function 

(i.e., Single-Member-decision-making) and the interest is: 

Page 208



COUNCIL               12 July 2023 

a) A Registrable Interest; or 

b) A Non-Registrable Interest that falls under paragraph 3.3.3 above 

Action to be taken 

 you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and  
 

 you must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from 
arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
4.1.2. Where you have a personal interest on a matter to be considered or is being 

considered by you as a Cabinet Member in exercise of your executive function 

(i.e. Single-Member-decision-making) and the interest is a Non-Registrable 

Interest that falls under paragraph 3.3.4, 

 Action to be taken 

 you must make sure that any written statement of that decision records the 
existence and nature of your interest. 

 

Page 209



 Council        12 July 2023 

                             

P
age 210



 Council        12 July 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council  12 July 2023 

RESOURCES AND PERSONNEL POLICY PORTFOLIO 
COUNCILLOR G MARSHALL  

 
Report to Council -12 July 2023 

 

Finance Services Update 

Accounts Outturn 

As reported to Cabinet on 4 July, there was an underspend of £2.1m on the General 

Fund revenue budget in 2022/23.  Overall, after transfers to and from earmarked 

reserves, there was a net withdrawal of £1.0m from balances resulting in a closing 

General Fund Reserve of £6.4m at 31 March 2023.  This variation was due to a 

variety of a net budget underspends, additional income, budget carry forwards, 

changes in provisions, government grants and effective financial management 

across the Council. 

In terms of budget variations, there was a net overspend in direct staffing costs of 

£281k against the budget which included a challenging vacancy target.  Outturn 

included the full-year impact of the inflated pay award and agency and other 

temporary staff used to cover vacancies within the establishment.  Other budget 

increases impacted by the high price inflation economy included energy costs and 

transport fuel costs, with pressure on all other general operating expenses.  It was 

pleasing to note increased income generated from planning fees, refuse collection 

services and commercial property rentals.  Almost £1.0m of revenue grant monies 

was received from DLUHC for the Stapleford Town Fund and the UK Shared 

Prosperity Fund.  Some of this was utilised in year, but the remaining balance has 

been moved into earmarked reserves for application in 2023/24. 

In terms of financing the budget, the main area of risk, volatility and complexity is 

linked to Business Rates.  Whilst there has been growth in the net rates payable, this 

is accounted for through the Collection Fund with any benefit in the General Fund 

not materialising until the following year.  The value of Section 31 grants received in 

year, to compensate the Council for discount and relief schemes, was significantly 

less than estimated due to a late notification of grant conditions.  This shortfall has 

been fully provided for in the accounts and will be largely balanced out by an 

increase in net rates payable, which if all things remain constant, will see an increase 

in the distributed Collection Fund surplus in future years.  This timing issue for the 

General Fund is being monitored by the Section 151 Officer. 

Also reported to Cabinet was a £395k overspend on the Housing Revenue Account 

in 2022/23.  This resulted in an increased draw on HRA working balances which 

amounted to £2.97m at 31 March 2023.  The main reason for the overspend was the 

cost of using sub-contractors to complete necessary works, as there were vacancies 

in the Housing Repairs team.  This cost was partially offset by vacancy savings 

across the HRA establishment throughout the year.  There was also a technical 

overspend on capital depreciation charges largely due to an increasing Housing 

stock valuation.  It was pleasing to note that Housing Rent income was £198k higher 

Page 213

Agenda Item 9.1



Council  12 July 2023 

than the budget, whilst income from investment interest was £143k higher than 

budgeted due to positive cash flows and increases in the Council’s investment rates 

across the year. 

In terms of the approved Capital Programme for 2022/23, the Council spent £13.9m 

against a budget of £26.1m.  This included significant investment in the Council’s 

housing stock, housing acquisitions and new builds, Stapleford Towns Fund, 

Beeston Square, parks and open spaces, vehicle fleet and the ICT development 

programme.  The programme is financed by a mixture of capital receipts, grants and 

prudential borrowing.  The main slippage in the programme largely related to the 

Housing Delivery schemes, where progress can be affected by many external 

factors, and the Stapleford Towns Fund, which continues to progress at a pace.  The 

majority of schemes showing a budget underspend at year end, around £11.9m, 

were approved for carry forward into the 2023/24 capital programme.  The progress 

made and risks associated with all schemes continues to be carefully managed by 

the respective budget holders and is monitored GMT. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy and Business Strategy 

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and Business Strategy will be 

refreshed over the summer to reflect outturn and the latest budget information.  The 

outcomes will be presented to Cabinet on 3 October 2023 for approval in advance of 

2024/25 budget setting. 

Audit of the Statement of Accounts 

In addition to reporting the financial outturn to Cabinet on 4 July 2023, the draft 

Statement of Accounts for 2022/23 have been produced and are published on the 

Council’s website.  The accounts closedown process remains an extensive and 

complex project and it was a real achievement by the Finance Services team to meet 

the 31 May statutory deadline – brought forward by two months from 31 July in 

previous years.  The accounts will now be subjected to scrutiny by Mazars, the 

Council’s external auditors, with the audit expected to conclude and the accounts 

signed off by 30 November at the latest.  In the meantime, regular updates will be 

provided to the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee. 

Financial Procedure Rules, including Contract Procedure Rules 

As part of the review of the Constitution, a review of the Council’s Financial and 

Contract Procedure Rules has been undertaken.  The updated rules were 

considered by Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on 19 June and 

unanimously recommended onto Council tonight for formal approval and adoption.  

These rules are designed to assist the Council to regulate and control finances 

across the Council and are fundamental to maintaining acceptable standards of 

financial administration, supporting good governance and high performance.  Every 

employee shall comply with these rules when carrying out their duties.  The review 

sought to ensure the rules remained fit-for-purpose, complied with the relevant 

legislation and regulations and meet the current and future needs of the Council.  

The review process included benchmarking against similar documents published by 

other local district councils.  

Page 214



Council  12 July 2023 

The existing Financial Regulations were found to be generally effective but did 

require some update in terms of process and to specified delegated limits, which had 

not been refreshed for many years.  The main changes proposed included updates 

to budget virement limits, including capital virement from approved contingency; 

increasing write-off delegated limits; and adding a new section referring to 

partnership arrangements and external funding.  The Contract Procedure Rules were 

subjected to more extensive revision, to underpin the main objectives of allowing 

greater flexibility in our approach to procurement; allowing for new UK Procurement 

Law anticipated in 2024 and potential changes in procurement thresholds; and to 

structure the rules in a more logical order.  These changes were unanimously 

supported by Members at the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee. 

 

Revenues, Benefits, Quality & Control and Customer Services 

Revenues 

The Revenues Team are responsible for the administration of Council Tax and 

Business Rates, including the recovery of these. 

Council Tax is the main source of income for the Council and the other main major 

precepting authorities, such as Nottinghamshire County Council, Nottinghamshire 

Police and Crime Commissioner and Nottinghamshire Fire as well as the Parish 

Councils. In 23/24, the net charge is £79.9million, with 8% of this being retained by 

Broxtowe. 

Business Rates is a significant income generator for the Council with us being able 

to retain 40% of the amounts collected, with the remaining amounts being split 

between central government, NCC and Nottinghamshire Fire. A business is 

evaluated on its Rateable Value, as determined by the valuation office agency.  This 

council now collects over £28m in business rates. 

The Council Tax collection rate for 2022/23 was 97.4%, an improvement of over 

0.4% on the previous year.  Business Rates collection rate was 98.7%, an 

improvement over 1.2% on the previous year.      

The Revenues Team has recently concluded a Single Person Discount Review 

which has generated a further £84k for all precepting authorities to share based on 

their percentage of the Council Tax charge.   

Benefits 

The Benefits Team is responsible for the administration of Housing Benefit and 

Council Tax Support.  Both of these are designed to support the most vulnerable in 

our community.  With the introduction of Universal Credit (UC) we have seen a 

reduction on the number of Housing Benefit claims processed, however, most of 

those receiving UC will still be required to apply for assistance on Council Tax 

Support.   

The Team has provided support to customers through the Council Tax Support 

Fund.  This allows an additional amount up to £85 to Council Tax Support customers 

Page 215



Council  12 July 2023 

for the 2023/24 year. The fund equates to an additional £171k to support the most 

vulnerable in the community. 

Quality & Control 

Q&C is a small team that is responsible for the recovery of Sundry Debtors, Housing 

Benefit Overpayments and the Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP’s). 

DHP’s are to assist those receiving Housing Benefit or the Housing Element of 

Universal Credit and experiencing hardship.  This pot of money is received by 

Central Government but is reducing year on year. This year’s balance is £88k, which 

is equivalent to the 2022/23 amount but lower than previous years.  Nottinghamshire 

County Council have awarded a further £28k that the Council can add to the DHP 

fund through their allocation of Household Support Fund.  

Alternative Energy Rebate 

The Q&C team have been administering the alternative Energy Rebate schemes.  

This is to provide support for those that are not able to obtain the £400 directly from 

their gas or electricity supplier.  The scheme closed on 31 May 2023 and a further 

£98k has been awarded to support people in Broxtowe.   

Customer Services 

The Customer Services Team is responsible for handling phone calls and face to 

face interviews for the following 8 services as well as the switchboard.  Outside of 

these, it is the responsibility of the back office team 

 Council Tax 

 Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support 

 Business Rates 

 Housing Rents 

 Housing Repairs 

 Grounds Maintenance  

 Street Cleansing 

 Refuse 

The Council receives over 100,000 telephone calls.  In addition to this, they provide 

a reception service at the Beeston Council Offices as well as seeing customers face 

to face with more detailed queries regarding the services above. 

The Number of services provided is due to change with Housing Repairs being 

managed within the Housing Team.  There is no specified date for this transfer to 

take place but is expected within the next couple of months. 

The Team has experienced a high volume of turnover recently and has encountered 

recruitment issues, which are consistent with other areas of the Council.  In view of 

this, the team conducted an open day in which prospective applicants were welcome 

to see how the service works, what would be expected and also to provide support in 

the process of completing an application form.  The Team had over 30 attendees 

and received very positive feedback from those that attended.  As a result, we have 

Page 216



Council  12 July 2023 

been able to recruit 5 new people to join the team.  This is expected to assist in the 

improvement process for Customer Services.   

This works in line with the Customer Services Strategy that was approved by 

Members in January 2023. 

 

Human Resources Update 

A new Human Resources Officer has been appointed, from Leicester City Council 

who has completed a Level 3 Apprenticeship and is about to finish Level 5 

Apprenticeship in Human Resources. The Officer has fitted into the team well and is 

already involved in a lot of case work across the authority. Her final Apprenticeship 

project, will be developing a comprehensive Manager’s Induction Programme which 

will provide newly appointed Managers and internally appointed/promoted Managers 

with a wide-ranging training and induction programme that covers 

HR/Payroll/Learning & Development, Finance, Democratic Services, and Legal 

functions. 

Mental Health 

The Health and Safety Manager has been rolling out Mental Health training for all 

Senior Managers – so far 33 Managers have received training. 

We celebrated Mental Health Awareness Week in May and organised a Charity cake 

sale and raised £61 for the Mental Health Foundation, wear it Green day for 

employees to show support for Mental Health aware-ness, cakes at the Depot with 

mental health resources provided to the teams and drop-in sessions in the Wellbeing 

Room 

We have successfully reviewed and renewed our Mindful Employer Charter status, 

having maintained status for 10 years. The charter renews our commitment to 

supporting all employees and job applicants with a mental health condition. 

Maintaining this status, along with our recent award status of a Disability Confident 

Leader ensures that we are leading the way with Mental Health and Disabilities 

support. 

HR Policies 

The following policies are being reviewed at LJCC on 29 June: 

 Reserve Forces Mobilisation Policy – supporting Armed Forces Reservists 

 Leave Scheme – incorporating the additional days’ leave agreed from the 

2022/23 National Pay Award and amending relevant clauses to support the 

above Mobilisation Policy. 

Restructures 

The HR Team has supported a successful restructure within Housing Repairs which 

has improved terms and conditions, working arrangements, work/life balance, 

service delivery, internal promotions and recruitment opportunities. 

Page 217



Council  12 July 2023 

Bramcote Crematorium is undertaking a restructure that upskills some posts, adds 

resilience to rotas including Saturdays and harmonises some contractual anomalies 

Pre-Retirements 

The Council’s existing Pre-Retirement Course provider (Nottinghamshire and District 

Pre-Retirement Council) is ceasing to exist from July after 55 years. We have 

sourced an alternative (Affinity Connect) who provide the course to all the other 

Local Authorities. This service is free and will generate a saving. 

Apprenticeships 

We currently have 10 apprenticeships in progress, and have enrolled existing 

employees and new apprentices on a number of new apprenticeship courses 

including Senior Leader (Level 7), Internal Audit Professional, Horticulture, HR and 

ICT. 

We arranged an open day in February for the Horticulture Apprenticeship role, which 

was a huge success with around 10 prospective applicants attending on the day 

which included men, women, school leavers and adults, along with some candidates 

with disabilities. 

National Pay Award Negotiations 

The pay offer for 23/24 has been rejected by Unison/GMT/Unite and unions will be 

undertaking balloting over the next few months with strike action potentially 

proposed, although this will be done nationally on a ‘disaggregated’ basis which 

could result in strikes at some locations but not others depending on voter turnout at 

each organisation. We will await further information from the unions and the LGA. 

The pay offer was £1925 as per the 2022/23 award. 

Projects 

The HR Team were able to support the Council’s Elections work during April and 

May and conducted around 400 right to work checks for everyone working on the 

elections. 

We have successfully applied for and gained the Silver Award for the Armed Forces 

Employers Recognition Scheme and adapted our policies to support any Reservists.  

The HR Team is supporting the Deputy Chief Executive with the recruitment of a 

number of roles in the Asset Management team. 

Customer Services recently held an open day for a number of vacancies and had 

around 30-40 people attend – the HR Team supported activities on the day. 

Communications 

Several consultations have recently taken place, led by the Communications Team. 

The annual employee survey and the Let’s Talk Broxtowe Consultation to gather 

feedback on the new corporate plan, the latter of which received significantly higher 

return rates than a similar exercise in 2019. Results for both are currently being 

analysed and will be presented in due course.  

Page 218



Council  12 July 2023 

Other recent and ongoing communications and engagement activity includes: 

• Behaviour change communications to support the climate change and green 

futures programme. 

• Working with the Disability Forum to attract new people to the group and 

deliver new projects.  

• Activities to mark Armed Forces Day. 

• Supporting the Levelling Up, Towns Fund and UKSPF projects.  

The Council’s website was ranked first place out of 404 local government websites in 

the Q1 Sitemorse Index (up one place from Q1 of 2023/24). The Index assesses and 

ranks websites on usability, accessibility for people with disabilities, quality and 

performance. Significant work has been undertaken to review and continually 

improve the website for residents over the last 12 months and this is reflected in its 

high ranking in the index. 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL  12 JULY 2023 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND ASSET MANAGEMENT PORTFOLIO 

COUNCILLOR M RADULOVIC MBE 
 

Report to Council – 12 JULY 2023 
 
Planning Policy  
 
Strategic Plan  
 
Following a previous consultation on the ‘Issues and Options’ (‘Growth Options’) 
document, a ‘Preferred Approach’ document was the subject of consultation in 
January-February 2023 and the responses have been considered. Discussions have 
been held with the Planning Inspectorate and Planning Advisory Service, and as a 
result additional/updated evidence is being prepared on matters including housing 
need, transport, town centres, climate change and biodiversity.  A full draft of the 
Strategic Plan is being prepared for consultation in late 2023 or early 2024, to be 
followed by an examination by a Government Inspector. The ‘Preferred Approach’ 
document focused on the preferred strategy, housing and employment. It proposed 
that each authority other than Nottingham City Council should meet the housing 
need identified by the Government’s ‘standard methodology’. For Broxtowe the 
‘Preferred Approach’ involved focusing housing development at Chetwynd and at the 
land previously removed from the Green Belt at Toton. No further Green Belt 
releases for housing would be proposed. 
 
The Council is continuing to work in partnership with Gedling Borough, Nottingham 
City and Rushcliffe Borough Councils to develop the Greater Nottingham Strategic 
Plan. The Strategic Plan’s Vision is for the area to lead on sustainable development 
in the region. It seeks to make the most of our economic, cultural, heritage and 
natural assets and to be at the forefront of tackling and adapting to the impacts and 
challenges of climate change. It includes a focus on enhancing blue and green 
infrastructure links whilst also meeting the housing and employment needs of the 
area.  
 
A “Preferred Approach” consultation was undertaken in January and the Councils 
are now working towards a consultation on a ‘Pre Submission’ version of the plan 
later this year. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans  
 
Chetwynd: The Toton and Chilwell Neighbourhood Plan:  
 
The Independent Examination is still underway. We are working on the final 
amendments to plans within the document, the Policies Map. We will then forward 
the documents to before commencing a targeted consultation soon thereafter.  
 
Cossall Neighbourhood Plan: 
 
The Regulation 16 Consultation is currently underway by the Borough Council. The 
Plan has been publicised and representations are being received. This consultation 

Page 221

Agenda Item 9.2



 
COUNCIL  12 JULY 2023 

will end on Friday 14 July. Intelligent Plans and Examinations have been appointed 
by the Borough Council to undertake the Independent Examination, which will 
commence in July. 
 
Economic Development: 
 
Kimberley Levelling Up Fund 
 
The ‘Kimberley Means Business’ Levelling Up scheme in Kimberley has 
commenced. Town Centre Regeneration has launched with first round of business 
grants awarding over £20,000 to businesses in the town. Ecology surveys and tree 
clearance at Bennerley Viaduct have been completed and architectural plans for the 
proposed eastern ramp and visitors’ centre are ready for consideration by planning. 
 
Stapleford Town Deal 
 
Town Centre Grant Funding 
 
74 businesses have been supported by the Town Centre Grant Funding so far with 
£1 million committed to spend. 12 businesses have been granted an extension to 
spend their grant monies by the end of September.  
 
Additional Learning Facility  
 
All internal work is now complete, with final snagging client handover taking place on 
30 May 2023.  Opening event for the building to be held on 24 June in collaboration 
with Inspire. 
 
Safer Cycle Scheme and Super Highway  
 

 The Cycle Hub on Ilkeston Road opened November 2022 and has been hugely 
popular, making over 350 bikes roadworthy to date.  The Hub currently operates 
twice weekly and supports 60-80 people a week with transport/cycle related issues.  

 
 The Cycling Proficiency Training Track and Circuit around the Ilkeston Road 

Recreation Ground completed March 2023 and is currently under-going final 
snagging works. The formal opening of the Cycle Hub and Proficiency Track is 
scheduled for 3 July led by Darren Henry MP.  The MP has sourced Chris Boardman 
MBE to officially open the event.  Local primary schools have been invited. 
Development of the Cycle Super Highway is on-going in collaboration with VIA EM.  
 
Traffic Management and Street Scene  
 
The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities approval of the 
Summary Document, Monitoring and Evaluation and Project Adjustment Request for 
the project has been received and we expect funding to commence mid-July 2023.  
 
The Planning Committee granted planning permission on 7June 2023 for the 
Community Centre and Young People’s Facility.  A community consultation event 

Page 222



 
COUNCIL  12 JULY 2023 

was held on 25 May 2023 with over 80 attendees.  Further consultations with the 
public will be held but majority of views were positive.  
 
Enterprise Hub  
 

 Planning permission was granted 8 March 2023 for a new car park to be built at 131-
133 Derby Road on the former Tiles UK site.  This is a piece of enabling work for the 
Enterprise Hub.  It is hoped that the car park will be fully operational by the end of 
October 2023. A design tender for the Enterprise Hub has gone to architects on 5 
June with contracts to be awarded in August 2023.   
 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
Our ‘Year 1’ projects, with total funding of £313,650 got under way from mid-
February, following delays in UK Government’s confirmation of UKSPF funding. In 
the People & Skills theme, we are supporting the continuation of Broxtowe 
employment and Skills Partnership, previously funded through EU funds and have 
commissioned a report on potential future P&S activity from the Partnership’s co-
ordinator, at East Midlands Chamber. In the Business Support theme, we ran a very 
successful High Street Business Grant round in late March, spending £48,712 on 
small projects in Eastwood and Beeston/Chilwell. We will be running a set of 
business networking events, in each of the Borough’s four main towns, in 
September.  In the Communities & Place theme, our commissioned projects are; 
Stapleford Food Festival (24 June) and Beeston Light Night (4 November); the 
CCities Project (various events over 6 months); Ridewise establishing a new cycle 
hub at Coronation Park in Eastwood; Broxtowe Women’s Project running a training 
and awareness programme; CAB piloting their innovative Financial Resilience 
programme. Our Communities & Place Good Ideas Fund is supporting 22 projects, 
all but two of which will be completed by September.  
 
We are currently confirming details of our ‘Year 2’ Projects, most of which were set 
out in our investment plan, with total funding of £627,300. These include: 
 

• A small set of People & Skills projects, to bridge a gap between the end of 
EU-funded programmes and the beginning of our ‘Joint Commissioning’ 
P&S and Business Support programme, in September.  

• For Business Support, the ‘Joint Commissioning’ programme, agreed 
between us, other Nottinghamshire District and Borough Councils and the 
County Council, will deliver a programme of business support in Years 2 
and 3, following the end of the EU and Council-supported programmes 
offered by the D2N2 Growth Hub.    

• A set of Communities & Place projects includes continued support to CAB’s 
Financial Resilience Project, Ridewise’s work in Eastwood and Broxtowe 
Women’s Project.     

 
Year 3 Funding is more substantial at £1,643,527 reflecting the end of EU-supported 
People & Skills activity. A substantial portion of this funding is committed to the 
delivery of Business Support and People & Skills activity through the Joint 
Commissioning programme. We will develop a suite of Community & Place and 
People & Skills projects.       

Page 223



 
COUNCIL  12 JULY 2023 

 
 
 
Eastwood Updates 
 
Although the Eastwood Levelling Up Fund bid was unsuccessful, the Government 
have announced there will be a third round of the Levelling Up Fund and it is 
anticipated that the Council will place another bid in for Eastwood. In the meantime, 
the Durban House Community Group has been successful with a bid to the SPF 
‘Good Ideas Fund’, and received £5,000 to commission a feasibility study at Durban 
House to ascertain what work is required to bring it back into community use. Further 
to this, the Nottingham Forest Community Trust were also successful with their Good 
Ideas Fund bid and will be running outreach/community football activities in 
Eastwood for young people over the summer. Brinsley Food Bank also received 
funding from the Good Ideas Fund, and there are a number of community 
organisations that will be/have received funding that will benefit the residents of 
Eastwood, such as Citizen’s Advice and RideWise. A £25,000 business grant 
scheme was opened earlier in the year to businesses in Eastwood which has been 
very successful and received a considerable number of applications. 
 
Asset Management 
 
The tendering process for the 3 new build contracts to provide 28 affordable homes 
for rent on former garage sites, (plus the site of the Inham Nook pub) continues. We 
are in final stages of negotiation before signing the first construction contract. All 
schemes have Planning consent, and the contract with Homes England is now in 
place. This has allowed the first tranche of capital grant funding to be claimed – 
money towards the acquisition of the Inham Nook former pub. 
 
Negotiations continue with developers and landowners on two schemes which will 
between them will provide up to 76 affordable dwellings for rent and shared 
ownership at Field Farm and off Coventry Lane.  
 
The “buyback” programme of former Council houses has been streamlined, with 
relationships built with local estate agents and a fast surveying process to identify 
necessary works prior to offers being made. The scheme added 6 extra properties to 
the affordable rent roll in the year to end March 2023. 
 
Following completion of the refurbishment of the old Argos block at The Square, 
Beeston unit 36 is currently under offer to Coffee#1. There remains 4 vacant units in 
this block some with offers received and these are under consideration.  
 
A new letting of Unit 5 in phase 2 of The Square is due to complete week 
commencing 19 June 2023. This leaves unit 4 as the last remaining vacant unit in 
this block. We will be revaluating the marketing strategy of this unit to try to 
encourage further interest. 
 
Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) 
 

Page 224



 
COUNCIL  12 JULY 2023 

The work to the Eastwood area, mainly Princess Street and Wellington Street will 
include Insulating the walls to the buildings and topping up the loft insulation to meet 
the current standards. The work is in the conservation area and will include External 
Wall Insulation to the rear walls, non- roadside and Internal wall insulation to the 
front elevations. Some of the properties that have older window system will also be 
replaced during the duration of the 2-year scheme. The scheme is aimed at reducing 
the energy costs to the properties and tenants but also enhance the look of the 
areas. A lot of the other repairs issues will be picked up on the project including roof, 
gutter and chimney issues. The overall emphasis of the funding is to reduce the 
carbon footprint to the area. The bid included a total of 88 Properties, with the 
majority in Eastwood. A tender for the contract to deliver the project is soon to be 
issued using the Efficiency East Midlands Insulation Works framework.  
 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
HOUSING PORTFOLIO 

COUNCILLOR V C SMITH 
 

Report to Council – 12 July 2023 
 
Discounted Market Sale Properties 
 
The Council’s first four Discounted Market Sale properties have been successfully 
allocated at the Old Mill Farm site in Brinsley, with the new occupiers moving in 
imminently. This is a low-cost homeownership product that allows local people who 
are experiencing issues with housing costs, mortgage deposits and income to get 
onto the property ladder. The new occupiers are all from Eastwood or Kimberley and 
were previously privately renting or living with parents. The Housing Services and 
Strategy team have been working closely with the developer to ensure that these 
properties are correctly allocated to local residents in housing need. 
 
Homelessness 
 
The Housing Options team continue to see a rise in the number of landlords serving 
notices on their tenants, which has led to more approaches from people at risk of 
homelessness. The team are starting to see the impact of the cost of living crisis, 
with properties becoming unaffordable for tenants and landlords issuing notices as 
they have to sell their properties due to their own financial situation. The team have 
also seen an increase in male domestic abuse approaches. 
 
The team focus as much of their time as possible on early intervention and 
prevention work to try and reduce the numbers approaching when they are homeless 
and without accommodation. During March, April and May the team have 
successfully intervened or prevented 132 households from becoming homeless. 
 
The increase in early intervention work has meant that fewer households have 
required temporary accommodation, this has given us the opportunity to redecorate 
a number of properties and replace worn items. We strive to ensure that when 
people are faced with homelessness we can offer them a welcoming place to stay. 
The Council’s use bed and breakfast is continuing to reduce. In May 2023 there were 
only four bed and breakfast placements, and none of these were for more than 
seven days. 
 
Allocations 
 
The Council currently has 1438 active applications on our Housing Register. In the 
last three months, we have received 601 new applications. The team pro-actively 
contact those that have not placed a bid in over 90 days and also completed annual 
renewals. This ensures that our Housing Register is accurate and that we are 
working with applicants in the greatest housing need. Some excellent work by the 
Lettings Officers has resulted in there being no long term empty properties that have 
been classified as ‘difficult to let’. 
 

Page 227

Agenda Item 9.3



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

Over the past 12 months our average relet time has not been within target, however 
with the changes to the structure of the Housing Repairs team we are already seeing 
the positive impact on turnaround times. 
 
Repairs 
 
The Repairs Review continues to progress. A number of key vacancies, including 
two manager vacancies, have now been filled and projects to improve the service 
have begun. This includes work to improve the average time taken to resolve an 
issue; our first time fix rate to prevent tenants waiting at home for multiple visits; our 
processes for communication with tenants when there are delays and our processes 
for booking and rearranging appointments. We are confident that we can improve 
our current delivery service and increase the satisfaction amongst our tenants. 
 
We are also in the process of a recruitment drive for additional trade operatives, to 
support our aim to provide as much of the repairs service in-house as possible. A 
dedicated repairs call centre is taking shape and should be in a position to start 
taking all repairs calls in the near future.  
 
Income Management 
 
The Income Management team are continuing their hard work to ensure that tenants 
are feeling supported during the cost of living crisis. Our Financial Inclusion Officers 
are working closely with Citizens Advice and continue to process applications for the 
Housing Support Fund, which is being delivered in partnership with Nottinghamshire 
County Council.  
 
The team have also been working hard to ensure that all tenants claiming Universal 
Credit have had their rent increase verified, so that the payment of their housing 
entitlement is correct. This is key to ensuring that tenants claiming Universal Credit 
do not build up arrears on their rent account. Only 0.44% of tenants claiming 
Universal Credit have over 8 weeks of arrears. 
 
Activities at Independent Living Schemes 
 
The addition of a third Activities Coordinator has increased our capacity to extend 
the activities programme offered to tenants at Independent Living Schemes. We are 
now able to offer one-to-one activities to those who are housebound, and tailor 
activities to the tenants’ needs. The Activities Coordinators are providing on average 
29 activities each per month. New activities include a singing group at Greenwood 
Court, and a sign language class at Phoenix Court. This work is invaluable in 
combating loneliness and improving engagement. 
 
Houses in Multiple Occupation 
 
We are continuing to process applications for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HiMO) 
licences and disabled facilities grants to progress adaptions which allow people to 
stay in their own homes for longer. 
 

Page 228



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

Three Grants under the Warm Homes on Prescription Scheme have been offered to 
enable improvements to be made where the occupier has a health condition made 
worse by cold – such as replacement boilers where old boilers have failed etc. 
Inspections of properties on the homes for Ukraine Scheme and Asylum Seekers are 
continuing. Inspection of private rented properties to ensure standards are 
maintained and identifying formal action where timely resolution is not achieved. 
 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

LEISURE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO 
COUNCILLOR C CARR 

 
Report to Council– 12 July 2023 

 
Leisure and Health  
 
The Events Team have recently delivered the first events of the 2023/24 event 
programme. The Hemlock Happening at Bramcote Hills Park reached some of its 
highest ever attendance figures with 7,000 people visiting throughout the course of 
event.  
 
Friday18, the Council’s live music event is also underway, with live music 
performances every Friday from 16 June until 18 August in Beeston Square. The 
event is designed to bring some summer ambience to the town for visitors and 
encourage them to go on to some of the local restaurants, bars and cinema. The 
event has developed from the Council’s partnership with the German town of 
Gutersloh. 
 
The next events in the programme are the Play Days – family events taking place 
during the school holidays: 
 

• Beeston – 28 July at Broadgate Park 
• Stapleford - 1 August at Hickings Lane Recreation Ground 
• Eastwood – 3 August at Coronation Park 
• Chilwell – 7 August at Inham Nook Recreation Ground 
• Kimberley – 9 August at Kimberley School Field  

 
A great deal of work has been undertaken at the museum since Cultural Services 
moved back in house in November including a successful children’s writing 
competition which received 227 entries and helped the museum to engage with over 
700 people. A renewed focus on marketing, thanks to the Museum and 
Communications Teams now being integrated, has seen an increase in press 
coverage, enquiries from groups looking to visit. 
 
Work over the coming months includes a new campaign around family connections 
to encourage visitors who may not ordinarily engage with Lawrence, as well as the 
D.H. Lawrence Festival which takes place from 1 – 11 September.  
 
Armed Forces 
 
As an Employer, Broxtowe Borough Council have moved from Bronze to Silver 
status in the Armed Forces Employer Recognition Scheme and are working towards 
gold status.   
 
The new WWI & WWII Roll of Honour is now Live. The new website will allow family 
members and researchers free access to a site that pays tribute to those men and 
women, armed forces, seafarers and civilians alike who gave their lives for our 
freedoms. Roll of Honour, Nottinghamshire County Council. 
 

Page 231

Agenda Item 9.4



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 
 
Children and Young People 
 
Communities Officers were able to speak to year 5 and 6 pupils at Beeston fields 
primary school during mental health awareness week.  A successful morning with 
interactive sessions which evidenced the importance of mental health and the impact 
it can have on children.     
 
An interactive presentation on the importance to physical health and the link to men-
tal health was delivered to the Broxtowe Youth Voice Group.  The group consists of 
year 8 children from across schools in Broxtowe with a Member of Youth Parliament.   
  
The next Children and Young people’s network meeting will hear from a range of 
services including NSPCC, Reducing Parental Conflict Team and the 
Neurodevelopmental Behaviour Service from Nottingham County Council. They will 
be talking about initiatives and services they have that could benefit children and 
young people.  There will also be representatives from schools in Broxtowe in 
attendance.     
 
Food insecurity  
 
A successful bid for £7,210 for an Eastwood and £7,900 for a Chilwell based food 
club have secured the future of these services following their closure by the County 
Council in March. Plans for the Eastwood club are being finalised but the Chilwell 
club is now running at St Barnabas Church on Mondays from 1:30- 3:30pm with over 
50 families registered. 
 
Tobacco Control 
 
The Nottinghamshire City and County Declaration on Tobacco Control has been re-
signed.  The Smoking and Tobacco Control vision document and delivery plan was 
launched on World No Tobacco day on 31 May 2023 and we continue to work with 
our partners to reduce the harms of tobacco and vapes. 
 
Health 
 
Learning Disability Roadshows are being delivered bi-monthly with the next held on 
Monday 24 July, 10am-2pm at St Helens Church in Stapleford. Roadshows are held 
to better understand the needs of those with learning disabilities and increase 
awareness and signup of the annual health check.   
 
The Borough Council have renewed its pledge to tackle tobacco related issues by 
signing the Nottinghamshire County & Nottingham City Declaration on Tobacco 
Control in April. The Tobacco Alliance coordinates various task and finish groups 
with its most recent one considering the increasing concern of vaping in children and 
young people  
 
 

Page 232



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
 
Mental Health 
 
South Nottinghamshire Mental Health Steering Group considered mental health 
within the South Nottinghamshire Dementia Plan as part of the NHS England 
Transformation Framework – The Well Pathway for Dementia 
 
Consultation on the Major Conditions Strategy (including dementia) is underway and 
open until the 27 of June.  This will lead to a national dementia strategy and it will be 
important to align this with the local dementia plan. 
 
Leisure Centres Update 
 
The footfall and patronage at our leisure centres continued to improve throughout 
2022-23. Fitness memberships have grown by 4,263 which is 6.5% more than the 
target for the year. At the end of May 2023 the total membership was 4,247 the 
reduction reflecting changes in the membership following the price changes in April.  
3,584 people receiving a swim lesson every week at our Swim School with these 
numbers being close to the maximum occupancy for the two swimming sites.  
 
The cost of living crisis is affecting the operating costs across all aspects of our 
leisure centre operations. The company revised its budgets for 2022-23 to mitigate 
for expenditure increases, total operating income increased and the allocated 
management fee was reduced in year by £100k. The company’s reserves, detailed 
in the draft accounts at 31 March 2023 are £491,969 which is reduced from 
£602,130 from the end of March 2022.  In this financial year operating expenditures 
continue to increase, the company is working to manage its finances by 
implementing a number of recommendations agreed with Broxtowe Borough 
Council.   
 
Exercise Referral continues to grow with referrals being received from GP surgeries 
and a range of health professionals. The referral membership at the end of May 
2023 is 316 members which is a 75% increase on the numbers at 1 April 2022.  
 
The company is working with the Council to deliver the exciting pavilion project at 
Hickings Lane, Stapleford and continues to work with Kimberley School to ensure 
that the new arrangements at the Kimberley School site deliver the best outcomes 
for the community.  
 
Liberty Leisure Limited continues to develop opportunities to target different groups 
of people in the community. The team are now delivering a corporate health 
awareness programme with Recketts in Beeston Rylands, whilst continuing to 
support the Broxtowe Women’s Project to engage with vulnerable women to enable 
them to begin exercising.  
 
6 Ukrainian refugees have gained free access to the gym, exercise classes, 
swimming, and swim school for a six-month period at our leisure sites.  

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE PORTFOLIO 

COUNCILLOR H E SKINNER 
 

Report to Council – 12 July 2023 
 
 
Environment:  
 
The Environment team have been working hard to deliver on its commitment to 
‘Protect the Environment for the future’. To help support this work two new posts have 
been created and recruited to focus on Waste and Recycling and Climate Change. If   
Members are interested in organising a community litter pick, or if you know of any 
local community groups wanting to know more about Climate Change or Waste and 
Recycling, please get in touch with the Environment team who will be happy to help. 
 
Climate Strategy Consultation  
 
As you are aware, in 2019, Broxtowe Borough Council made an ambitious 
commitment to become carbon neutral by 2027. As a result, in 2020, the Council 
created its ‘Climate Change Strategy and Green Futures’ Programme to provide 
strategic direction on how this target would be reached.  
 
Climate change is complex and dynamic and as such the Climate Change and Green 
Futures Strategy was revised to reflect this. The strategy was adopted last week at 
Cabinet. One of the first actions implemented as an outcome of the revised Strategy 
has been the undertaking of a public consultation exercise with all our stakeholders. 
This will help ensure that future revisions of the document are comprehensive and 
inclusive.  
 
To facilitate this, a public consultation exercise on the draft strategy was undertaken 
by two MSc Environmental Leadership and Management students from the University 
of Nottingham.  
 
The consultation process took place over four weeks in June and consisted of an 
online survey (access to paper copies were made available across a number of 
locations across the borough) and a number of focus groups sessions.   
 
Results from the consultation are currently being analysed and an update will be 
provided to Members in due course.  
 
Green Rewards 
 
The Green Rewards platform is an online platform using gamification to incentivise, 
encourage and inspire residents to take positive environmental behaviour change. 
 
The ground breaking programme has a clear carbon reduction focus and is utilised by 
residents across Nottinghamshire and Nottingham City. It allows residents to 
accumulate points for undertaking sustainable actions (these actions lower their 
carbon footprint, which in turn helps to tackle climate change), as well as capturing the 

Page 235

Agenda Item 9.5



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

user’s carbon avoidance metrics, helping support the Nottinghamshire Partners’ 
commitments to work towards becoming carbon neutral. 
 
As Members are aware, the Green Rewards platform was shortlisted for two awards 
this year.  
 
Household registration numbers across the Borough continue to grow. Currently, there 
are 2,454 households taking part, which equates to 5% of all households in the 
Borough.  
 

To date Broxtowe Borough residents, have:  
 

 Saved enough water to fill 37,000 baths by having a four-minute shower 

 Saved enough energy to power 8,000 homes by switching off appliances that 
are not being used  

 Avoided using 170,000 single use plastic items by switching to a reusable cup 
or bottle  

 Avoided emitting 146 tonnes of carbon (which is the equivalent of filling 146 hot 
air balloons).  

 
 
Green Festivals and Community Engagement Events 
 
Building on the success from last year, the Environment Team are running two Green 
Festival Events in 2023. At the Hemlock Happening in June, the team had a ‘green 
zone’ area. A range of stalls and activities were available, raising awareness on 
environmental issues, which in turn will have helped to influence positive behaviour 
change. The next Green Festival event is taking place on the 23 September 2023, on 
Coronation Park in Eastwood. Planning and promotion is well underway and I would 
ask you all to show your support and promote this event as widely as possible.  
 
The Environment Team will also be attending all the Play Days planned across the 
Borough in the summer. They will be offering sustainable crafting activities for the 
children and will be available to offer advice on environmental issues.  
 
The delivery of engagement events (including community litter picks and talks to local 
community groups) by the Environment Team has significantly increased this year. 
These events have helped to raise awareness and drive positive behaviour change 
around the themes of littering, waste, recycling and climate change.  So far the team 
have undertaken 34 community engagement events, this is up 55% compared to the 
same time last year.   
 
Parks and Green Spaces 
 
Over the past few months the Grounds Maintenance team have been working on a 
number of summer bedding projects. Over 20,000 bedding plants have been planted 
at various locations across the Borough which include Geraniums, Salvias, Marigolds 
and Petunias. The team have also designed and installed a United Kingdom Flag bed 
at the Sherwin Island in Bramcote, to commemorate the recent coronation of King 

Page 236



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

Charles III and to celebrate the life of Elizabeth II. This has been planted using a 
combination of red & white Begonias and blue Petunias. 
 
Pride in Parks 
 
The 2023/24 Pride in Parks projects are now in the planning stage with improvements 
planned for Bramcote Hills Park, Sandy Lane Open Space, Queen Elizabeth Park, 
and Banks Road Open Space. There are also a number of resurfacing projects 
happening at the moment which are a result of the annual parks and asset inspections 
regime. 
 
Enhancing biodiversity  
 
Enhancing biodiversity across the Borough is a key priority for the Council and to help 
support this action, one of the flower beds at Queen Elizabeth Park has been turned 
into a haven for pollinators. A mixture of flowering shrubs and herbaceous perennials 
were selected for the bed and were chosen for their bright colours, scent and nectar 
secretion. 
 
Meadows around the Borough are now in bloom and buzzing with life. Species rich 
grasslands have a high percentage of flowering plants that support an incredible 
assortment of insect and animal life. They also have a much greater capacity to absorb 
and store carbon from the atmosphere. It has been estimated that the soil under a 
flower rich meadow can contain 500% more carbon than that under plain grass.  
 
Research has shown that vegetation helps slow rainfall run-off, directing water into the 
ground where the organic content of the soil holds the moisture, helping reduce flood 
risk. The Environment Team are working to retain, improve and extend areas in local 
nature reserves and open spaces. Last spring, installation of new signage began, 
highlighting the positive management of grassland areas and how these help promote 
the growth of wildflowers and their subsequent support of pollinating insects. The team 
are now extending this signage to cover all key sites, including Brinsley Headstocks 
and Toton Fields. 
 
Environmental Protection 
 
The Annual Status Report for Air Quality is currently being written for submission to 
DEFRA – this confirms that we have had no exceedances of the Air Quality Monitoring 
Objective for nitrogen dioxide at our sites in 2022. 
We are in the process of reviewing the Smoke Control areas within the Borough and 
working on a consultation in respect of this. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PORTFOLIO 

COUNCILLOR H FACCIO 
 

Report to Council – 12 July 2023 
 
Community Safety 
 
The Communities Team have been working very hard on its commitment to reduce 
crime and anti-social behaviour and improve health and wellbeing making the bor-
ough a safer, healthier place to live for all our residents.  
 
Crime 
 
The Successful Safer Streets 4 funding bid (192,000) for Eastwood is drawing to a 
close with Fixed and mobile CCTV, Electric Bikes and Laptops for the Police to make 
them more agile and efficient, additional ANPR cameras, Environmental Improve-
ments and Target Hardening for vulnerable residential properties with new locks and 
ring doorbells. 
 
A successful Safe4All funding bid (£33,300) for Eastwood was made to the Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) to maximise the fixed CCTV system in 
Eastwood Town Centre replaced through safer Streets 4 Funding. 
It is expected that the Home Office will announce Safer Streets 5 by the end of June 
so work can begin on the Environmental Impact Assessment and bid processes. 
 
The Broxtowe Crime reduction plan (BCRP) has been put in place by the Broxtowe 
Crime Reduction Focus Group. A bike marking event was held on 13 February in 
Beeston with a second being planned in Stapleford at a later date.  
 
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
 
The new Anti-Social Behaviour Action Plan 2023/26 is being prepared with a variety 
of partners to help reduce ASB within the borough. Once completed this will form 
part of the newly merged Crime and ASB Action Plan.  
 
Regular ASB meetings are held with partners to manage complex cases requiring a 
multi-agency approach and targeted work carried out.  
 
The ASB team visited a school in Beeston Rylands on 18 May to talk to pupils about 
what ASB is and what the implications may be of being involved in ASB. Unfortu-
nately, another planned for March was cancelled by the school.  
 
The ASB Team have supported two Days of Action around the borough so far in 
2023 where residents are able to dispose of unwanted items and able to speak to 
the Team for information/advice regarding any ASB issues and signposting to other 
agencies. 
 
 
 

Page 239

Agenda Item 9.6



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

 
Community Safety 
 
A new Community Safety Strategy has been drawn up to support the work of the 
Communities Team, South Notts Community Safety Partnership (SNCSP) and Safer 
Notts Board (SNB). 
 
A Counter Terrorism Situational Risk Assessment has been prepared to identify the 
areas of greatest risk and to inform and focus resources. 
  
Countywide Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) panel meetings have been re-
developed to enable multi agency focus on intelligence gathering, enforcement and 
support for victims. 
 
Neighbourhood Safeguarding and Disruption (NSD) Panels have been reviewed fol-
lowing the extremely successful pilot inn Broxtowe. Amendments to the Terms of 
Reference will be made to include a much broader cohort and lower level cases with 
an escalation pathway to the County Child Exploitation Panel (CCEP) when these 
are implemented across the County.  
 
Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) Highland is nearing completion, agencies are 
formulating their actions for the action plan before this being finalised by the DHR 
panel prior to submission to the South Notts Community Safety Partnership 
(SNCSP) and Home Office. New countywide Slavery, Substance Misuse and Fraud 
Partnerships have been set up which we are supporting. 17 safeguarding referrals 
have been received since the 1 January.  
 
Domestic Abuse 
 
NSPCC will run their first Domestic Abuse Recovering Together (DART) programme 
in Broxtowe at Beeston Youth and Community Centre in October 2023.  The DART 
programme is for a mother and child who’ve experienced domestic abuse, and is a 
10-week group programme designed to support them in their recovery journey and in 
rebuilding their relationship with each other. 
A report on White Ribbon activities over the past year has been delivered to the 
White Ribbon organisation and we are meeting all targets so far and currently on 
track to achieve reaccreditation at the end of our current period of accreditation. 
 
Broxtowe Borough Council and Broxtowe Women’s Project have begun the organi-
sation of several events for the White Ribbon 16 days of action in November to pro-
mote the organisation, including working with local sports clubs and music venues to 
engage with a wider audience on how to reduce violence against women and girls. 
 
We have recently joined the countywide Domestic Abuse Children and Young Peo-
ple’s Subgroup to increase focus on the effect of domestic abuse on children. 
 
Licensing  
 
A recent visit to an off licence in Beeston found that they were operating without the 
correct licences in place. After advising them that they could no longer sell alcohol 

Page 240



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

and to remove items from the shelves, they now have all the correct paper work in 
place. 
 
Operation Night Angel involved working with our Partners and Police. We have visit-
ed local licensed premises, conducted drug wipes tests and carried out knife scans 
to deter the carrying off weapons. We have spoken and offered reassurance to the 
local community. 
 
Attended the pub watch meeting and offered advice and support to local licensed 
premises. 
 
Attended 2x joint enforcement days - one at East Midlands Airport and the other in 
Nottingham city centre - where with other partners, such as police licensing officers 
and the DVLA, we checked taxi drivers were licensed and that the vehicles were 
roadworthy.  
 
Hearings have been held in relation to a new premises licence and taxi driver appli-
cations. Despite the gloomy economic forecast 15 new premises were granted a li-
cence under the Licensing Act 2003 in 2022-2023. The Licensing Enforcement Of-
ficer attended a multi-agency taxi check operation at East Midlands Airport in May 
2023. 
 
 
Results: 
- 106 licensed vehicles have been stopped by police and escorted to the in-

spection location for compliance checks. 
- 1 privately owned vehicle stopped for number plate and window tint issues 

and dealt with by the Police 
- 2 PSV vehicles also stopped and dealt with by the police.  (one was fined, and 

the other was dealt with for driving not in accordance with a licence) 
- HMRC dipped tanks for compliance with diesel.  No issues identified. 
- All vehicles checked for MOT/Compliance and insurance by the police 
- One vehicle had their Taxi/PH plate removed (Erewash Borough Council) due 

to tyre defects. 
- A further vehicle had their plate removed due to tyres and given back as de-

fects rectified onsite. 
- 2 drivers were dealt with for not having their Taxi/PH drivers badge with them.  

(Verification was sought from their licensing authorities and was licensed alt-
hough they did not have their badges with them or their badge displayed was 
out of date). 

 
The Licensing Team supports Pub Watches in Eastwood/Kimberley and Stapleford. 
Currently working to help the Beeston Pub watch to become active again. A number 
of visits were undertaken to Gambling Premises in the Borough. There were no is-
sues reported. Work is ongoing across the County to review the Statement of Licens-
ing Policy. 
 
Violence 
 

Page 241



 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

Operation SCEPTRE Knife and Firearm Amnesty week at Beeston Police Station, 

took place from 15 – 21 May. The Communities Team have taken over Broxtowe’s 

involvement with the MARAC and increased the breadth of research gathering for 

the panel. Safer Streets funding has been used to improve safety in Car Parks by the 

addition of 2 car parks reaching Park Mark standards and accreditation. 

 
Hate Crime 
 
The Hate Crime Policy is currently being reviewed. As part of the Hate Crime Strate-
gy and Action Plan, an event is being held in December to coincide with Disabilities 
day. This will be focussed on people with disabilities, with health and community 
safety agencies coming together with our more vulnerable residents to ensure they 
know what support provisions are available to them within Broxtowe. 
 
Refugees and Asylum seekers  
 
Homes for Ukraine (HfU) safeguarding visits continue to be undertaken however the 

applications are becoming more complex. Refugee Week was held on week begin-

ning 20 June and work is underway with the National Justice Museum to extend our 

support to the refugee and asylum seeker community and to deliver events that cel-

ebrate our residents. 

 

Cost of Living 
 
The Council has set up a new Cost of Living Working Group bringing key partners 
together to focus its efforts in tackling the crisis. The Broxtowe Partnership Board will 
discuss the cost of living crisis at its meeting on 25 October 2023. 
 
To support our residents through the cost of living crisis, three cost of living events 
were held at community venues in February and March 2023 in Stapleford, Beeston 
and Kimberley. A fourth cost of living event was held at Eastwood Library on 29 June 
2023 from 1:30 – 3:30pm. 
 
In partnership with Citizens Advice Broxtowe (CAB), two Days of Action were held in 
Eastwood and Stapleford, December 2022 and January 2023 respectively. In total 
£80,676 in unclaimed annual benefit entitlement has been identified at the events. A 
combined report for the two events can be found by visiting the link below.  There 
are also planned a further 32 days of action from June to September following 
successful CAB funding from the Good Ideas Fund.  
 
https://citizensadvicebroxtowe.org.uk/2023/05/30/days-of-action/ 
 
 
Environmental Protection/ASB 

 

Since the beginning of April we have served 16 Community Protection Warnings, 1 

Community Protection Notice and dealt with 215 complaints and enquiries including 

consultations. A case is progressing through the courts for breach of an abatement 

Page 242

https://citizensadvicebroxtowe.org.uk/2023/05/30/days-of-action/


 
COUNCIL  12 July 2023 

notice to prevent nuisance from the barking of dogs. We are continuing to monitor a 

premises under a Court Order in respect of a Statutory nuisance. 

 

 

Food/Health and Safety and Infectious Disease Control 

 

Health and Safety Improvement Notices have been served for work on electrical 

installations and gas appliances including action to take out a potentially dangerous 

tandoor oven that during an inspection, identified the only means of lighting it was by 

dropping a lit paper towel into the oven. 

Animal licences applications are being progressed for pet vending, dog breeding and 

additions to the dangerous wild animal licence. 

We are continuing to deal with cases of food and water borne illness with recent 

notifications of salmonella, cryptosporidium, e coli O157 and a case of legionella. 

Participation in national food sampling programmes is taking place. 

Food Hygiene inspections and revisits are continuing – Councillors can check and 

promote food hygiene ratings of our businesses by checking at 

https://ratings.food.gov.uk/authority-search-landing/en-GB/261 

 

Housing 

 

A recent unauthorised encampment on our land was dealt with in conjunction with 

Environment and Legal. 

 

Page 243

https://ratings.food.gov.uk/authority-search-landing/en-GB/261


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. MINUTES
	8.1 Constitution Review
	1.1  1.5     Header page   Council Procedure Rules and Executive Arrangements.docx
	1.2 1.6  Chapter 2 part 1 The Council and part 2 Council Procedure Rules
	1.3  1.7  Header page   The Executive (Cabinet).docx
	1.4 1.8 Chapter 2 Part 3 The Cabinet
	1.5 1.23 2.8 - 2.17     Header page   Committee Arrangements.docx
	1.6 1.24 Chapter 2 Part 8 -17  Committee Arrangements
	1.7 1.0    Header page   Scheme of Delegation.docx
	1.8 1.1  Chapter 3 Part 1 The Scheme of Delegation

	8.2 Review of Financial Procedure Rules, including Contract Procedure Rules
	8.3 Annual Review of the Code of Conduct
	9.1 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Resources and Personnel Policy
	9.2 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economic Development and Asset Management
	9.3 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing
	9.4 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Health
	9.5 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Climate Change
	9.6 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Community Safety

